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Chairman’s Statement

ETRE®|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Kangda International Environmental Company Limited (the
“Company”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 to you.

RESULTS REVIEW

During the year, the economy in Mainland China experienced a growth
slowdown, with fiscal pressures borne by local governments yet to
be effectively alleviated, and adjustments to prices for wastewater
treatment lagging behind. Throughout the year, the Group maintained
a prudent approach in operation, which strictly controlled costs and
expenses, while fully capitalizing on domestic interest rate downtrend
cycle and tax incentives to significantly reduce interest and tax
expenditures. As a result, the net profit for the year increased by
31.2% to RMB170.9 million compared with last year. In addition, during
the year, the Group successfully procured the disposal of several
underperforming projects, enhancing the recovery of liquidity while
reducing overall debts.

To conclude, in 2024, the Group continued to focus on urban water
treatment segment. Total revenue for the year was RMB2,261.3 million,
representing an increase of 2.0% year-on-year, with urban water
treatment operation accounting for 95.5% of the total. Due to the
completion of certain construction-in-progress projects during the year,
revenue from construction services increased by 53.2% to RMB266.0
million compared to last year. The wastewater treatment operation had
been developing steadily, with the actual wastewater treatment volume
reaching 1,278.4 million tonnes this year, representing a slight increase
of 1% compared with last year. The utilization rate of the wastewater
treatment plants remained at a high level of 85%. Revenue from
operations decreased by approximately 2% compared with last year,
due to disposal of projects and one-time deduction in revenue arising
from post-project audits. The overall gross profit margin for the year
stood at 48.2%, remaining largely flat compared to 48.5% for the same
period last year. The gross profit and profit attributable to owners of
the parent for the period increased by 1.2% and 34.6% to RMB1,089.0
million and RMB168.0 million respectively compared with last year.
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ETRE®E

During the year, the management continued to optimize the Group's
operating cash flow and balance sheet. Net operating cash inflow
of RMB403.1 million was recorded for the year, which had remained
positive since 2019. The balance sheet ratios improved continuously. As
at December 31 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio and current ratio were
68.6% and 1.32 (as at December 31 2023: 69.6% and 1.15) respectively.

Substantial achievements were made in financing activities during
the year, and as the Group capitalized on the interest rate downtrend
cycle and optimized its financing portfolio, the average borrowing
interest rate for the year decreased by 0.44 percentage point to 5.51%
compared with last year, and finance costs amounted to approximately
RMB544.2 million, representing a decrease of 6.0% compared with last
year, which contributed significantly to the increase in the net profit
for the year. As at December 31 2024, the proportion of long-term
borrowings to total borrowings was 69.4% (as at December 31 2023:
64.7%).

During the year, the state repeatedly reaffirmed and emphasized its
support for the healthy development of private enterprises, issuing
policy documents such as the Rules for Fair Competition Review
in Bidding and Tendering, the Guidelines on Resolving Arrears to
Enterprises, and the Notice on Further Regulating the Implementation
of New Public-Private Partnership (PPP) Mechanisms. In these
policies, fair competition, compliance with laws and regulations and
strengthening supervision over law enforcement were advocated,
to address delayed payments to enterprises, and it was stated
that priority would be given to private enterprises to participate in
franchise projects, all aiming at improving the business environment
and fostering the healthy growth of all types of enterprises. For
the water environment protection and treatment sector, the state
introduced the Guidelines on Strengthening Financial Support for
Green and Low-Carbon Development, the Circular on Corporate
Income Tax Policies for Digital and Intelligent Upgrades of Energy-
Saving, Water Conservation, Environmental Protection and Workplace
Safety Equipment, the Guidelines on Accelerating the Development of
Water-Saving Industries, the Opinions on Advancing Comprehensive
Green Transformation in Economic and Social Development and the
Implementation Opinions on Enhancing Scientific and Technological
Innovation in Ecological Conservation to Build a Beautiful China.
These measures provided comprehensive support — from national
development planning to industry-specific regulations, taxation and
finance — for water pollution control, water conservation management,
water recycling and the digital and intelligent transformation of the
sector. The Group is confident that the wastewater treatment industry
will continue to develop healthily.
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DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND FUTURE
OUTLOOK

The Group will fully leverage national policies which support private
enterprises, to actively recover and resolve accounts receivable, while
seeking for reasonable adjustments to wastewater treatment prices
to offset rising operational costs in recent years, thereby increasing
revenue and improving profitability. It will further enhance its energy-
saving and cost-reduction measures, and improve operational
efficiency and gross margins. For financing, the Group will capitalize
on the interest rate cut cycle at home to continue to optimize its debt
structure, so as to reduce the financing costs. For underperforming
projects, the Group will accelerate its efforts to seek opportunities
for buyback of them by local governments or government-affiliated
entities, proceeds from which will help effectively reduce the Group's
debt burden and further cut the interest expenses. The Group believes
that these measures will sustainably enhance revenue and profitability
over the long term, as well as strengthen operating cash flows, creating
greater value for its shareholders.

Finally, | would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to
all the Shareholders and all the collaborative partners of our Group for
their dedicated support to the Group's development, and also to all
staff of our Group for their endeavors and contributions made during
the year.

Li Zhong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”),
the Group's principal business activities remained focusing on the
Urban Water Treatment, followed by the existing projects of Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation and the Rural Water
Improvement.

The scope of Urban Water Treatment includes the design, construction,
upgrade and operation of wastewater treatment plants (the “WTPs"),
reclaimed water treatment plants (the "RWTPs"), sludge treatment
plants (the “STPs”), water distribution plants (the “WDPs"), and in the
operation and maintenance of wastewater treatment facilities entrusted
by governments (the "O&M"). The Group's business has covered the
overall industry chain in Urban Water Treatment industry by executing
contracts of Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT"), Transfer-Operate-
Transfer (the “TOT"), Public-Private-Partnership (the “PPP"), Build-
Own-Operate (the “BOO"), Engineering-Procurement-Construction
(the "EPC") and O&M. The Group had 105 service concession
arrangement projects under operation while its operational treatment
capacity was over 4 million tons per day as at 31 December 2024.

The scope of Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation includes
river harnessing and improvement, foul water body treatment and
sponge city construction. The Group engages in Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation by executing previously signed contracts
of PPP and EPC.

The scope of Rural Water Improvement includes the construction
and operation related to “the Water Environment Facilities of
Beautiful Village” such as: wastewater treatment facilities and pipeline
construction for collecting wastewater so as to achieve rural living
environment improvement. The Group started to carry out this

business since 2016 by executing the contracts of PPP.

In the future, the Group will continuously focus on the business of
Urban Water Treatment to get steady cash flows and invest in high-
quality, value-adding upstream and downstream businesses of water
industry. The Group is very confident about the Group's prospects and
future profitability and we will dedicate more efforts to enhance the
profitability and effectiveness of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE DM

1.1 Urban Water Treatment
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had entered into a total of
110 service concession arrangements projects, including 104
wastewater treatment plants, 1 water distribution plant, 3 sludge
treatment plants and 2 reclaimed water treatment plants. The
Group will further expand its Urban Water Treatment chain in the
future, in order to improve its profitability and competitiveness.

1.1 WEKK
R-Z-_mWE+-—_A=+—H8 K&£E
HETZ1M0ERB I EELHEE
BIE104 &5 /K EE R R ~ 1A KR - 3
MBS REIEm R 2EEEKERR - &
R B B iR — SRR R KT
BEXHE THAMEIEBES IR

ﬂ- o
Analysis of the Group's projects on hand as at 31 December 2024 AEBR _Z-_WOF+-_A=+—HH
is as follows: HREBBBAMAT :
Daily
Daily reclaimed Daily
wastewater  Daily water water sludge
treatment distribution  treatment  treatment
capacity capacity capacity capacity Total
Bi5K H Atk HEAEK B5E
RIEEE D Br  RE®N  EEED st
(Tonnes) ()
In operation EET 4,089,500 = 65,000 550 4,155,050
Not yet start operation/ WARBEE HABR
Not yet transferred 140,500 30,000 = = 170,500
Total a5t 4,230,000 30,000 65,000 550 4,325,550
(Number of projects) (FE&E)
In operation B 100 - 2 3 105
Not yet start operation/ MARBEE HABR
Not yet transferred 4 1 - - 5
Total a5t 104 1 2 3 110

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEFWE D

Actual
processing
volume during
the year ended

Number of Treatment 31 December
projects capacity 2024
BZE
—E-F
+=ZBA=+—H
IEFEEMN
EHEHE EEE EREES
(Tonnes/Day)  (Million Tonnes)
(W, H) (BE&H)
Wastewater treatment services 5K R I R
Shandong = 47 1,270,000 365.2
Henan M) 22 1,040,000 315.8
Heilongjiang BT 6 425,000 142.5
Shanxi [iTié) 2 350,000 117.0
Zhejiang AT 2 250,000 89.8
Guangdong =3 4 220,000 71.4
Anhui 2 2 160,000 57.9
Jiangsu JLER 5 100,000 35.4
Other provinces/municipalities* Hipd EHEM* 14 415,000 79.0
104 4,230,000 1,274.0
Water distribution services ok BR 7 1 30,000 =
Reclaimed water treatment BEKEERE
services 2 65,000 4.4
Total BET 107 4,325,000 1,278.4
Sludge treatment services 35 R E R 3 550 =
Total CE 110 4,325,550 1,278.4
& Other provinces/municipalities include Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, Jilin, Liaoning, 3 Hida BEEmMEELE X2 Wit &
Shaanxi, Sichuan and Fujian. B BREE - W)l RAER o
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BEEEFWE DM

1.1.1 Operation Services

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 100 wastewater
treatment projects, 2 reclaimed water treatment projects
and 3 sludge treatment projects in operation in Mainland
China. Total daily treatment capacity of wastewater
treatment plants, reclaimed water treatment plants, and
sludge treatment plants in operation for the year ended
31 December 2024 reached 4,089,500 tonnes (2023:
4,024,500 tonnes), 65,000 tonnes (2023: 65,000 tonnes),
and 550 tonnes(2023: 550 tonnes), respectively. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the annualized utilization
rate for wastewater and reclaimed water treatment plants
in operation was approximately 85% (2023: 85%). The
actual average water treatment tariff for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately RMB1.60 per tonne
(2023: approximately RMB1.59 per tonne).The actual
aggregate processing volume for the year ended 31
December 2024 was 1,278.4 million tonnes, representing a
minor increase compared to the same period last year (year
ended 31 December 2023:1,265.7 million tonnes).

Total operation revenue of the Group’s Urban Water
Treatment services recorded for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB1,176.2 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 7% as compared to the
same period of last year (year ended 31 December 2023:
RMB1,265.3 million). The corresponding decrease was
primarily due to one-time deduction in revenue arising from
post-project audits and the disposal of service concession
projects in the Reporting Period.

1.1.2 Construction Services

The Group entered into a number of service concession
arrangements under BOT, BOO and PPP contracts in
relation to its Urban Water Treatment business. Under the
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee
12 Service Concession Arrangements, the Group recognises
the construction revenue with reference to the fair value of
the construction service delivered in the building phase.
The fair value of such service is estimated on a cost-
plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
gross margin at the inception date of service concession
agreement. Construction revenue from BOT, BOO, PPP
and EPC projects is recognized by using the percentage-of-
completion method.

1.1.1 BERK
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FR S K BRI R K P AE UK R EE TR Y
FEARN A% (ZE =4
85%) ~EHE-_ZT-_ME+ A
=+—HULEFEMNERFIIKE
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TZF HAETWMAREE159TT) °
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IFFENEREEIEE 51,2784
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BCU A F00R B — R M R K R
HANEE T EEIEE -
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7N 5 B B K S 75 LABOT -
BOO K PPP & #) 5T 3 % T R 15
e REBEBRY SRS
REZESREFE 2 RFITT
KEZH ANEBRKSERER
BB R R R R A A F(ERE
REZWRZ - BERBHNAFE
ToiR B AN pnpk B EY 2 & RIS
RS ERARESARNER
KRBT S L EEE - BOT
BOO - PPP R EPCIE B #) & & Ik
HHRATTIADLERER -

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWED

il

For the year ended 31 December 2024, construction
revenue was recognised for 21 projects, including 17
wastewater treatment plants, 1 water distribution plant, 1
reclaimed water treatment plant, and 2 sludge treatment
plants, which were mainly located in Shandong, Shanxi
provinces and Tianjin city in Chinese Mainland. Total
construction revenue of those projects for the year ended
31 December 2024 was RMB251.2 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 108% (year ended
31 December 2023: RMB121.0 million). The corresponding
increase was primarily due to an increase in construction
work of new upgrade projects. As at 31 December 2024,
the total daily treatment capacity of the service concession
arrangements plants, which were still in the construction
stage, was 50,500 tonnes, including 20,500 tonnes of
wastewater treatment plants and 30,000 tonnes of water
distribution plant.

1.2 Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation

In the year of 2024, the Group continued to devote efforts
to implementing the existing projects of Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation. As at 31 December 2024, most of
the projects have been completed. The Group devoted efforts to
lower the risk and enhance the reasonable profit for the existing
projects. The Group will integrate resources to execute the Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation projects under the
contracts of EPC and O&M.

The Group had 2 Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation projects under construction during the year ended
31 December 2024. The projects were mainly located in Jiangxi
province in Chinese Mainland. For the year ended 31 December
2024, total revenue of those projects was RMB22.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 49% as compared
to the same period last year (year ended 31 December 2023:
RMB43.4 million). The corresponding decrease was primarily due
to the completion of most existing EPC projects.

1.2
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1.3 Rural Water Improvement
The Group had 2 Rural Water Improvement projects during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The projects were located in
Guangdong province in Chinese Mainland. For the year ended
31 December 2024, total revenue of those projects was RMB78.9
million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
58% (year ended 31 December 2023: RMB49.9 million). The
corresponding increase was primarily due to net impact of the
decrease in the construction revenue and the increased operation
revenue due to the commenced operation of these two projects.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a revenue
of RMB2,261.3 million, representing an increase of RMB44.9 million
as compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB2,216.4
million. The increase was mainly due to the increase in construction
revenue of RMB92.4 million, and the decrease in operation revenue of
RMB44.3 million, the increase in construction revenue was mainly due
to the increase in construction work of new upgrade projects of Urban
Water Treatment. The decrease in operation revenue was mainly due
to one-time deduction in revenue arising from post-project audits and
the disposal of service concession projects of Urban Water Treatment
in the Reporting Period.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to RMB1,172.3 million, including construction costs of
RMB208.3 million and operation costs of water treatment plants of
RMB964.0 million, representing an increase of approximately 3% as
compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB1,140.4 million.
The increase was due to the increase in operation costs of RMB30.1
million and the increase in construction cost of RMB1.8 million. The
increase in operation cost was mainly due to the increased operation
numbers of upgrade and expansion projects, and the increases in costs
of amortization. The increase in construction costs was mainly due to
increase in construction work of new upgrade projects which was in line
with the increase in construction revenue.
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Gross Profit Margin
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's gross profit margin
remained stable at 48.2% comparing with 48.5% for the previous
corresponding period.

Other Income and Gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of RMB66.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase
of approximately 12% as compared to the previous corresponding
period of RMB59.8 million. The amount for the Reporting Period
primarily included government grants of RMB25.2 million, which
mainly comprised of VAT refund under “Notice on the Issuing of the
Catalogue of Value-Added Tax Preferences for Products and Labor
Services Involving the Comprehensive Utilization of Resources (Cai Shui
[2015] No. 78)"* (B EN 3 CEIRAR & FI A 2 fm M 85 SIS (E (8 & B 8%)
7938 A0 (B4 %X [2015] 78 $32)) and grants for environmental protection,
net debt restructuring income of RMB15.4 million, bank interest income
of RMB2.2 million, interest income of RMB17.6 million from loans to a
third party, a joint venture, and an associate, and investment income of
RMB1.4 million.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB284.0 million, representing a minor increase as compared
to the previous corresponding period of RMB283.1 million.

Other Expenses

Other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB88.3
million, representing an increase of approximately 103% as compared
to the previous corresponding period of RMB43.4 million. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in foreign exchange losses, non-
operating expenses, losses on disposal of service concession assets,
and impairment losses.

K For identification purposes only
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Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 of
RMB544.2 million mainly comprised interests on interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, representing a decrease of approximately 6% as
compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB578.7 million.
The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to the reduction on
benchmark interest rates. The average balance of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings (including the portion transferred to liabilities
held for sale amounting to RMB241.7 million) increased by RMB166.1
million and the average interest rate was 5.51%, representing a
decrease of 0.44 percentage point as compared to the previous
corresponding period.

Share of Profits and Losses of Associates

The Group's share of profits of associates for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB1.1 million, representing a major decrease
as compared to share of profits of associates of RMB4.7 million in
the previous corresponding period. The Group will further execute
practical ways to reduce the losses brought by the associates.

Share of Profits and Losses of Joint ventures

Share of losses of joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB3.1 million, representing a major increase as compared
to share of losses of joint ventures of RMBO0.3 million in the previous
corresponding period. The Group will further execute practical ways to
reduce the losses brought by the joint ventures.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 included
the current PRC income tax of RMB37.4 million and deferred tax
expenses of RMB28.0 million, which were RMB44.7 million and
RMB59.0 million for the previous corresponding period, respectively.
The Group's effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately 28%, representing a decrease of 16 percentage
points as compared with approximately 44% for the previous
corresponding period, which was mainly due to the increase in effect
of lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted by local authority
and the comprehensive effects from tax losses.
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Financial Receivables £ B E W IE
As at
"
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-E —E=4F
+=—A=+—-H +-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Receivables for service concession PR 755 o R 48 2 HEFE IR IE

arrangements 11,673,981 11,592,250
Portion classified as current DI ARBEAE o (2,041,985) (2,079,291)
Non-current portion FERNHARL 9,631,996 9,512,959

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's financial receivables of
RMB11,674.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB11,592.3 million)
increased by RMB81.7 million, which was mainly due to the increase in
financial receivables which were reclassified from contract assets once
the construction and upgrade period is ended for the water treatment
projects, which were partially offset by the portion transferred to assets
held for sale.

Contract Assets

R-ZE-_WME+-A=+—H AEELa
FERFBEAEARKNGGIOBET(ZE-=
F+-—A=1+—8: ARKE1159238&T) °
HEMAREKSI7TEETL TEREHRKER
BHREERIREXNERPREREMREHNE
EEHHEE SR ERRERNIE I 58 EE
MEBAREFEEENDOI DKL -

BHEE
As at
i
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E_ME B =
+=—A=+—-H +=—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETR ARBTT

Contract assets BHEE 545,787 1,254,996
Portion classified as current o HE A BNHERE 5 (53,057) (77,629)
Non-current portion FEBNERER 492,730 1,177,367

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s contract assets of RMB545.8
million (31 December 2023: RMB1,255.0 million), decreased by
RMB709.2 million, mainly due to the net impact of reclassification from
contract assets to financial receivables and the increase of construction
of the Group's projects under BOT, PPP, and EPC contracts.

R-ZE-WME+-A=+—H A&EHEH
BEARKSMSSEBE L (ZE_=F+=A
=+t—HB: AR¥125508&8T) ML AR
BIO2EBIL TEARANEEET A
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Trade Receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's trade receivables (including
the portion transferred to assets held for sale amounting to RMB24.7
million) of RMB3,194.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB2,808.5
million) mainly arose from the provision of wastewater treatment
and sludge treatment services for Urban Water Treatment projects
as well as construction services for the Group's Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation projects. The balance increased by
RMB385.9 million, mainly due to (i) the increase in Urban Water
Treatment projects receivables of approximately RMB393.2 million, (i)
the net decrease of Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation
projects receivables of approximately RMB60.5 million, which included
EPC project receivables of approximately RMB14.4 million arising
from the progress billing and cash collection or offsetting of trade
receivables from EPC and BT projects of approximately RMB74.9
million, and (iii) the increase in Rural Water Improvement projects
receivables of approximately RMB72.7 million.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's prepayments, other receivables
and other assets of RMB779.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB929.0
million) decreased by RMB149.6 million, mainly arising from the
decrease in receivables of disposal an associate of approximately
RMB144.9 million, the decrease in prepayments and deposits
of approximately RMB14.0 million related to the construction of
wastewater treatment plants, the decrease in loans to a third party of
RMB2.3 million, the decrease in deductible input VAT of approximately
RMB4.0 million, the net increase in loans to an associate and a joint
venture of approximately RMB3.1 million, and the increase in other
operational receivables and staff advances of approximately RMB19.3
million.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents RERBELEZEY
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents RZ-ZZE_WF+-_A=+—H AEERE

(including the portion transferred to assets held for sale amountingto KREZFEY (BREABREGFEEENH

RMB54.9 million) of RMB177.1 million (31 December 2023: RMB248.4 H 4% AARESIOHET) AARKE177.1
million) decreased by RMB71.3 million as compared with that as atthe BEIL(ZZZ=F+=-A=+—H: AR%

end of previous period. The decrease was due to the increase in cash 2484 H &70) BEFHARAM D AR K713
BET ZALFERARAEEREED

outflows in financing activities of the Group.

FIR SR B PR

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—BLEE

2024 2023
—EmEF ===
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

Net cash flows from operating activities!” KETHMERSREFHED 403,143 292,922
Net cash flows from investing activities KEEZHMERESREFEE 151,770 12,804
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEHAAREREFAE (626,024) (257,108)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBESEEY

cash equivalents OR ),/ (71,111) 48,618
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SN PE R BBy a5 & (153) 2,804
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REYNRE RIS EZEEY

of the period 248,360 196,938
Cash and cash equivalents at end of REBRNRERBREEED

the period 177,096 248,360
Cash and cash equivalents attributable to a 28 A A &K LS H B E(HHY

disposal group classified as held for sale RERREFEY (54,938) =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe  BATSAAIR R AFTHIIR € &

statement of financial position BEEEY 122,158 248,360
Note: B 5

(1) For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group invested RMB165.1 (1)
million and RMB258.4 million, respectively, in the Group’s BOT/TOT and PPP
projects. Such investments were accounted for as cash flows used in operating
activities. Under the relevant accounting treatment, part of such cash outflows
used in operating activities was used to form the non-current portion of financial
receivables and contract assets in the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position. For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group would have
incurred cash inflows of RMB568.2 million and RMB551.3 million, respectively, if
the Group's investments in BOT/TOT and PPP activities were not accounted for as
cashflows used in operating activities.

BE—T-NMER-—"T-—=—#+-A=+—BItHF
& AEERBOT,/TOTRPPPIEE HFIIRE AR
WIS TEBTRARKBAEETT - 2SR AT
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& - AN E BN BOT TOT K& PPP ¥ 5 1% & I
AR ACEEZHMARERE  NEBEHRIE
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Trade and Bills Payables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's trade and bills payables of
RMB1,849.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB2,013.5 million) decreased
by RMB163.8 million, which was in line with the execution of the
Group's construction work in progress and the settlements.

Other Payables and Accruals

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's other payables and accruals of
RMB142.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB207.9 million), decreased
by RMB65.9 million, which was mainly due to the decrease in payables
for the acquisitions, decrease in amounts due to related parties, which
were partially offset by the increase in salary and welfare payables and
other operational payables.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's principal liquidity and capital requirements primarily relate
to investments in Urban Water Treatment projects, Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation projects, and Rural Water Improvement
projects, merger and acquisition of subsidiaries, costs and expenses
related to the operation and maintenance of the Group's facilities,
working capital and general corporate purpose.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's cash
and cash equivalents (including the portion transferred to assets
held for sale amounting to RMB54.9 million) was RMB177.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB71.3 million as
compared to RMB248.4 million as at 31 December 2023, which was
mainly due to the net cash inflows of RMB403.1 million from operating
activities, the net cash outflows used in financing activities of RMB626.0
million, cash outflows of RMB52.1 million for purchases of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets in investing activities, cash
inflows of RMBO0.6 million for dividend collected from an associate,
cash inflows of RMB1.4 million for investment income, cash inflows of
RMB2.3 million for decrease in loans to a third party, cash inflows of
RMB19.7 million for disposal of property, plant and equipment and
equity interests in a subsidiary from investing activities, cash inflows of
RMB35.0 million for decrease in pledged deposits, and cash inflows of
RMB144.9 million for disposal an associate from investing activities.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts
(including the portion transferred to liabilities held for sale amounting
to RMB241.7 million) decreased to RMB9,854.0 million (31 December
2023: RMB9,917.0 million), which comprised of bank and other
borrowings only. As at 31 December 2024, 69.4% (31 December 2023:
64.7%) of the Group's interest-bearing debts are long term; over 69%
of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest at floating
rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had banking facilities amounting
to RMB58,314.4 million, of which RMB50,475.6 million have not been
utilized. The unutilized amount of RMB49,632.0 million were mainly
limited to be utilized on environmental protection infrastructure and
comprehensive management.

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group (calculated by
total liabilities divided by total assets) decreased to 68.6%, while the
gearing ratio was 69.6% as at the corresponding period last year.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

Outstanding balance of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
(including the portion transferred to liabilities held for sale amounting
to RMB241.7 million) as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMB9,854.0 million, which were repayable within one month to twenty
years and were secured by financial receivables, service concession
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, trade receivables, equity interests in an investment
company, and contract assets of which the total amounts of the pledge
of assets amounted to RMB10,725.6 million.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's total capital
expenditure were RMB203.8 million, compared to RMB127.1 million in
2023, primarily including the consideration of approximately RMB186.8
million for construction and acquisition of BOT, TOT, BOO and PPP
projects and the consideration of approximately RMB16.1 million for
acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had 2,285 employees as at 31 December 2024. The
remuneration package of the Group is generally determined with
reference to market conditions and individual performance. Salaries
are normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals
and other relevant factors. The Group provides external and internal
training programs to its employees.

In respect of pension scheme contributions, the Group adopts a
defined contribution plan. The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution plan are recognised as expenses when incurred. Forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may not be used
by the Group and its subsidiaries to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Majority of the subsidiaries of the Company operate in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated and settled in RMB. As at 31
December 2024, except for the bank deposits and certain amount of
interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from
its operations. Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed, no significant events took place subsequent to 31
December 2024.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERSNEEE

DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and operation of the Group’s business. As at the date of this annual
report, the Board consists of eight Directors, including four executive
Directors, one non-executive director and three independent non-
executive Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report are set out
below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (# & &), aged 72, is
the founder of the Group. He was an executive Director, and the
co-chairman of the Board (the “Co-Chairman”) of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and ceased to be the Co-
Chairman and re-designated as non-executive Director with effect
from 1 January 2025. He was responsible for strategic development
and planning, overall operational management, market development
and major decision making. He was appointed as a Director on 22
August 2011. He has acted as a director and the chief executive officer
of Chongqging Kangda since the beginning of the establishment of
Chongqging Kangda and ceased to be the chief executive officer of
Chongging Kangda in September 2012. Mr. Zhao has served as the
chairman of the board of directors and general manager of Chongging
Kangte Environmental Protection Industry Holdings Co., Ltd.* (£ &
FREBRREZETR AR A A) since November 1994. He graduated
from the political administration at elementary level* (E I % 25 & 7
BEEZ) from Sichuan University* (91| X&) located in Chengdu City,
Sichuan Province, and Sichuan Higher Vocational and Examination
mERETEHEERERABEEZEE) in June 1988,
and attended a one-month education programme of Sichuan foreign-
(&Y KE) located in

Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, in July 1988.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERSNREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhao Juanxian has over 25 years of experience in the environmental
protection and wastewater treatment industry and was awarded
for several times for his valuable contribution to the development
of environmental protection and his expertise in environmental
protection technology by relevant environmental protection industry
associations from 2004 to 2009. Mr. Zhao Juanxian was granted
the title of Outstanding Environmental Technology Entrepreneurs
(FERREM

B & @) in September 2004. He received the China Environmental

by the Chinese Society for Environmental Sciences*

Protection Industry Development Award granted by the China
(FEIRIBREE
in January 2005. He was also granted the title of Outstanding

Association of Environmental Protection Industry*
xHhe)
Individual of Environmental Protection by the People’s Government of
Chongging Municipal* (2E A RBUT) in July 2006 and Outstanding
Entrepreneur of China Environmental Protection Industry by China
Association of Environmental Protection Industry* (/1 B3R 35 (R & &= %
"eE)
of the 3rd and 4th Session of Chongging Municipal Environmental
Protection Industry Association* (EE MIREREEEHETE—_E X
FEIEIE =) in 2005 and 2012, respectively, and the vice president
of the 3rd and 4th Session of China Association of Environmental
Protection Industry* (FEIIRRREEX M EE " ERENEE
£ ) in 2005 and 2009, respectively. In January 2015, he served as
the vice chairman of the board of directors of China State-owned
Industry Innovation Alliance (# & B 1b 2 5 Bl T BRS B BR) and
the vice chairman of the board of directors of Hong Kong-Mainland
International Investment Society (& /5B % & 42

in October 2009. Mr. Zhao Juanxian served as the vice president

®), respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Li Zhong (ZEH), JP, aged 56, was graduated from Beijing
University of Chemical Technology* (1t = {t T K 2) with a major
in polymer materials, and obtained a master degree in business
administration from Saint Mary’s University of Canada in 1997. He has
served in national state-owned enterprises and international well-
known 500 enterprises in the Mainland China and Hong Kong for over
20 years. Since 2002, he has dedicated himself to urban public utilities
with a focus on water affairs, as well as the investment, management
and operation of infrastructure projects. Since 2004, he has been a
director of Shenzhen Bus Group Co. Ltd. Mr. Li Zhong also serves
as executive director of the China Overseas Friendship Association,
a Hong Kong member of the Standing Committee of the Beijing
Municipal Committee of the Chinese People Political Consultative
Conference* (FEIARBGHEERILRTEREKEZE) and
the honorary chairman of the Hong Kong Volunteers Association.
Currently, he is also an executive director of China Water Affairs Group
Limited ("China Water”, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 855). He joined the Group in
2019.

Ms. Liu Yujie (2| £ &), aged 60, was graduated from University of
International Business and Economic* (34N 45 7% & 5 K &) |ocated
in Beijing and obtained a master degree in business administration.
Ms. Liu Yujie has been working in Hong Kong, Singapore and the
Chinese Mainland for over 20 years in total and is familiar with the
business environment and regulatory system of the three places. She
has comprehensive experience in capital market, business promotion
and corporate management, participated in IPO and underwriting
of over 30 companies on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, led and
completed merger and acquisition of three companies in Hong Kong
and Singapore, assisted capital raising and management of large-
scale industrial fund for investment in the PRC, and acted as executive
directors of listed companies in Hong Kong and Singapore which
engaged in utilities and infrastructure investment. Currently, she is
also an executive director of New Universe Environmental Group
Limited (stock code: 436), a non-executive director of China Water and
an independent non-executive director of Zhongyu Energy Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3633), which are listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. She joined the Group in 2019.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan (Bt ##8), aged 34, studied in Beijing Normal
University with a major in psychology. He joined China Water as the
president assistant in 2011, mainly focusing on hotel operating and
intelligent water businesses. At the same time, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan
assisted the directors of China Water in capital market and investor
relations, etc. In 2015, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was appointed as the
general manager of the hotel under China Water in Nanjing, and was in
charge of the construction, procurement and daily operation of various
hotels of China Water. Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan has comprehensive
experiences in human resources and corporate management.
Currently, he is also an executive director of China Water. He joined
the Group in 2019.

Mr. Zhou Wei (/& {&), aged 45, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group on 9 April 2019 and as an executive Director on
10 April 2024. Mr. Zhou Wei graduated from Nanjing Audit University*
(AREET2PR) located in Nanjing and obtained a bachelor degree in
auditing. Mr. Zhou Wei is currently a certified tax agent of the People’s
Republic of China. From 2002 to 2007, he worked in several domestic
and international accounting firms. In August 2007, Mr. Zhou Wei
joined China Water and successively served as the chief financial officer
of Huizhou Zhongshui Water Development Co., Ltd.* (Z& M A 7K 2K 75
#RABM A, asubsidiary of China Water), the vice general manager
of the investment department of China Water, the general manager of
Huizhou Dayawan Yiyuan Jingshui Co., Ltd.* (ZRM K 58 /& & R/ F KB
fR 2 A]), a subsidiary of China Water), and the chief financial officers
of Shenzhen Jinda Environment Holding Co. Ltd.* (& JIl & £ ER 5% 1%
[% % BR 2 |), a subsidiary of China Water) and Guangdong Xinsheng
Environmental Protection Group Co., Ltd* (ERFREREB R
‘A A]), a subsidiary of China Water). Mr. Zhou Wei is experienced in
financial management and investment and financing area.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Kam Wing (/& #% %), aged 62, has over 30 years of
experience in auditing, taxation and financial management and had
been appointed as financial controller of a number of companies
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau obtained a
master degree in business administration from the University of San
Francisco in the United States in 2000. He is also a fellow member of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a practicing
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Chau is currently the finance director of Winox Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6838) and an independent non-executive director of
each of Carpenter Tan Holdings Limited (stock code: 837), Ching Lee
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728) and China Water, which are listed
on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau is also
an independent non-executive director of Eco-Tek Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8169) and was an independent non-executive director of
Zhejiang Chang'an Renheng Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8139)
from 8 May 2014 to 11 May 2019, which are both listed on the GEM of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He joined the Group in 2019. He is
also the chairman of the audit committee and nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Chang Qing (& /&), aged 67, was graduated from the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences* (1 Bt & B} £t ) with a doctorate
degree in agricultural economics and management in 2001, graduated
from Jilin University (5 # X 22) with a bachelor’s degree in economics
in 1982 and a master's degree in national economics in 1985. Mr.
Chang had successively served as a research assistant, a deputy
research fellow and a research fellow of Development Research Center
of the State Council (7%t 2% i 78 1) from 1985 to 2005 and the
vice chairman of China Futures Association (Ff B Bl & 2 #% =) from
1999 to 2006. Mr. Chang has worked in the College of Economics and
Management of China Agriculture University (5 B 2 3£ K £ 45 75 & 12
7)) since 2005. He has also served as the chairman of the board of
Jinpeng International Futures Co., Ltd (£ A& &40 B BR A 7)) since
1993. Mr. Chang is currently an independent non-executive director of
China Chengtong Development Group Limited (stock code: 217) and
was an independent non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited
(stock code 196) from 15 June 2017 to 28 June 2024, which are both
listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He joined
the Group in 2016. He is also the member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERSNREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Peng Yongzhen (¥ 7k %), aged 75, was graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology* ("5 B /& L % K £2) (formerly known as Harbin
University of Architecture and Engineering (% B/ERZZE K E), the same
below) in June 1995 with a doctor degree in environmental engineering
and was a senior visiting scholar in Gunma University (A &85 K 2)
from October 1996 to April 1997. Mr. Peng previously held various
positions in water supply and sewerage engineering major in the urban
construction department of Harbin Institute of Technology* (¥4 f /&
T % K E), including the teaching assistant position from September
1976 to October 1978, the teaching assistant, lecturer and associate
professor positions from December 1981 to September 1993, and
the professor position from September 1993 to February 2000. Since
2000, he has been a chief professor of the environment engineering
department, a professor, a tutor of doctoral candidates and the chief
of the environmental engineering department and water pollution
control research laboratory in Beijing University of Technology* (4t
M L% K2, Director of National Engineering Lab for Advanced
Municipal Wastewater Treatment and Reuse Technology (* 3 $8)5 7K )%
BRI EERIEFAB M BERKITIRERE) and the chief of Beijing
Engineering Technology Research Center of Sewage Nitrogen and
Phosphorus Removal* (3t 5 755 7K fit & Bk i 5 32 T A2 B AT i 38 A L)
of Beijing University of Technology, concurrently.

He has long been engaged in the research of urban sewage disposal
measures, of which some technological achievements have been
massively applied into practice. Mr. Peng has earned diverse national-
level titles and awards for his academic achievements, including
without limitations National Role Model Lecturer* (£ B 15 &3 2% B )
in 2007, National Outstanding Faculty* (B &R X 2 & ff) in 2009 and
National Excellent Technical Personnel* (2B EFEEH T EE) in
2012. He was selected to be one of the first talents sponsored by
National Special Support Plan for High-level Personnel* (B X & & IX
AA B % S5 El) in 2013. He was granted the Second Prize of the
State Scientific and Technological Progress Award* (B X &} £ 3 &
#Z) in 2004, 2009 and 2012, respectively, the Second Prize of the State
Technology Invention Award* (Bl R £} Z B 42) in 2020, the First Prize
of Beijing Science and Technology Progress Award* (1t T BH # 45
#€) in 2012 and 2020, respectively, the First Prize of Shanghai Science
BT RERERE) I
2020, and awarded the Ho Leung Ho Lee Foundation Prize for Scientific
and Technological Progress 2021 (ZZE = —F E A 2R FE B 28
F i 2P #2). Mr. Peng received a special allowance from China’s State

and Technology Award for Technical Invention* (

Council in 2000, and was appointed as member of Chinese Academy
of Engineering (1 B T#2P7) in 2015. He joined the Group in 2015. He
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of

the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to the recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of the top
priorities of the Company. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is one of the areas that lead to the success of the
Company and in balancing the interests of Shareholders, customers
and employees, and the Board is devoted to ongoing enhancements
of the efficiency and effectiveness of such principles and practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with all the applicable provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Group further strengthened the control over budget, risk,
performance and responsibilities, optimised management approaches
and strategies, improved supporting mechanism and enhanced control
effectiveness and operational efficiency of the Group.

The Group enhanced overall control over target responsibilities
and budget control, which was promoted and implemented within
the entities under the Group as well as management level, and
implemented the main body responsibility system through organic
combination of the trinity to fully stimulate team members’ initiative.

The Group also took initiative to enhance efforts in fund management,
financial risk control, project investment decisions, legal risk control,
information disclosure and maintenance of investor relationship to
strive for more effective and transparent management in accordance
with the CG Code.

OUR CULTURE

The Group is one of the first private enterprises in the environmental
pollution treatment industry in Chinese Mainland. With the corporate
mission of “creating an environment with greener water, lusher
mountains and bluer skies” and the corporate vision of “leading the
environmental protection industry and making Kangda International
a century-old company”, the Group is engaged in urban sewage
treatment, water environment comprehensive remediation and rural
water improvement in Chinese Mainland, providing customised
and comprehensive sewage treatment solutions and services to our
customers.
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Corporate Governance Report

CEERRE

OUR CULTURE (Continued)

In the course of business, the Group adheres to high standards
and strict requirements on engineering and operation quality and
regards occupational health, safety in production and environmental
protection as an important part of fulfilling social responsibilities,
which are integrated into the Company’s sustainable development
strategy. We have been certified by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development as an enterprise qualified as a Class A General
Construction Contractor of Municipal and Public Works and Class B
Contractor of Environmental Engineering Works, as well as the CAEPI
level-1 industrial wastewater and domestic sewage operation and
service ability evaluation certification, ISO%9001 Quality Management
System, 1ISO14001 Environmental Management System, and 1SO45001
Occupational Health And Safety Management System certifications. A
number of environmental protection projects led by us have also won
the National Important Environmental Protection Practical Technology
Demonstration Project Award. The Group is well-recognised in the
environmental protection industry in the Mainland. The Group is
currently the deputy chairman unit of the National Industrial and
Commercial and Environmental Protection Association (& B T &R
5% &) and a member of the China Environment Protection Industry
Association, as well as a winner of the Contribution Award for Integrity
Construction in the Ecological and Environmental Protection Industry
awarded by the China Association of Environmental Protection Industry
and a AAA Credit Enterprise.

The Group requires all employees to actively practice the corporate
core values of “sincere commitment and repaying the society”. We
have established management rules and regulations that meet the
requirements of public enterprises, including "Employee Handbook”,
“Anti-Fraud Management System”, “Employee Whistleblowing Policy”,
etc. Meanwhile, through employee cultural training, we advocate
integrity and self-discipline, enhance the compliance awareness of all
employees, and make employees deeply understand the corporate
culture and integrate it into their daily work. In order to advocate a
green and low-carbon culture, we continue to pay attention to the
development of new technologies, actively apply new technologies in
the construction and operation of sewage treatment projects, improve
energy efficiency, and actively organise various operating companies
to carry out tree planting activities to promote low-carbon travel.
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OUR CULTURE (Continued)

We adhere to the philanthropic concept of "Goodness and Greatness
for Contribution to Integrity Construction in the Ecological and
Environmental Protection Industry" pooling the strength of each
employee and focusing on two major community development
directions: green co-construction and public welfare. With a heart full
of gratitude, we give back to society, continuously carry out various
public welfare activities, and strive to deliver greater value for society.
In order to popularise environmental protection knowledge and skills,
spread positivity, and disseminate new knowledge, we organised the
"Public Open Day for Environmental Protection Facilities” campaign in
each factory, inviting the public to visit our factories to learn, helping
them to understand the capabilities and effectiveness of wastewater
treatment facilities, and raising public awareness of ecological
environment protection, water conservation, and water environment
protection.

We will continue to focus on building an environment-friendly and
resource-saving enterprise to achieve the harmonious development of
people, nature and the environment.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ dealings in the Company'’s securities. Having made specific
enquiries of all the Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that
he/she has complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated to the chief executive officer,
of which the Directors also undertake, and through him, to the senior
management the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.
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As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board is set out below:

Executive Directors

Li Zhong (Chairman)

Liu Yujie

Duan, Jerry Linnan

Mr. Zhou Wei (appointed on 10 April 2024)

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian)
(ceased to be Co-Chairman and re-designated as
non-executive director with effect from 1 January 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chau Kam Wing

Chang Qing

Peng Yongzhen

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all time
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

Mr. Zhou Wei, who was appointed as a director on 10 April 2024, had
obtained legal advice from a law firm qualified to advise on Hong Kong
law pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 10 April 2024, and he
has confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director.

A code provision of the CG Code requires Directors to disclose to the
issuer the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as the nature
of such companies or organisations and the time involved in such
offices, each Director has agreed to disclose their commitments to the
Company in a timely manner.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
have been clearly defined in writing and are carried out by different
individuals in order to preserve independence and a balance of views
and judgement.

With the support of the senior management, the Chairman is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved
and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-
to-day management and operations. The Chief Executive Officer is
also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating the
organisational structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Zhao Juanxian and Mr. Li Zhong were the
Co-chairmen of the Company and Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
service contract/letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
fixed term of one year and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the
other.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), all Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment and succession planning
of Directors and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties and formalised the inclusion of the following
corporate governance duties into the terms of reference of the Board:

a. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

b.  to define the Company's purpose, value and strategy and review
alignment with corporate culture;

c.  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

d.  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct, anti-
corruption, whistleblowing policies and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

f. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report in the annual
report of the Company.

The Board had reviewed and approved the corporate governance
report contained in this annual report. The Board had also reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy aiming to set out
the approach to achieve the diversity of members of the Board to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a
merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates of Board members will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Board has targeted to maintain the level of female representation
of not less than 10% of the Board. During the year 2024, female
representation was 12.5% and had achieved the target. The Board
will take gender diversity into account in its process of director
appointment and the Board will continue to review the target over

time.

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors will be arranged where necessary. Individual Directors also
participated in the courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of
a listed company director or further enhancement of their professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online aids or
reading relevant materials.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

EEHET

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training ARG IR EBEESNFEZEER AR
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. All the EZHABNEI - WiREEH - 2 EE S
Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional TR 7B HEHRERMNE D - Wik#H 2 &
development and are committed to participating any suitable training £ & BEAIEFI| - LAB R K& E 3 S0 A3

to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

KB BE ©

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors participated #E_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE &

in the following continuous professional development:

EXECHREATHREEXEER

Reading Materials
update on rules
and regulations

ENE®
RAIRER
Name of Directors EEnR W E M B
Executive Directors HITES
Li Zhong (Chairman) = (EE) v
Liu Yujie 2EAR 4
Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer) ER WA (7T AA %) 4
Zhou Wei (Chief Financial Officer) BE (BT A e
(appointed on 10 April 2024) (RZZE_MNFMA+BERE) v/
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HER
(ceased to be Co-Chairman and (BZZE-_hAF—H—H#
re-designated as non-executive director B LR X R AR E R IE
with effect from 1 January 2025) HITES) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Chau Kam Wing IEFES 4
Chang Qing N 4
Peng Yongzhen ToKE 4
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is provided with relevant materials in relation to the matters
brought before the meetings. Reasonable notices of meetings are
given to the Directors and the Directors are encouraged to express
freely their independent views and propose new items as any other
business for discussion at the meetings. The Directors have separate
access to the Company's senior management for information at all
times and may seek independent professional advice at the Company'’s
expenses, if necessary, to ensure that independent views and opinions
are available to the Board. Minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspections by all Directors at any reasonable
time. Procedures for convening meetings of the Board and Board
committees and preparing minutes of the meetings have complied
with the requirements of the Articles of Association and applicable
rules and regulations.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
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the annual general meeting during the year ended 31 December 2024 ESZHFEEEE 2R KRBT AL AL
are set out below: HymT
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
Board Meetings  General Meeting
Exges BREXE
HERB HERB
Name of Directors EEpE BIRE BIRE
Executive Directors HITES
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman) = (BEEE) 9/9 1/1
Liu Yujie BIER 9/9 1/1
Duan, Jerry Linnan ERWAE (7T (AR %)
(Chief Executive Officer) 9/9 11
Zhou Wei (Chief Financial Officer) BIE (B4 2
(appointed on 10 April 2024) (RZE_WHFEWEA+H
BEZRT) 6/6 11
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEE
(ceased to be Co-Chairman and (BZZE-_RAF—H—H#
re-designated as non-executive B LR R ERIE
director with effect from 1 January 2025) SH{TE =) 9/9 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BIY I HITESE
Chau Kam Wing IEFGES 9/9 11
Chang Qing A 9/9 11
Peng Yongzhen oK 8/9 0/1
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters, including the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to its Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief
executive. As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
consisted of two executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors, comprising Mr. Chau Kam Wing (chairman), Mr.
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian), Mr. Li Zhong, Mr. Peng Yongzhen
and Mr. Chang Qing.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the size, structure and
composition of the Board to complement the Group's corporate
strategy and made recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of Directors during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and the attendance records are set out
below:

RE2ZES®)
HE-_T-_mME+-_A=+—BAItEE 2
LEBERTIRER SESHLHEDS
HIWMT -

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

ERLERE

Name of Directors BEENRH BITRE
Mr. Chau Kam Wing EERER e 3/3
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEBLE 3/3
Mr. Li Zhong Tk s 3/3
Mr. Peng Yongzhen TKBEE 3/3
Mr. Chang Qing Bi5EE 3/3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) to review and approve the management'’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objects and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of individual executive Directors and senior
management and review and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes. As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
consisted of one executive director and two independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Peng Yongzhen (chairman), Mr. Zhao
Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) and Mr. Chau Kam Wing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the Directors’ fees (including executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) in consideration of the
increasing level of duties and responsibilities and market conditions;
and approval of the remuneration incentive structure of the Group
as a whole taking consideration of factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and their responsibilities.
The Remuneration Committee had also reviewed the terms of share
options granted to Directors and employees of the Group during the
year.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the year

FMEESF @)
BE-T-NF+-A=t+—BLFE"

ended 31 December 2024 and the attendance records are set out MZE @ 8T EH Xﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂjmaﬁ’-
below: HAMAT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
BEHEERE
Name of Directors EEHE BITRE
Mr. Peng Yongzhen ZKBREE 4/4
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEBLE 4/4
Mr. Chau Kam Wing R S 4/4

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of the
Group. All senior management of the Group are executive Directors
and details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. During the year, no equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements was paid to Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The biographies of the senior management are disclosed in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and
risk management systems, oversee the audit process, monitor, review
and assist in the research of the Company'’s environmental, social and
governance matters, and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board. As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr.
Chau Kam Wing (chairman), Mr. Peng Yongzhen and Mr. Chang Qing.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results and annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit
Committee has also discussed matters with respect to the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Company and internal control
with senior management members of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
discussed with the management of the Company about the internal
controls, financial reporting and environmental, social and governance
matters, and reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control system. The Audit Committee also met with the external
auditor to review the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 and the interim report of the Company for the
six months ended 30 June 2024 and discuss about the annual audit
planning of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Audit Committee had reviewed, evaluated and reported to
the Board on ESG related risks and opportunities, developed
corresponding objectives and motored the progress towards the
objectives, which include but not limited to environmental risks such as
climate change, water resources, pollutant discharge, as well as social
risks such as employment, supply chain and corruption.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
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December 2024 and the attendance records are set out below: REZEGRTASE SESHNLFELH
AT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
BEHEERE
Name of Directors EEHE BITRE
Mr. Chau Kam Wing R L & 2/2
Mr. Peng Yongzhen TKBREE 2/2
Mr. Chang Qing BREAE 2/2

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE

39



40

Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Directors consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and are not aware of material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is solely responsible for the risk management and internal
control system to protect the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. To achieve its aim, the Board monitors and
approves the strategies and policies of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems. The purpose of the relevant strategies
and policies is to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of
risks to make it suitable for the Group's strategic objectives and risk
endurance. The main target is to provide reasonable assurance against
material misstatement or loss, rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives. To this end, management continues to
allocate resources for an internal control and risk management system
compatible with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission) standards to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the operating system
of the Group and in achieving business objectives by the Group.
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TRERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has continuously monitored
and annually reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control system of the Group and its subsidiaries, and is of the
view that the existing risk management and internal control system is
sufficient and effective. The review covered all material aspects with
regard to control, including financial control, operational control and
compliance control. The internal audit reports submitted to the Audit
Committee by the Group also covered aspects of risk management
and internal control. The Board is not aware of any significant areas
of concern which may affect the Shareholders, and believes that the
Group has fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls,
including compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, as set
forth in the CG Code. The Board, through the appraisal performed
by the Audit Committee, reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs received by the
staff and budget of the Group's accounting, internal auditing and
financial reporting function at the Board meeting. In light of the
Group's nature of business and the recommendations on the Board's
role in risk management, the Group has developed risk management
system and policies, and established a risk control department, which
is responsible for the Group's risk management, to communicate
and assess the Group's risk profile and material risks, and track the
progress of mitigation plans and initiatives of material risks and report
on detailed examinations of specific risks as required.
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TEER®RE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM
The Group has established a comprehensive organization structure to
manage the risks encountered by the Group. The risk management
structure comprises two key factors: risk management structure and
risk management program.
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TRERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM EREREAMER @

(Continued)
1. Risk management structure — EREELE

»  determine the overall objective, risk appetites and risk tolerance for corporate
risk management, and approve risk management strategies, major risk mitigation
solutions and risk management measures;
BECEXRARERERARE RRFEF RRIJE HERREBRENEXR
BB AT 42 5 TR UA KRB B R

REGULATORY »  understand and manage each major risks faced by the enterprise and its existing
ORGANISATION management situations, and make effective risks control decisions; approve the
EEME decision-making standards or mechanisms regarding major decisions, major risks,

major events and major business processes;
BRNEECXERNSAEAAR KRB ANRRERRMN - #MH A BIEGRE
BREVRE  HUEBAOREK - EAAR - EXFHNEREBRIZAVRKZES M
»  approve risk management report related to major decisions; and
BHEBANRREFENRARERRE &
»  approve the annual comprehensive risk management report.

HEFEEEEREERS -

»  review the establishment and planning of the comprehensive risk management

system;
RISK ERSARRERRANERAE
MANAGEMENT »  review the proposal on the structure of the risk management organisations and their
ORGANISATION responsibilities;
= FHEREIAGRERERABESR
s »  review the annual comprehensive risk management report and submit to the Board;

FRVNEZTSRXFELHRRERRSE

»  review risk management strategies, major risk management solutions and risk
management measures; and
BEZRAREERE BARREBBATRALERERER: &

»  review the annual risk management work plan.
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CEERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM BEEREASER &
(Continued)
1. Risk management structure (Continued) - BREELRE (4

Internal Audit and Inspection Department is the leading risk management and
supporting organisation

RERLE  EREETERIEHE

>
>
>
LEADING RISK
MANAGEMENT >
AND SUPPORTING
ORGANISATION
REEE >
FTER KIS
>
>
>

responsible for the establishment and amendment of the Company’s risk
management policies and mechanisms;

BER ISR AR B E IR ER R

establish anti-corruption mechanisms, and check for possible corruption conduct
during the internal audit process, and make suggestions for dealing with corruption
conduct;

B RERES WHEAMEABIETREARFENERTR  HEKTRIEE
H B TR A

formulate annual risk management work plan and submit to the Board and the
Audit Committee for their review;

REFERREEIFFE  BREFS BERZESER

regularly collect first-hand information regarding risk management, carry out risk
assessment and discuss major risks faced by the Company;
EHRERREENBEN  ETRRNME  TRELAAREENEXNRR
assess the soundness, reasonability and the effectiveness in implementation of the
risk management system, and review the annual comprehensive risk management
report, risk management proposals and day-to-day risk management solutions;
AHEEREERSNEENE SEMEMATHARL BERFEL2ERREERE
R\l EIR T =M A BEREEFIRT R

accept reports from employees and cooperating organizations, organize
investigations and provide handling advices, and investigate and deal with people
and matters that violate Company and legal regulations;
REBESTRAEEMMER ABACURIREER  ERERARTEER
ERAFE

assist the Group in carrying out risk management work, and formulate internal
auditing plan in accordance with the result of risk assessment; and

BB ASERREREETIE  REARTGERGEANETIETS &

test the effectiveness of risk management through implementing accounting
methods like walk through test and analytical review on its audit.

ETFTAR  AWEBRETABRETRBRAREENARIE -
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TRERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM REikERHSRR @

(Continued)

1. Risk management structure (Continued) — - EREEBEEEE)

implement the basic procedures in risk management;
BiTRREEEARIE

research and propose decision-making standards or mechanisms regarding major

RISK
IMPLEMENTATION decisions, major risks, major events and major business processes of the functional
ORGANISATION G \ N e
g FRREABEHIATAORR  BARR  BAEHAEELBRIEATITE
research and propose risk assessment report of the functional department; properly
carry out risk management work of the functional department; and
MR B AR I AR AERE - M ABEMANREREETE: &
establish comprehensive risk management procedures for the functional
department.
EI@%$H&H&%&F%E’]H@%@ML °
2. Risk management program = EBREERNX
The Group has established a comprehensive risk management AEEERY " EXTENARERER
program which is led and implemented by the internal audit A ZREABANEBZEERRAED
and inspection department. The risk management program is as FI BT - BB ERREARAT ¢
follows:
(1) to collect first-hand information for risk management; (1) RERERBIEERME
(2)  to analyse and assess risks; 2 BRI
(3) to propose risk management strategies and formulate risk Q) RHEERE Fgﬁﬁ W - 3 K R B
management solutions; and BIRRRER
(4)  to supervise the implementation of risk management works @) %Txﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%q BIEEM
performed by each business units and verify the overall ERETEBE W ZEEETE -
appraisal.
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EERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM

(Continued)
2. Risk management program (Continued)
Key risk management program of the Group
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TRERBE

SUPERVISION AND ENHANCEMENT OF RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group has set up basic procedures that cover the whole process
of risk management, connecting the channels of communication of
risk management information along the reporting lines and among
various departments and business units to ensure timely, accurate and
complete sharing of information and this has laid the foundation for
the supervision and enhancement of risk management.

The senior management of the Group, focusing on material risks,
material matters and material decisions, important management
matters and the business flow, supervises the work relating to the first-
hand information collection for risk management, risk assessment,
risk management strategies, critical control activities and the
implementation of risk management solutions. The internal audit and
inspection department carries out an annual review and examination
on the implementation of the works on risk management by different
departments and business units and its effectiveness for the year,
assesses risk management strategies and evaluates inter-departmental
risk management solutions and business units’ risk management
solutions, proposes suggestions for adjustments and recommendations
for improvements and issues evaluation and recommendation reports
which will be sent to the relevant senior management in a timely

manner.
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TRERBE

MATERIAL RISKS THE GROUP MAY FACE

In 2024, during the course of business planning, we identified material
risks that the Group may face which include risks relating to delayed
receipt of payments, risks relating to accounts receivable management,
risks relating to government default, risks relating to litigation and
disputes, and risks relating to macroeconomy.

The potential risks relating to delayed receipt of payments arise from
governments' fiscal austerity measures taken due to the impact of
general market environment, leading to the inability to make payments
as scheduled and therefore detriment to the interest of the Company,
as well as the extension of collection period. Measures taken by the
Group to mitigate such risks include maintaining sound communication
with governments, assessing the situation and then proceeding with
debt collection.

The potential risks relating to accounts receivable management arise
from the failure to send and confirm sewage or sludge treatment data
on time, leading to disputes and loss of economic benefits. Measures
taken by the Group to mitigate such risks include requiring treatment
plants to send and confirm sewage or sludge treatment data in a timely
manner in strict accordance with the agreements.

The potential risks relating to government default arise from strained
local finances and unilateral modifications to the requirements of
cooperative projects, leading to delay or suspension of projects and
economic losses. Measures taken by the Group to mitigate such risks
include establishing a breach notification mechanism and actively
engaging with local governments to develop solutions.

The potential risks relating to litigation and disputes arise from
disputes in labor, construction, technology or procurement or sale-
related matters, resulting in unfulfilled contractual obligations and
litigation risks. Measures taken by the Group to mitigate such risks
include building a legal risk prevention and control mechanism and
incorporating dispute resolution management into performance
evaluations.

The potential risks relating to macroeconomy arise from economic
fluctuation that alters industry development trajectories and affects
capital investment in projects, leading to increasing costs and declining
profitability. Measures taken by the Group to mitigate such risks
include strengthening cost control and capital reserves, closely aligning
with policy trends to optimize business strategies, and formulating
targeted market strategies to enhance risk resistance capability.
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TRERBE

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
SYSTEM

The Group has incorporated anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies
in its standard of business conduct, and anti-corruption training
are provided to its employees and Directors to promote integrity
and enhance awareness about malpractice. Employees and other
stakeholders can report suspected misconduct and violations of
law and standards to the Group’s Internal Audit and Inspection
Department by phone or email, or to the Audit Committee by e-mail
on anonymous basis. During the year, there is no incident involving
serious fraud or misconduct have been received from employees nor
external parties. The Audit Committee will continuously review and
monitor the implementation and effectiveness of the whistleblowing
system.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

We have always believed that diversity is vital to the Group's
sustainable development. We insist on equality in the workplace and
strive to build a working atmosphere that fosters mutual respect,
inclusion, and mutual helpfulness to promote our employees’
happiness and satisfaction. To protect employees’ basic human
rights and enhance development diversity, we prohibit any type of
discrimination or screening in recruitment and promotion based on
gender, ethnic origin, religion, social status, or other considerations.
Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group
including senior management is approximately 1.8:1 and the Board
considers that the Group has maintained a healthy and reasonable
gender diversity in its workforce.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has formulated a set of program of continuing obligations
on information management and disclosure to formally regulate the
monitoring of inside information that arises during the course of
its current business development and has established the practice
of delivering such information to the Shareholders, the media and
analysts. When handling the relevant matters, the Group will comply
with “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission and the related provisions issued
by regulatory organisations and the Group has clearly stated that the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information is prohibited.
The Group has set up a system of answering enquiries from external
parties about the Group's affairs, and will appoint and authorise the
senior executives of the Group to act as the Company’s spokesperson
in response to enquiries on a particular area.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 75 to 82.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company's independent auditor, Ermnst & Young, is set

SNEE R BT B i B =
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R B2 BERE] o
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out below: FIEF ey mT
RMB'000
ARETIT
Annual audit services FEETRG 2,552
Non-audit services IEFFT IR 288
Total fees FEE=gEE 2,840

Non-audit services included tax advisory services and environmental,
social and governance advisory services. The Audit Committee is
satisfied that the non-audit services did not affect the independence of
the external auditor.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for face-to face
communication between the Board and the Shareholders dialogue.
The Chairman as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the chairman of the independent Board committee, are available to
answer questions at general meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains on
its website up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information, which are
posted and are available for public access. The Company also arranges
periodic investors’ conference and sets up dedicated investor relations’
e-mail address to receive enquiries from the shareholders and potential
investors. The Board had reviewed the shareholder's communication
policy during the year ended 31 December 2024 and considered that
the policy has been properly implemented and is effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not amended its constitutional documents during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at Shareholders’
meetings, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Board
could send their enquiries to the Company's principal place of
business in Hong Kong or the headquarters in the PRC or by email to
kangda@kangdaep.com. Shareholders can contact Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar of the Company, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETINGS AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis,
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be
the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wan Sing is the company secretary of the Company. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, he has undertaken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group is set out in “Business Review" section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities, which are
extracted from the annual audited reports, are set out on page 235 and
page 236 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and its
financial position at that date are set out on the financial statements on
pages 83 to 86 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend payment of the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 December 2023: nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout
of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations and subject to the Articles of Association. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of
Association, in deciding whether to propose any dividend payout, the
Board will take into account, among other things, the financial results,
the earnings and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity
requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines,
and the current and future development plans of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Friday, 6 June 2025, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares can be
registered. The record date for entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “Annual
General Meeting”) is Friday, 6 June 2025. In order to be qualified for
attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 June 2025.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The political, economic and social conditions in China are experiencing
changes and reforms, which may adversely affect our business, growth
strategies, operating results and financial condition.

Demand for the Group's services and business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected by the
following factors:

J political instability or changes in social conditions in China;
° changes in laws, regulations and administrative directives;
o measures which may be introduced to control inflation or

deflation; and
o changes in the rate or method of taxation.

These factors are affected by a number of variables which are beyond
control.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to the concept of green environmental protection
in conducting its business and is dedicated to reduce environmental
impacts and contribute to environmental conservation. The Group
has endeavored to comply with applicable environmental protection
laws and regulations and has developed policies in relation to water
resources, energy saving, office resources, chemical resources,
construction materials, sewage discharge, exhaust gas, solid waste and
noise. For example:

J the Group has adopted water conservation management system
and provided manual on water conservation for employees;

o energy-saving designs and equipment are used in the Group's
wastewater treatment plants;

o paper conservation and doubles-sided printing are promoted,
digital office system is employed to reduce office resources
consumption;

J Energy-saving and recycled materials are used in constructions;

° Dust and noise reducing measures are used in construction sites.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those which have significant
impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and
relevant operation units from time to time.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands where the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 87 of this annual report respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Companies
Law, amounted to approximately RMB1,728.2 million (2023: RMB1,717.0
million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 11.1% of the Group's total purchases and
purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein amounted
to 3.5% of the total purchases for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's sales to its five
largest customers accounted for 30.7% of the Group's total sales and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 8.3% of the
total sales for the year.

Jiangxi Silver Dragon Water Environment Construction Co., Ltd.* (T 7
IRBENIRIFEFZR AR EE AT (“Jiangxi Silver Dragon”) is one of the
five largest suppliers of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024. Jiangxi Silver Dragon is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Water, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li Zhong, Ms.
Liu Yujie and Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan, the executive Directors of the
Company, are also directors of China Water and Mr. Chau Kam Wing,
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, is also an
independent non-executive director of China Water. Further details
are set out in the section “Connected Transaction” below. Save as
disclosed, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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BANK LOANS
Particulars of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Details of the Group's policies on capital management are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
material investments in the equity interest of other companies.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS OF
CAPITAL ASSETS

As of 31 December 2024, Group had no material investment and other
plans for capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associates for the year ended 31 December 2024.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS
EMPLOYEES

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of
the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource management
is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate training and providing
opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's customers are generally municipal, district or county
level governments or their designees in China. We typically enter
into agreements with the Group’s customers to provide wastewater
treatment and other services on a project-by-project basis.

The Group's business is built on a customer-oriented culture, and
are focused on establishing relationships with district or county level
governments or their designees in China. The Group also understands
that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers and
customers to fulfil its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain
its market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at
delivering constantly high standards of quality in the service to its
customers.

RITERK

AEER-ZFZOFE+ A=+ —HMFE
SRAT R FLA 5 BRE) S 1B B AR & B 5 R Y
728 o

BERER
REBMNEARETIBRRFBHNGEE M ER
FMIEE39 °

FEBEEARKEE
BE_Z_NF+_A=+—HLFE &
EEVETAHEMARNRERFTENEM
EREE -

EAREREXEENREE

RZE-_NE+-A=+—8 KEBETE
AREAEEREAREEMNEMETE -

MEARRBEARNERKIE
4k =
BE-—FT-ME+-A=+-BLEFE &
S B30 AL A ) R B A A AR
BRHE -

BT ER = AEE S R F
’E

BEERGAAASESREERABENEE -
AEBANEREENBENDERTEEREN
FEEN RHETRE TEE BN 2RI
TEtE WEBRRBRREFNET I
BEREERIREREE R REESRENR
BREERET -

EFERHER

AEEEF—RETENT BAFRAR
BASRELEEA - RFBERAREEF
AT HR0R (R B PR B KA EE B ARES o

REBNEBRIAENTF REMB XL L
WEFNEFEMERFREARBFREE
EARMBER AKENAE - HEEERD
REPHTHNRIFAER UERHENERE
EHRNAFERE  RUBEREANTS
BRI AKREBORAETEFPREH-ESK
EHENIRT

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Report of Directors

EEERE

SHAREHOLDERS

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate value
to Shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business developments
for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Li Zhong (Chairman)

Liu Yujie

Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zhou Wei (Chief Financial Officer) (appointed on 10 April 2024)

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (ceased to be Co-Chairman and
re-designated as non-executive director with effect from
1 January 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Chau Kam Wing

Chang Qing

Peng Yongzhen

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan,
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) and Mr. Peng Yongzhen will
retire at the Annual General Meeting, and being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the Annual General Meeting
are set out in the circular to the Shareholders.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the non-executive director and independent non-executive
directors has entered into service contract/letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial fixed term of one year and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS

OF SIGNIFICANCE, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director or his/
her connected party had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions of significance, arrangements or contracts to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the Articles of Association, every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/
her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 14 June 2014 (the “Adoption Date”). The
following is a summary of principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an opportunity to have
a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimise
their future performance and efficiency to the Group and/or to reward
them for their past contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on-going relationships with such Eligible Persons who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the
case of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to attract
and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward
them for their past contributions.

Who may join in the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, grant options (“Option(s)”)
to subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the terms
set out in the Share Option Scheme to:

(@)  any executive Director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of the Group (“Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or person for the time being seconded to work full-
time or part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b)  a Director or proposed Director (including an independent non-
executive Director) of any member of the Group;

() adirect or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group;

(d)  asupplier of goods or services to any member of the Group;

(e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of
the Group;

()  aperson or entity that provides design, research, development or
other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other

services to any member of the Group; and

(9) an associate of any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to
(f) above (the person referred above are the “Eligible Persons”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum number of Shares

A resolution was passed by the shareholders of the Company at
the annual general meeting of the Company on 10 June 2020,
approving, inter alia, to refresh the limit of the Share Option Scheme
to 213,973,500 shares of the Company, representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at 10 June 2020. For further details please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 June 2020. As at 1
January 2024, 213,973,500 Options were available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme, 213,973,500 Options were granted during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and there was no Option available for
grant under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024. The
213,973,500 shares of the Company that may be issued in respect of
Options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024 represents 10% of the weighted average
number of shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time.

Where any further grant of Options to such Eligible Person would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant shall be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible
Person and his or her associates abstaining from voting.

Offer and grant of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be
entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date to offer
the grant of an Option to any Eligible Person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe at the subscription price for
such number of Shares as the Board may (subject to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme) determine (provided the same shall be a board
lot for dealing in the Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Minimum holding period, vesting and performance target
Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an Option impose any
conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in addition
to those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may
think fit (to be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of
Option) including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing)
qualifying and/or continuing eligibility criteria, conditions, restrictions
or limitations relating to the achievement of performance, operating or
financial targets by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain conditions
or obligations or the time or period before the right to exercise
the Option in respect of any of Shares shall vest provided that such
terms or conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms or
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt,
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine
as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to their
vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no minimum period for which an
Option must be held before it can be exercised and no performance
target which need to be achieved by the grantee before Option can be
exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

To accept the grant of an Option, HK$1 as consideration for the grant
of an Option must be received by the Company from the grantee
within 28 days from the date on which the board resolution approves
the grant of Options.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription
price shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@) The nominal value of a Share;

(b)  The closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; and

() The average closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange's daily quotations for the 5 business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the offer
date.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years and has been expired on 13 June 2024. The Options could be
exercised by the participants at any time during the option exercisable
period and notwithstanding that the Share Option Scheme had
expired.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BRRERT & ()

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRESTEINRIRFH (&)

Set out below are the details of the movements of Options granted LW THE#HABE T -_NMF+_-_A=+—H
under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December I [Z AR & B A% i 51 213 B A0 BB iR e iy &2

2024: S
Number of Options
BREHA
Closing price
of Shares Outstanding Cancelled/ Outstanding
Immediately Exercise as at Granted  Exercised lapsed as at
Date of before date  priceper 1 January during during during 31 December Vesting Exercise
Name/description of grantee grant of grant Share 2024  the period  the period  the period 2024 period period
R R
RHAH —2opmE R-2-RE
ARkGYH SRRHH -A-A RER WER RERESE TSRS
REARE/EF RHAH W& ik HATR R i /R% BHATE BRA 3]
(HKS) (HKS)
(B7L) (1)
Directors
Ez
Li Zhong 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 16,000,000 - - 16000000  31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
F 30/5/2025  15/9/2025"
Liu Yujie 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 16,000,000 - - 16000000  31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
AEAR 30/5/2025  15/9/2025"
Duan, Jerry Linnan 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 16,000,000 - - 16000000  31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
(Chief Executive Officer) 30/5/2025  15/9/2025"
BE (THER)
Zhou Wei 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 16,000,000 - - 16000000  31/5/204-  31/5/2025-
(Chief Financial Officer) 30/5/2025  15/9/20251
A (e
Chau Kam Wing 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 2,000,000 - - 2000000 31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
EES 30/5/2025  15/9/2025"
Chang Qing 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 2,000,000 - - 2000000 31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
®iE 30/5/2025  15/9/20250
Peng Yongzhen 31/5/2024 0.227 03 - 2,000,000 - - 2000000 31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
VK& 30/5/2025  15/9/2025"
Other employee participants 31/5/2024 0.227 0.3 - 143973500 - - 143973500  31/5/2024-  31/5/2025-
HtESS8EE 30/5/2025  15/9/20257
Total - 213973500 - - 213973500
&t
Notes: B 5

(1):  The exercise period may be extended by the Board in its absolute discretion,  (1): {I{FHARESTS2RMNBELER - EERBHTE
provided that the end date shall not be later than 10 years from the date of grant. BRI B BT 104 ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The estimated fair value of share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was HK$0.045 per share option, which is
measured based on a binomial lattice model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the share options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Option life 1.29 years

Risk-free rate (based on China Government 4.205%
bond yield)

Expected volatility 62.62%

Expected dividend yield 0%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility and the
expected dividend yield is based on historical dividend yield of the
Company.

Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) (i) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered into the register maintained by the Company, or
(iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EEREETRAERKG A

EROREREINERZRARE
RZE-_MNF+_A=+—H ARAIESE

RESITHRABRAR R ST MEEEE
(EEREBHFRBEEMN ((EFERBEEG))
EXVER) MR - B G REEFEFR - #
ﬁ VIR EE S MBS EPIEXVERET7 R8D
HENMS AR REBHIMOERZRAR
(@%ﬁﬁm&%&ﬁﬂiﬂwmF%ﬂ;&%ﬂzﬂﬁz
RAFENEIRAR)  HREZEFK
Hﬂi%1lﬂﬁll§ﬁ352ﬂ%$ﬁ)\$ REENE

nEHPJEﬁ*’Eﬁn& $B _,V, (iii) *EHFTT —J'H‘J/,ﬁl]
EARRIREBBMI I EZR KRBT -

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Number of capital of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares  the Company

AR

ERITRAEN

EEsA B EatE RDEE BMAOE D

Mr. Zhao Juanxian Person acting in concert (long position) 546,728,004 25.55%

(alias, Zhao Junxian)™ —BITPHAL(FE)
HEBLEEO
Person acting in concert (short position) 546,728,004 25.55%
—HITBALORR)

Mr. Li Zhong? Beneficial owner (long position) 26,000,000 1.22%
FHhELE EanEEAFR)

Ms. Liu Yujie® Beneficial owner (long position) 26,000,000 1.22%
BlEARRLEO BEmERA(FRE)

Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan® Beneficial owner (long position) 26,000,000 1.22%
R AL EnEEAFR)

Mr. Zhou Wei® Beneficial owner (long position) 16,000,000 0.75%
ERFEED EmERA(FRE)

Mr. Chau Kam Wing® Beneficial owner (long position) 4,000,000 0.19%
[E RO EnEEAFR)

Mr. Chang Qing” Beneficial owner (long position) 4,000,000 0.19%
BAEED BEmERA(FRE)

Mr. Peng Yongzhen® Beneficial owner (long position) 4,000,000 0.19%

EKBREE®

EnEAAGFR)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1 By virtue of Mr. Zhao Juanxian acting in concert with Mr. Zhao Sizhen, being the son
of Mr. Zhao Juanxian, under the SFO, Mr. Zhao Juanxian is deemed to be interested
in Mr. Zhao Sizhen's interests in the Company. On 2 October 2024, Kangda Holdings
Company Limited, which is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Zhao Sizhen, issued
exchangeable bonds to Mr. Duan Chuan Liang ("Exchangeable Bonds”), which
conferring the right at Mr. Duan’s discretion to exchange for 546,728,004 shares of
the Company upto the last business day of the 36th month from the issue date of
the Exchangeable Bonds.

2 Mr. Li Zhong was granted Options to subscribe for 16,000,000 Shares pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

(3) Ms. Liu Yujie was granted Options to subscribe for 16,000,000 Shares pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

4) Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was granted Options to subscribe for 16,000,000 Shares
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

(5) Mr. Zhou Wei was granted Options to subscribe for 16,000,000 Shares pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

(6) Mr. Chau Kam Wing was granted Options to subscribe for 2,000,000 Shares pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme.

) Mr. Chang Qing was granted Options to subscribe for 2,000,000 Shares pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

(8) Mr. Peng Yongzhen was granted Options to subscribe for 2,000,000 Shares pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded in
the register of the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company and any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

(1 R & B 54 A Zhao Sizhen o4 (EB A2
FIH—BITBAL - WREES KBRS -
EB LA WHER AN Zhao Sizhen K £EH B W AR A
AP HEAER N-_T_MWFE+HA=-H  HZhao
Sizhen 5t £ 2 B A RIZHI M REZERAR A 7] MA
BERSERTARBRES ([AIRRER])  &ZF
BHFE TR ERET  AIRBERAIRBRERETH
BT MEANM &G —EEER 2R RiEA
546,728,004 R A A R AR5 ©

@ ZFTHREREREBEREASEXBRE TRE
16,000,000 I AR 13 °

Q)  BEARIREERETHEXBRE TRE
16,000,000 & AR 17 °

@ BMEEEREERESHEXBERE TRE
16,000,000 i AR 13 °
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ESWERONEREENER
BEAFRSTREEN BE-T-_MF
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERRABROEREBERGHH
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND ExRRR

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, W-Z-WNF+_F=+—H HREFAHH
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the M TNA L (BEEX AR B ZEITERABRIN)
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying ARG KABER D P HERIEFEHF LB E K
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions I EXVE %2 & E 35 EBAIIE X BRI AR 7
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register #HBEMLHEN AR GTIRIEFZSFLBEEGISE
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the 336 {§BATFEMNELMAREIRRIAR

SFO:

Number of  Percentage of

Shares/ Issued Share
Underlying Capital of
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company
FriElep, HARATE BT
HE A8 B Eanity HERAEE B E D
China Water Affairs Group Limited™ Interest of controlled corporation (long position) 608,990,000 28.46%
FEKBEBBERATO ZEGEEER (FR)
Sharp Profit Investments Limited Beneficial owner (long position) 608,990,000 28.46%
(['Sharp Profit) ® EnEBAAUTRE)
Mr. Zhao Sizhen@® Interest of controlled corporation (long position) 546,728,004 25.55%
Zhao Sizhen 5t 4 @@ REGEE R (T R)
Interest of controlled corporation (short position) 546,728,004 25.55%
REGEEERE OXR)
Kangda Holdings Company Limited®® Beneficial owner (long position) 546,728,004 25.55%
FREZERR AR AT O ExnEAAGTR)
Beneficial owner (short position) 546,728,004 25.55%
EmEaAKE)
Mr. Duan Chuan Liang® Beneficial owner (long position) 546,728,004 25.55%

BERKTEY EREAAGFR)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

Q] Sharp Profit is wholly owned by China Water Affairs Group Limited. China Water
Affairs Group Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in Sharp Profit's interests
in the Company under the SFO.

2 By virtue of Mr. Zhao Juanxian acting in concert with Mr. Zhao Sizhen, under the
SFO, Mr. Zhao Juanxian is deemed to be interested in Mr. Zhao Sizhen’s interests in
the Company.

(3) Kangda Holdings Company Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Zhao
Sizhen and Mr. Zhao Sizhen is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Kangda Holdings Company Limited under the SFO.

4) On 2 October 2024, Kangda Holdings Company Limited issued Exchangeable
Bonds to Mr. Duan Chuan Liang, which conferring the right at Mr. Duan’s discretion
to exchange for 546,728,004 shares of the Company up to the last business day of
the 36th month from the issue date of the Exchangeable Bonds.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
businesses of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 25 September 2020, Kangda Investment (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (“Kangda Investment (Hong Kong)”), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a framework
construction services agreement (the “Construction Services
Agreement”) with Jiangxi Silver Dragon, pursuant to which, the
parties agreed that Jiangxi Silver Dragon may be selected to provide
civil works, construction, installation works and supply of equipment
for projects of the Group relating to the construction, upgrading,
reconstruction and expansion of wastewater treatment facilities
through a tender process in compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations in the PRC. The term of the Construction Services
Agreement commenced from the date of the Construction Services
Agreement and ended on 31 December 2022. Jiangxi Silver Dragon
is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Water, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Jiangxi Silver Dragon is an
associate of China Water and a connected person of the Company.
The transactions in relation to the Construction Services Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Company’s independent
shareholders approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the Construction Service Agreement in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 16 November 2020. Further
details of the Construction Services Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2020 and circular
dated 30 October 2020. On 8 November 2022, Kangda Investment
(Hong Kong) and Jiangxi Silver Dragon entered into a new construction
services agreement (the “Renewed Construction Services Agreement”)
to renew the Construction Services Agreement for a term commencing
from 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025. Further details
of the Renewed Construction Services Agreement were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2022. The
annual caps under the Renewed Construction Services Agreement for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 are RMB55 million, RMB55 million and RMB55
million, respectively. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Continued)

As set out in note 36 of the consolidated financial statements, certain
bank borrowings of the Group were secured by Mr. Zhao Juanxian,
which constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the
Listing Rules, as the guarantees provided by Mr. Zhao Juanxian were
conducted on normal commercial terms and not secured by the assets
of the Group, the guarantees provided by Mr. Zhao Juanxian set out
in note 36 of the consolidated financial statements are fully exempted
from reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules, as Huizhou Kangda
Yingzhihuang Water Co., Ltd.* (BEMEER 2 2KBEBR R F),
Jiaoling Kangda Environmental Governance Co., Ltd. (B8 FRiEIRIEA
AR AFAD), Jilin Kangda Environmental Protection Co., Ltd.* (F#EE
EIRIRB MR A R]), Weihai Kangda Ecological Environment Treatment
Co., Ltd* (BUERELARBRIRRZAIAE AR 2 A and Shenyang
Jinhai Kangda Environmental Protection Water Co., Ltd.* (&5 /8
ERFKB AR QA are insignificant subsidiaries of the Group, the
related party transactions between the Group and their respective non-
controlling shareholders set out in note 36 of the consolidated financial
statements do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other transactions set in note 36 of the
consolidated financial statements either do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
or are exempted from reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purposes only
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Report of Directors
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CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above

continuing connected transactions of the Group and have confirmed

that these transactions have been entered into:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms; and
in accordance with the relevant agreement governing such

transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reported to the Directors that

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors to believe
that, during the year ended 31 December 2024:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the above continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board;

the above continuing connected transactions that involve
provision of goods or services by the Group, were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;

the above continuing connected transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing such transactions; and

the respective cap amounts set out for the relevant agreement
referred to above have been exceeded.

BAYFAITESREABERER

ﬁi#ﬁﬁ%%a%%tt$%§%%%%
R WHERZERFHE :

() RAEBE-—REAEXKBIERET

(i) B—BREEGTET R

(i) REBEREZZXZINEBHH  BHITF
BEMNEFUETT XA RRAOEER
Eo

ARTEBMEAEFESR RE-T-0

Frt_A=+t—RALEE AEEREMNE
ESRERR
() LAREHAERHIREBEEGIA

(i) FERARERHE IR 2 Ll #F
BRAERXZME  RAEEXRSTELT
NEARAZEBREK

(i) LAFHEMEXSNAAEEALEILIE
REREZSTR P ZHEMBEET &

vy LHAREHZESANLREKEN -

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Report of Directors

EEERE

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The material post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management
and independent auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they had complied with such code of conduct
during year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Company has compiled with all the
applicable provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, are held by the public at all times during the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young has acted as auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Zhong
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% AR

To the shareholders of
Kangda International Environmental Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kangda
International Environmental Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 234, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% A R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEEITER

FAREEFTTEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENETNNEEREETER

Provision for impairment of trade receivables and financial receivables

B WA R & f e MK B R E R

Trade receivables and financial receivables were significant
to the consolidated financial statements and the majority
of the receivables were generated from service concession
arrangements, engineering procurement construction (“EPC")
contracts, and build-transfer contracts. Expected credit losses
("ECLs") allowances for trade receivables are made based
on the assessment of the recoverability of receivables due
from customers. The Group is required to regularly assess the
recoverability of its trade receivables and financial receivables.
This involves significant judgement and estimation as the ECLs
allowances must reflect information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future conditions.
BHRKARIEREREUFBHZESTBEREIBEEA
A% BEWKIALREREFALELY  TRRBER
([EPCHEHNKRER —BRAaK - BHRWFIENTAREE
EE ([TRBEEEE ] BE RS YW E B 5K IE A f o i
BAERI AR - EREETHTHEEZRKFERSE
RUEMFIER AT B E - ES R EXRAE GG RE
REREEBERBARBRABBESMH - B ATORMAR
EARRTBRIE R

Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 material
accounting policies — “impairment of financial assets”,
note 2.5 significant accounting judgements and estimates
— estimation uncertainty — “Provision for expected credit
losses on trade receivables, financial receivables and contract
assets”, note 19 “financial receivables”, and note 21 “trade
receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
MHEBEESHRGE P BMERME24ERSTTHE —[2FHE
ERE] - MizE 25 B HE kA — st e —[ &
SEWRIE  eREWRIBRENEETRREEEBERE] -
MEE19 B Y R IE | RMFE21 [ B S EWKIE] -

Our procedures to assess the recoverability of trade
receivables and financial receivables included, among
others, obtaining confirmations of trade receivables
and financial receivables, examining evidence
of collection of trade receivables and financial
receivables after the year end, recalculating the
ageing analysis by customers, examining the Group’s
assessment of the customers’ financial circumstances
and ability to repay the debt, comparing the Group'’s
provisioning rates against historical collection data,
and considering the customers’ historical payment
habits along with other macroeconomic information
and other reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information.
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We also assessed ECLs allowances model and
checked the calculations.

BEENEHEEHMEESERRHG  YREERHE -

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of the
disclosures regarding the ECLs allowances for trade
receivables and financial receivables.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% A R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
REETSEE

FAREEFTTEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENENARERRETSE

Recognition and measurement of the contract revenue for service

RERGAFEL SR THE I R E

The Group engages in certain service concession arrangements
under the terms of Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT") in which
the Group carries out the construction work of municipal
infrastructure for certain governmental authorities or their
designees (the “Grantors”) and receives in return the rights
to operate municipal infrastructure concerned in accordance
with the pre-established conditions set by the Grantors. The
measurement of revenue for service concession arrangements
which is accounted for under IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements involves significant management judgements
and estimates including determination of applicable
accounting model, estimation of the future guaranteed
receipts, prevailing market rate of construction gross margins,
and discount rates as used in the valuation process.
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Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 material
accounting policies — “service concession arrangements”,
note 2.5 significant accounting judgements and estimates
— judgements — "accounting for service concession
arrangements” and “percentage of completion of
construction services”, note 4 “revenue” and note 19 “financial
receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
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concession arrangements

We reviewed the contract terms of the service
concession arrangements and assessed the
accounting model adopted and the future
guaranteed receipts. We evaluated the competency
and objectivity of the external appraiser engaged
by management to assist the determination of the
gross margin for construction service and discount
rates. We also evaluated the basis and assumptions
in the valuation and performed a comparison of the
inputs used in the valuation against external market
data. In addition, we involved our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating the gross
margin for construction service and the discount
rates. We reviewed the methods and assumptions
adopted by management in determining the total
budgeted costs. We checked the relevant supporting
documents for actual costs on a sampling basis. We
also performed cut-off testing procedures to check
whether material costs had been recognised in the
appropriate accounting periods.
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We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant
disclosures
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% AR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Pang Sum Joe.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REREEREMEZEHKER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZ_—_ZE_WNHF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENE T -=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5E ARBTRT ARBTRT

REVENUE g 4 2,261,282 2,216,381
Cost of sales HEK AR (1,172,268) (1,140,387)
Gross profit EH 1,089,014 1,075,994
Other income and gains H b Ug A K Wz 5 66,814 59,789
Selling and distribution expenses HE ko #HRAX (956) (994)
Administrative expenses TEREX (284,040) (283,090)
Other expenses HEF (88,290) (43,397)
Finance costs A& KA 7 (544,211) (578,719)
Share of profits and losses of: DIRAT AEEE ¢

Associates iR /NE]| 1,058 4,699

Joint ventures EETE (3,146) (328)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BBt A1 i3 6 236,243 233,954
Income tax expense FriS#i =z 10 (65,362) (103,726)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F A 75 A 170,881 130,228
Attributable to: Tﬁ'J%IEJ,T%Tﬁ :

Owners of the parent ISYNCIE/ 2SN 11 167,998 124,753

Non-controlling interests 3H R A 25 2,883 5,475

170,881 130,228

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE B A REERBZFEAELER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF ZXI

THE PARENT
Basic for profit for the year FEEAR A

(expressed in RMB per share) (ANBRARB RER) 11 7.85cents 5.83 cents )
Diluted for profit for the year FEEE T

(expressed in RMB per share) (AEBRAREE BEMN) 11 7.85cents?  5.83 cents 73
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBRERREMEZEHKER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZ_—_ZE_WNHF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EC-NE —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt AR%TR ARETT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit 2 mE =
Other comprehensive income that will BreREERRER»EERR
not be reclassified to profit or loss in 2 HAn 2 EE
subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair BERBRATEFAEMEZE
value through other comprehensive R RERE
income:
Changes in fair value YNSEIEE=X) 52,000 (16,000)
Income tax effect Frigfis & (7,800) 2,400
44,200 (13,600)
Net other comprehensive income that will T &R EZBEIENHDEEER
not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEMt 2 E S FERE
subsequent periods 44,200 (13,600)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMEEKE - HRHE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 44,200 (13,600)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRE2ERRERE
FOR THE YEAR 215,081 116,628
Attributable to: T 5 & B,
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZZS PN 212,198 111,153
Non-controlling interests FEFE PR A A 2,883 5,475
215,081 116,628
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—EDWmFE —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETRT AR®BTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEREE 12 48,682 53,378
Investment properties WEME 10,465 11,083
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 13 1,737 2,286
Investments in associates REE N BIMIRE 14 234,998 234,577
Investments in joint ventures NE & ERRE 15 74,945 78,091
Service concession intangible assets B EE — e E 17 1,525,762 1,376,539
Other intangible assets HEMEREE 1,433 1,776
Goodwill EE 18 17,170 58,325
Financial receivables T Rl e WK IR 19 9,631,996 9,512,959
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBEEE 20 81,002 84,362
Prepayments, other receivables and FERTFRIA ~ Eo A R MR IR R E At
other assets BE 22 18,731 25,191
Contract assets BHEE 23 492,730 1,177,367
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 12,139,651 12,615,934
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 17,534 18,092
Contract assets BHEE 23 53,057 77,629
Equity investments designated at fair value #§E A2 A FEFT A HMEE
through other comprehensive income U = AR RE IS & 16 399,000 347,000
Financial receivables T B e WK IE 19 2,041,985 2,079,291
Trade receivables B 5 EMFRIE 21 3,169,688 2,808,513
Prepayments, other receivables and FERTFRIA ~ oA FEURIE K
other assets Hih&E 22 760,656 903,826
Pledged deposits HIRF 24 93,698 128,713
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBESEEY 24 122,158 248,360
Other current financial assets HEtnEecmEE - 4
6,657,776 6,611,428
Assets of a disposal group classified as PEAKRERENEHERS
held for sale MEE 25 356,499 —
Total current assets mENEELAE 7,014,275 6,611,428

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-FE —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR®FT ARETFL
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 REMNRIERENEE 26 1,849,716 2,013,332
Other payables and accruals Hib et sa e &R 27 142,038 177,286
Interest-bearing bank and FHERTT R H AL fE 5K
other borrowings 28 2,961,204 3,501,475
Tax payable P BE1E 89,223 79,356
5,042,181 5,771,449
Liabilities directly associated with HEAOBRRAERENEERR
the assets classified as held for sale HEnaE 25 260,448 =
Total current liabilities mENBELRE 5,302,629 5,771,449
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 1,711,646 839,979
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERABAE
LIABILITIES 13,851,297 13,455,913
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Trade payables B 5 R IE 26 4 201
Interest-bearing bank and FHERTT R H AL fE K
other borrowings 28 6,651,072 6,415,560
Other payables and accruals Hih R RIE R ERTE R 27 - 30,629
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIBEARE 20 1,180,376 1,159,491
Total non-current liabilities EmEBERE 7,831,452 7,605,881
Net assets EEFE 6,019,845 5,850,032
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BRRHER AEEER
of the parent
Share capital [N 29 17,125 17,125
Reserves i 31 5,917,837 5,694,664
5,934,962 5,711,789
Non-controlling interests JEIE R M = 84,883 138,243
Total equity R 6,019,845 5,850,032
Li Zhong Duan Jerry Linnan
Z=rh B HE
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mERRBER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZE-Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARERARE
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Share  through other Non-
Issued Share Merger Special option  comprehensive Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve income profits Total interests equity
EATE
HARM
2ERER
BRE SHEE FER
EES S R EE AHEE RHGRE % ATERE REEF EH | 5 it
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETT ARMTn  AREBTT ARMTz  ARETT  ARETn  ARETZ  ARMTR
Asat 1 January 2023 R=%==%-f-A 17,125 1,717,384 393131 - 65,593 (119,850 3530092 5603435 137173 5,740,608
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - - 124,753 124753 5475 130,28
Other comprehensive income EMEBIENE -
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity BERRATETALHRE
investments designated at fair YRR EATERD
value through other comprehensive ~ RHTE
income, net of tax - - - - - (13,600) - (13,600) - (13,600)
Total comprehensive income FREENALEE
for the year - - - - - (13,600) 124753 1M1 5475 116,628
Acquisition of non-controlling interests i FEFE iR = = 2799) = = = = 279) (4405) (7,204)
Transfer to special reserve (2) ER2RAIRRE S = = 2603 = = (2.603) = = =
Utilisation of special reserve (2) HAEBHREER - - - (2,603 - - 2603 - - -
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=§+-A=1-H 17125 1,717,384 390,332 -+ 65,553 (133,450 3,654,845+ 5711789 138,243 5,850,032
Asat 1 January 2024 RZZ-ME-A-A 17,125 1,717,384 390,332 - 65,553 (133,450) 3,654,845 5711,789 138,243 5,850,032
Profit for the year By = = - - - - 167,998 167,998 2,883 170,881
Other comprehensive income ERAZENE -
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity RERRATETALDEE
investments designated at fair YEnREREATERD
value through other comprehensive  HIBTHIE
income, net of tax - - - - - 44,200 - 44,200 - 44,200
Total comprehensive income ERRENEER
for the year - - - - - 44,200 167,998 212,198 2,883 215,081
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WEESE R ER - - 5,834 - - - - 5,834 (55,085) (49,251)
Transfer to special reserve (2) ERERAIRRE - - - 3,905 - = (3,905) = = =
Utilsation of special reserve (a) HERHEER - - - (3,905) o = 3,905 o o =
Dividends paid tonon-controlling ~ FFERRERREB AR ZRE
equity holders - - - - - - - - (1,158) (1,158)
Equity-settled share option iR EERRRERH )
arangements (o) - - - - 5141 - - 5,141 - 5141
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-mEF-A=1-A 17,125 1,717,384* 396,166* =+ 70,694 (89,250  3,822,843* 5,934,962 84,883 6,019,845

*

position.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB5,917,837,000
(31 December 2023: RMB5,694,664,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

@ ZERBEREERAMBRARAARK
=f+-A=+—-8:A
1 -

5917,837,0007C (=& =

R ¥ 5,694,664,000 7T) V4R &
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZE-Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HILFE

Notes:

The Group provided for and utilised the safety production expense fund according
to the Management Measures on the Enterprises Production Safety Expense of
Enterprises Appropriation and Utilisation (2022 No. 136) issued by the Ministry of
Finance and the Ministry of Emergency Management of the People’s Republic of
China.

On 31 May 2024, the Company granted a total of 213,973,500 share options to
subscribe for a total of 213,973,500 ordinary shares in the share capital of the
Company under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 June
2014. The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB5,141,000 (31 December
2023: Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2024 (note 30).

HisE

REBRBE AR NG G BB R R
(AR NE<PER2EEERRERANERE
A > e B A ([20221365%) sHRME R R 2 4
EERES -

RZE-_MFRA=Z+—B  AQFAEREER
—T-MEANATHBRANERESBRLS
£213,973,50017 i B #E - URBEBAR R BIRAFRE
51213973500k @Ak - HE T _MWMFE+=A
=+ HLFE ALEEREREFAIARYE
5141,000C (ZE=Z=F+=ZA=+—H: &) (i
530) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZE-Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—EB-mE —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AREBTR ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 54 B g A 236,243 233,954
Adjustments for: RPN HRIA
Finance costs BME KA 7 544,211 578,719
Foreign exchange differences, net N Z=RE 0 JHRE 1 2,228 (510)
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ D LB E A R A E D HEEE
and joint ventures 2,088 4,371)
Bank interest income RITABMA 5 (2,215) (2,522)
Interest income from loans to a third M—RE=ZFEFRBF BUWA
party 5 (15,643) (20,087)
Interest income from loans to an BA—XRKBEAAI R —REEDHE
associate and a joint venture B3 ﬂ B A 5 (1,985) (1,663)
Investment income from other current HEfneemEEmRERA
financial assets (1,419) (1)
Dividend income from equity investments 18§ &E A FEFAE M E K
designated at fair value through other L RERE R BB A
comprehensive income 5 - (9,602)
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERRETE
equipment 6,12 5,221 5,758
Depreciation of investment properties KEYEITE 6 618 135
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 6,13 1,069 1,172
Amortisation of service concession B EE — AT e i
intangible assets 6,17 118,958 87,244
Amortisation of other intangible assets H fth ST & B8R 6 343 395
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—REE N A R EE - 5,781
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BFERRZHER B
plant and equipment &8 6 10 32
Impairment of financial receivables & Bl FE WK IE R B 6,19 46,608 829
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of AHBERE
contract assets CREREE) 6,23 99 (147)
Impairment of prepayments, other TERTFRIE ~ H At FEUGRIE R H Ath
receivables and other assets BERE 6, 22 6,804 2,593
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W IR A 6, 21 19,478 30,646
(Gain)/loss for debt restructuring B ER (), EiE (15,363) 288
Equity-settled share option expense NEREEERERS 30 5,141 =
952,494 908,643
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZE-Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
“ENE T -=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5E ARBTRT ARBTT

Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD,(1Em) 558 610)
Increase in financial receivables % fl FE U FRIE 1 N (405,294) (386,594)
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 475,823 459,326
Increase in trade receivables 5 W TE G N (509,102) (402,720)
Increase in prepayments, TR RRIA ~ Eh R IE

other receivables and other assets H A& E A (8,542) (24,846)
Decrease in trade and bills payables B 508 R EAER R (67,636) (220,391)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables E b E B K BT E B

and accruals #hn,/ O d) 20,852 (15,991)
Decrease in deferred income 5 JE U A Rk > (30,629) (1,930)
Cash generated from operations REPRERE 428,524 314,887
Interest received 2B F & 2,166 2,830
Income taxes paid BEHFTSH (27,547) (24,795)
Net cash flows from operating activities & & /EBFTSREREF58 403,143 292,922
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFERERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, BEME BERZEEE

plant and equipment 12 (889) (710)
Additions to intangible assets NEEWEE (51,214) (60,4006)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - B LKREB

property, plant and equipment 15 B FT1S5/I8 354 548
Decrease in other current financial assets ~ E fth 7 8 & &0 & & Bl - 42
Advance received from disposal of HER—KWE QA

equity interests in a subsidiary T 25 HUHR ) EA 5K 19.210 =
Proceeds from previous disposal of BALE —FRBE AT

an associate P18 #E 144,885 =
Investment income received from other ~ E 4 & gl & E WERAY & & WA

financial assets 1,423 -
Decrease in pledged deposits EARTF TR 35,015 57,848
Decrease in loans due from a third party BW—XE=HFEFR L 2,349 16,500
Increase in loans due from an associate  FEUW — KB 2 A 5 B FIE 0 - (11,208)

Dividend income from equity investments 187 A& A FEFT AL M2 E K E
designated at fair value through other Z IR A B AR B A

comprehensive income - 9,602
Dividends received from an associate B—XEE QRN E RS 637 588
Net cash flows from investing activities & & /EBTSR & REF5E 151,770 12,804
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December2024 #HZE-Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-NFE —T-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt E AR®TR AR%®TT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Increase of interest-bearing bank and T RERTT S H A8 FRIE N
other borrowings 5,707,143 5,308,853
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and  {EiE 5t S #R1T R EM{E 5K
other borrowings (5,838,047) (5,071,877)
Interest paid ERTFE (477,744) (478,947)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U B JE 2 R 2 (16,103) (13,600)
Principal portion of lease payments HEMRHAREE D (1,273) (1,537)
Net cash flows used in financing activities FE /EBFTAR & REF5E (626,024) (257,108)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN iﬁ%&iﬂ%%f‘ ¥l
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W), R EE (71,111) 48,618
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E%ﬂiﬁﬁ MREEEY
of year 248,360 196,938
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EX & &hA) 52 2558
net (153) 2,804
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S RBEEREEZEY
END OF YEAR 24 177,096 248,360
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReRBEEESENEHRIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balance Be RIRTTHER 215,856 376,073
Time deposits EBFER - 1,000
Less: Pledged deposits B EHEFE R (93,698) (128,713)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in B BMRKRAFMIFESRELEE
the statement of financial position )] 122,158 248,360
Cash and cash equivalents attributable S EAIFETENEEAT
to a disposal group classified as EEtHNESRALEZEY
held for sale 54,938 =
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in ERERAMIRER
the statement of cash flows iﬁﬁ%f’% 177,096 248,360
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Kangda International Environmental Company Limited (the
“"Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The registered address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 4 July 2014.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the design, construction, operation
and maintenance of waste water treatment plants (the “WTPs"),
reclaimed water treatment plants (the "RWTPs"”), water
distribution plants (the “WDPs"), sludge treatment plants (the
"STPs"”) and other municipal infrastructure in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC"”, or Mainland China, which
excludes for the purpose of this report, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC or Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC or Macau, and Taiwan).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the Company has no controlling shareholders.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows:

1.

AAREBEHR
RERBRRRARAR ([ARTF]) RH
EHEIMKIREREERAA K
A &) 5 i 3% 25 BE b 41k & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 7%
NEIBRDR T —NFL AMNBERE
BAEXSMERAR ([BRFT]) R E
M o

ARBB—RREEZERRAR  EHBA
AIEPEARAME (THEIsPER
o AREMS - TEEBEFEEER
AITRERKES - PEIRFISRITTRE
FBRFARBE) ER BE 28
K5 KRB (D5KEEM])
BAKRER (THAEKEER]) - #X
B (TR 5 e m (15 BRI
TR 1) B EL At T R R AR G

ARAEE (EF) BB - RARALE
PERRAR S -

EBEMBELARNESR
BEARRBIEENBARMNF BRI
T

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NAER EmEYL/ BRITEE/
BUREXBY dmEE ARAEEREEIH FEEH
Direct Indirect
EE %
Kangda Environmental The BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding company
Protection Investment Limited
(RERRREFRAF)
FERRREGRAA RBRABE 1% 100 - REZRART]
Kangda Investment (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Investment holding company
Company Limited
(FERE (BE)ARDA)
FERE (BE)BRAHF &b AT - 100 REZRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREEMNE QB FEERSIW

follows: (Continued)

™ (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER gMAL/ BRTLE/
BLREELSY TRA AQFAEERERIE FEXHR
Direct  Indirect
B B
Kangyu Investment Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$200,000,000 - 100 Investment activities
(BERRERRAR)"
FAREBRAR" E/ R 200,000,000% 7T - 100 REED
Chongging Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB1,876,019,000 - 100  Investment in WTPs and
Protection Industry (Group) construction of municipal
Co., Ltd. ("Chongging Kangda") infrastructure
(ERRERRER (SE)ERARF)
SEEEERES /R AR C 0 RESKEEER
(EE)ERAR ([2ERE])" 1,876,019,0007C BRI BER R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EERRKEERAA) services
FERRKBERAR B/ RN AR = 100 BERSKEERK
80,000,0007C RESKEERES RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB63,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(Shanggiu) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FERR (L) KBERAF)* services
FERR () KBERAR" /R E N ARE = 100 BRIKEERR
63,000,0007C RESKEERES RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB23,000,000 - 100  Provision of WTP operation
(Suzhou) Water Co., Ltd. services
(BERR(EMN)KBERAA)*
FERR (M) KBBBR AR /RN N = 100 RETKERRER RS
23,000,0007C
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREENERBFEEHSIM
™: (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
AR EH FMKL BRTLE/
BLREELSY TRA AQFAEERERIE FEXHR
Direct  Indirect
B B
Guangrao Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB8,320,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EBERERRKBERRA)* services
EERERRKBEERA R /RN ARE = 100 BRIKEERR
8,320,0007C RS ERRE R
Harbin Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Investment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RRERERRREBRAA)* services
RRBRERREREERAR /RN ARE = 100 BRIKEERR
30,000,0007T REFKERREE RS
Linying Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
Protection Water Co., Ltd. services
(RERERRKBERAR)
BRRERRKBARA R /RN N = 100 RESKEERER RS
6,000,0007C
Weifang Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB94,180,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(A EERRKBERRA)* services
ESRERRKBEERA R /RN ARE = 100 BRSKEERR
94,180,000 7C R TR IR HE & RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB17,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(Gaomi) Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERR(RE)5KREBRAR) services
FERR (BY) KREERAR* /RN ARE = 100 BRSKEERR
17,000,000 70 BB SRR IR E & RS
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AAREEERN®E
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARMNER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EEAARREENB AR FEHS
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] ERmRIL/ BRITER/
BERERBY dftRE ARFEEREEINH FERE
Direct  Indirect
EE &
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB8,500,000 - 100  Provision of WTP operation
(Gaomi) Fengcheng Sewage services

Treatment Co., Ltd.
(FUM B EBAESREEER

T)# *
FERR (%) BML) e,/ hE R ARE - 100 RETKEEHEERHE
BKERERAR 8,500,0007C
Rushan Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB24,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(FUEREKBERAR)* provision of WTP operation
services
ANFRKBERDA e,/ hE R AR - 100 ERAKEERR
24,000,00070 AR ME S R
Shanggiu Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB20,250,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERETKEEERAR) services
BERERKEERRAR e,/ hE R AR - 100 BRTKBERR
20,250,007 AR EE R
Haiyang Xingcun Kangda Water Co., Ltd.  PRC/Mainland China RMB19,490,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(BEINREKBERAR)* provision of WTP operation
services
BETREKEERAR* e,/ hE R ARH - 100 ERAIKBEBR
19,490,000 7 AR MEE R
Shanxian Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB26,500,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EERERRKEERAR) services
BERERRKBERAR RE/ R E R ARE - 100 BRIKEERK
26,500,007 AR MEE R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREENERBFEEHSIM

follows: (Continued) (8
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] ERmRIL/ BRITER/
BURERBA dREE FRAEEREEIH FEXEH
Direct  Indirect
EE &

Kangda (Dongying) Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB163,263,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FEFERE)RERKBERDA) services

& (R2)RBKBERDA* e,/ hE AL ARE - 100 BRAKEERR

163,263,007 R KRE E R

Beijing Chang Sheng Si Yuan PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100  Investment, management of
Environmental Protection environmental projects and
Technology Co., Ltd. public infrastructure projects
(ERREBRRRHEERAR) *

ERRERRREMBEERAF* e,/ hE A ARE - 100 &E& BERRE

150,000,000 7T BERAAERREER

Yucheng Dongjiao Chengjian PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRRAHZKERERAR) services

BHRBHRAKEBER AR e,/ hE R ARE - 100 BRSKGEERR

10,000,000 7 BRI K B R R E R

Puyang Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EERERRKEARAR)* services

EERERRKEERAA* e,/ HE R AR% - 100 BRSKGEERK

50,000,0007C BRI K B R R E R

Liangshan Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 = 100  Construction of WTPs and
(RILEZKEERA)* provision of WTP operation

services

RFEKBEERAA e,/ hE R ARE - 100 BRSKGEERR

100,000,000 7T REUIKRIERE R R
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

1.

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREEMNE QB FEERSIW
™ (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
AR EH FMKL BRTLE/
BLREELSY TRA AQFAEERERIE FEXHR
Direct  Indirect
B B
Jining City Xinkangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB64,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEMEREKBERRA)* services
BEEMBREKBARD A /RN N = 100 BRSKEERR
64,000,000 7C RS IE E & IR
Shen County Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB121,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEREKBEERAR) services
YEREKBERAR" /RN ARE = 100 BRSKEERR
121,000,000 7T RA TR IR E & RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB33,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(Gaomi) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FERR(BE)KBERAF)* services
FERR (B KBERAR* /RN AR = 100 BRSKEERR
33,000,000 70 RS ERRE & R
Zhengzhou Xinzhongzhou Water Co., Ltd.  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,300,000 - 100  Provision of WTP operation
(BMFHMKEERAR) * services
EMFRMKBEERAR /R E N N = 100 RESKERRK
100,300,0007T BERHB
Xuzhou Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(NRERRKBERAR)* services
BMEERRKBERAR* E/ R AR %20,000,000 7 - 100 BRIKEERR

AR RE 2 R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

98
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follows: (Continued) T (&)
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] ERmRIL/ BRITER/
BERERBY dftRE ARFEEREEINH FERE
Direct  Indirect
B &

Tianjin Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB68,077,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(REREBRKBERAR) services

REFERRKBARAR" E/ RN AR 68,077,000 - 100 BRSKEEHR

RETRERHE 2 RS

Chongqing Fulunde Technology Co., Ltd.  PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100  Development and sale of

(BE#R Fﬂ&ﬁ E —] e computer software
EERRENRARA E/PER AR 20,0000007C - 100 feEstE
RHRERHE

Suzhou Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB36,000,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
Protection Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. services
(BMRERR ﬁﬂﬂ;ﬁfiﬁi T“*

BMEERRIKEEERD E/PER AR 36,0000007C - 100 REVIKEER

B2k
Gaomi Kangda Lvyi Sludge PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 100 Construction and provision of
Treatment Co., Ltd. STP operation services
%E%iﬁ“?ﬁﬁﬁ'@ﬁﬁi@ﬂ)“
RERESRERREARAH E/PER AR 3,0000007C - 100 BRSEEERRE
REERRERRY

Yunan Kangda Environment PRC/Mainland China RMB62,000,000 - 52 Construction, operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs
(BERERRARERAR) and other environmental

protection projects

BREERTARARAR" E/PER AR 62,0000007C - 5 BR BER#4#

K RER R EMIRRIAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows: (Continued)

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREEMNE QB FEERSIW

™ (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NEEE AR/ BROEE/
BURERBA dREE FRAEEREEIH FEXEH
Direct  Indirect
EE &

Weihai Kangda Ecological PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 88  Construction, operation and
Environment Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs, STPs,
(“Weihai Kangda") pipe networks and other
(FSRELERERSRERRAA) municipal infrastructure

RERELRREGARE PE/HEAL AR 100,000,007 - 88 BR EERME
BRAR(RERE])* AKRER SRR

ERREMTREARRE

Dongping Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$5,200,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(RERERBEERDA) provision of WTP operation

services

RYFRKBERDA E/RER 5,200,000% 7 - 100 BRSKEEHRE

BRALIT K R R R R

Chongqing Kangda Lvyi Energy PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Investment in energy industry
Investment Co., Ltd. and provision of WTP
(EEREGRERRRERRAR) operation services

EERERERRREARAR" e,/ hE R AR 50,000,000 7 - 100 RERRTER

BRI K R IR R PR

Shangaiu Kangda Water PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEREKEBERAR) services

BEREKRRERDA PE/ RN AR % 10,000,000 - 100 BRSKEEHR

RATKEEREE R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

BRDA ([ Ee])

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

follows: (Continued) (8
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] ERmRIL/ BRITER/
BURERBA dREE FRAEEREEIH FEXEH
Direct  Indirect
EE &

Chongqing Kangda Zhishang PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Environmental Protection Industry provision of WTP operation
Co., Ltd. services
(EEREZHRREZFERAR) *

EEREZRRREEZRRAF" e,/ hE AL AR #70,000,0007 - 100 BRIKEERR

BRI K B R R E R
Huizhou Kangda Yingzhihuang PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 Construction of WTPs and
Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BMEER 2KBERAR) services
dHF REZEXBERAF E/RERL AB%10,000,0007C - 51 BRSKRERR
BRI K B R R E R
Xinzheng Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
FOREKBERAR)* provision of WTP operation
services
HBREKEERRA* e,/ hE R AR 1,000,007 - 100 BRSKGEERR
BRI K B R R E R

Qishan County Dayuan Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BIFEAR T KEREREERR) * services

BILBERRRKREER E/RERD ABR%3,0000007T - 100 BRSKEEHR
RERA BRI K B R R E R

Weifang Shuangjie Water Purification PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 100  Sale of water purifying materials
Material Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Shuangjie”)

(TR MR BRAF) >
i 24900 Ouk e,/ hE R ARH8,000,0007C - 100 SHERKIH
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AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREEMNE QB FEERSIW

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

™ (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] ERmRIL/ BRITER/
BURERBA dREE FRAEEREEIH FEXEH
Direct  Indirect
EE &

Dong'e County Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB110,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EWSEREKBERDA) * services

RMEEEKBERDA PE/HEAL AR 110,000,007 - 100 BRIKEEBR

RS IE E & IR

Liaocheng Jiaming Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(I ERREKBRERRAR)* services

Do ERER K RRARAR PE/HEAL AR H70,000,0007C - 100 BRIKEEBR

RA TR IR E & RS

Linging City Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB75,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RAMRETKREERAR)* services

EEmER I KREARAR" PE/HEAL ABH75,000,0007C - 100 BEAKEEBR

REUIKRIERE S R

Qitaihe Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB90,000,000 - 100  Construction and provision of

(tRAREKBEREEAR)* WTP and RWTP operation
services and reclaimed water
treatment services

ANREKBEREMAR E/ R E R AR 90,000,000 - 100 ERAKEERR
BREKRERYREESR
BRIEHBEKGE RS

Xinzheng Xinkang Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
B EKBERAR)* provision of WTP operation

services

HERFKBERDA E/RERL AR % 60,000,000 - 100 BRSKEEHR

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

follows: (Continued) T (&)
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER gMAL/ BRTLE/
BERERBY dftRE ARFEEREEINH FERE
Direct  Indirect
B &

Kangda Environmental Protection (Linyi) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERR (BT KBERAR)* services

FERR (BT kBERD R /B AR 15,000,000 7T - 100 BRIKEERK

RETRERHE 2 RS

Fengxian Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection the second Sewage provision of WTP operation
treatment Co., Ltd. services
(BERERREZAKREERAR)*

LERERRE KRR R/ HE R AR 20,000,000 7T - 100 BRAKEEBR
BRAR* RV R RE E R

Jining Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB25,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EERERRKBERAR) services

EERERRKBEERL A R/ HE R AR 25,000,000 - 100 BRAKEEBR

RV R RE R R

Haiyang Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERERRKBERAR) services

BHERERRKKE AR R/ HE R AR 6,000,000 - 100 BRAKEEBR

REUIKRIERE R R

Wendeng Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(ERERRKBERAR)* services

XERERRKBERAR* R/ HE R AR10,000,000 7T - 100 BRAKEEBR

AT KEERE 2 R
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

1.

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREEMNE QB FEERSIW
™ (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
AR EH FMKL BRTLE/
BLREELSY TRA AQFAEERERIE FEXHR
Direct  Indirect
B B
Weifang Binhai Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,500,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(A EBRERRKBERAR) services
ESEERERRKBERAR /RN AR #10,500,0007 = 100 BRSKEERR
RESKRERE S RS
Kangda Environmental Protection (Hebi) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB5,500,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Water Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
("Hebi Kangda”) services
(RERR (BE)KRBARAR)*
FERR (BE) KREERAR B/ RN AR 5,500,000 7 = 100 BREKEERR
(TERREFRE])* REKERRE S R
Pingdingshan Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FIELRERFRKBERAA)* services
TRIIFERRKBERAF* E/ R E R AR %10,000,000 7 - 100 BHREGKERHR
REKERRE S R
Huadian Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EaRERRKBERAF)* services
EERERRKEERAR /RN AR #10,000,0007 = 100 BRTKEERMR
R ERRE S R
Suihua Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB52,700,000 = 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(B EERRKBERRA)* services
ElRERRKEERAR B/ RN AR #52,700,0007 = 100 BREIKEERR

AR R RE 2 R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREENERBFEEHSIM

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

follows: (Continued) T (&)
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] gMAL/ BRITER/
BERERBY dftRE ARFEEREEINH FERE
Direct  Indirect
EE &

Jixi County Chengjian Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEEHE R KEEERAA) services

BEERROKRRARAR PE/HEAL AR ¥8,000,0007C - 100 BRIKEEBR

REUIKERIERE 2 R

Dacheng Chengjian Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB9,600,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(REEHERRKBEERAG) * services

ARERRERKRERRAR RE/ R AR¥9,600,0007C - 100 BRAKEERR

BB SRR IR E & RS

Jiyuan City Yuchuan Chengjian Sewage ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRME) IR kBB ERAR) * services

BRI BB KREERAR RE/ R AR #30,000,0007 - 100 BRAKEERR

RS IE E & IR

Dandong Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB27,800,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(AREERRKEERDR) services

ARFERRKBERAA PE/HEAL AR % 27,800,0007C - 100 BRITKEEBR

R TR IR HE & RS

Sanmenxia Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and

(=PIREEABBR A provision of WTP operation
services
=FRFEKEERA PE/HEAL AR %10,000,0007C - 100 BRIKEEBR

RETKEEREE R
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

™ (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
ARER gMAL/ BRTLE/
BERERBY dftRE ARFEEREEINH FERE
Direct  Indirect
B &
Tianjin Kangda Lvyi Sludge PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100  Construction of STPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of STP operation
(REREZERREBERAR) services
H%E EGERRRREARAA PE/HEAL AR#2,0000007C - 100 BRSEEERR
RS IE E & IR
Jiaoling Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB56,172,000 - 97 Construction, operation and
Governance Co., Ltd. ("Jiaoling Kangda”) maintenance of WTPs
(EERERERERRAR)* and other environmental
protection projects
EERERGAERRAR E/RE R AR 56,172,000 - 9 BR BER#4E
(IBEFE])* AKEERREMIRRER
Wenzhou Chuangyuan Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB168,000,000 = 100 Construction of WTPs and
("Wenzhou Chuangyuan”) provision of WTP operation
CRM AR KB BR R E) * services
BT EIRABERAR RE/HEAL AR 816,000,000 7T - 100 BRSKEERR
(DRMELR])* RO RIERE R R
Meiling Environmental Technology (Zibo) ~ PRC/Mainland China SGD3,780,000 = 100  Construction of WTPs and
Co., Ltd. ("Meiling Zibo") provision of WTP operation
(RERERR(OEE) BRAA) services
FRBERE L) BRAR E/ R E R 3,780,000 % M3 7T - 100 ERAKEERR
(IEBEE])" REUIKRERE R R
Jining Meiling Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Purification Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEXESOFCERAR) services
BEXRSKHLARAR e/ HEA AR¥5,0000007T - 100 @*“%m;@w &

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE

105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

AEIREEER @)

FHMERARNELR (E)
BRARREENERBFEEHSIM

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

™: (&)

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration registered  attributable to the
Company name and operation share capital Company Principal activities
NCET] ERmRIL/ BRITER/
BERERBY dftRE ARFEEREEINH FERE
Direct  Indirect
B &

Qingzhou Meiling Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Purification Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BMTAERESOHCERAR)* services

EMmREA AR AR E/ RN AR 5,0000007C - 100 BROSKEERR

RETRERHE 2 RS

Sichuan Weiyuan Hefeng PRC/Mainland China RMB45,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Bioengineering Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(MIBEREENTRERAR)* services

I BEREENTRER AR /RN AR 45,000,007 - 100 BRIKEERR

REKERBE S R

Taiyuan Kangjin Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB194,450,000 - 99.44  Construction of WTPs and
(RRRBKBERAR) * provision of WTP operation

services

AREEKBERAA E/PERY AR 194,450,000 T - 944 BRIKEERR

REKERBE S R

Weiyuan Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB38,496,000 - 95  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRFERREB AR services

BEFRERRERAA E/PER AR 384960007 - 9% BRIKEERK

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows: (Continued)

& The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent
management'’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the companies
registered in Mainland China, as no English names have been registered.

Kangyu Investment Co., Ltd. and Meiling Environmental Technology (Zibo)
Co., Ltd. are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

* These companies are registered as limited liability companies under PRC
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for equity investments designed at fair
value through other comprehensive income which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 REEE 5

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, and any
non-controlling interest; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and IFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are described
below:

(@ Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EEMEERERNBIRE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING & 2R
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, REBHARMBERERERALATERM
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial 1B 8 R A BRI FT 5T RAE FT BIBR B 7 3R
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised HAER o REEB N AT RS FTBIFR
IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective. MGG EERIREAZE I R
BT BIRR B T v 5 22 B (ZAE ) -
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BARUBREENE Y  GEEXHZIREE
Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public ARUMBREENS 9% ELRALHNELA:
Accountability: Disclosures® i
Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification B EREENEORREAR 2HTAZHERE
and IFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial BBREEAETS (BTK) 2E5T7
Instruments?
Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing BRB R REENZ IR FREBESE R
and IFRS 7 Nature-dependent Electricity? REBHHREES ENEH
ET5 (B15)
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets B EREENE0RRER REFLREE L 7T
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its SEHERF 285 (BT K) REPRZBMEE
Associate or Joint Venture* HERFE
Amendments to I1AS 21 Lack of Exchangeability' BR e EAE 2R (BITR) RZTLAM
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS R BaEE g £l BREBREENE 1R
to IFRS Accounting 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72 FEAE— E111T BB R 5 2E
Standards — Volume 11 £7% ARHBREE
BIE9%: - BRHHRE
EHE0FRER S5
BAIZTH 2]
U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 1 E;F:ﬁi; AFE-A—RARZERABZIFER
HARD 4 %
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 : g;§§ﬁ$ “A-RRZERBZIFER
HARG 4 %
2 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 ’ REFB-_LF—A-ARZGABZF
&,/ BRI £
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption ! 58 I 4E U H B M R FETE - B AT AR

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from IAS
1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
into one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is
renamed as IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but
widely applicable, amendments are made to |IAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, |AS 33 Earnings per Share and |IAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other IFRSs are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group
is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group's financial statements.

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRSs. To
be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must
be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have
a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with
IFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are considering the application of IFRS
19 in their specified financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a
financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment system before the
settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-
recourse features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures for investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with contingent
features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component
of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without the
use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments
at the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28 was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures
of information that enable users of financial statements to
understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date
of initial application. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume
11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

° IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS
7 and paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and IG20B of the Guidance
on implementing IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification
or achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the
standard and/or with the concepts and terminology used
in other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that
the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that
when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

o IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

° IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method”. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued) EBEHRBEE)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of PR Z R AT 2 - ABE HER
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount B CHEIRIFZEREZNSBRELRE

recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the

B8 1 AT R R BB 0 Bk X P E A 4B AT
HBHAKB R B EERMAEAEBDN

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum ZH o Mz EREEMERNAFMER
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value ﬁﬁuﬁzﬁﬁﬁéi‘%@m@i@ AlEgKs
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, TR ERRERREERE R -

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit WEBESEZReELEN (R
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation EEBEMAR)  MBRZEMNI S

within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

AFEE ()

RIS BR P BARBATENFA
AERAE DERHEBATENEN
EBEANBERBAESEE TR
AFEER :

whole:

Level1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active E—H — BEBEHEAREEXEBERNE
markets for identical assets or liabilities BRTISHME CREHAE)

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the E_HR — BEBERBHEATEFEM
lowest level input that is significant to the EEEARNEZESEEA
fair value measurement is observable, either BREREARE ABENGHE
directly or indirectly FA

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=H — BEERBHAFEFTEM

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties, and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (&)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EREFTBE (4)
Related parties 2] el
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: W& TEER - B A AR A EAR
L E B

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@ ZAAFAITHEATIHNERE
family and that person B BEZAT
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () HAREEESEG SR
PR
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBBEEANTES X
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) ARAEEIAEETRAH
Group or of a parent of the Group; FEEBAS
or 14
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions b) ZARUTEAGEHERNER
applies:
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same iy Z%EREAEEAR-—%E
group; KB RTF
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy ZEBRS BB (EHS—
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of ERNERA  HMEARK
the other entity); RN =WNC DN o) RG]
HEERE
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBEXEELSR -—F=
same third party; THEEMRE:
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy ZEBRE=-FTEENGE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; TrE - ME—EBEBRE=/A
ERNBENR
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v ZEBRUXREEIAEKH
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity HAEREE R R AR
related to the Group; BizmAEta
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

M BERRKRERTE (&)

MENERETE  RBEDE  HE

FABTE B At A F HAMSER A R
HFEMERE MUARANEEF XL
T

Buildings and other infrastructure 3.13%-4.50% BFR 3.13% £ 4.50%
H A B R b

Machinery 6.67%-18.00% 125 6.67% % 18.00%

Office equipment and others 9.50%-18.00% PN R A 9.50% £ 18.00%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of such properties to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rate used for this
purpose is as follows:

Buildings 4.50%

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 10 years.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

2.4 ERETTBE®)

REW=
REMEEF[ERDEASRAL HE
AEEMRHEN LB REFTER (B
EREEE) - BRAMEEREKRA(E
BREGKAR)FHE - VMTHERE BE
VIR AR Rt I & RAERDREE
B -

WENEREE  REEARYED
fAEH e A F MR AN E R FIREE -
FLLFTERAMEBEFRMT ¢

BF 4.50%

BREE (FERMD)
BERRENETEER VT EREIZK
A B - REBEHFPBRENETLEE
MRARKEERORTE - BFEE
BRI FHIERHE D A B B E HIR
EEEHR -ERAFHERNELEE
AR AEEFHANEY  YRAH
REENELEENRRERFEZEDR
E-ERFHERNENEENEHEN
NESHETEAEIREMRFREERE A E
1726 -

LA
BB B B 1% BCAS R ] R (E &S 1R 51 R
Wig Bt ERFH T FAEREE

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding five to seven years, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.

Operating concessions
For details of the accounting policy of operating concessions,
please refer to “Service concession arrangements” below.

Operating contract rights

Operating contract rights represent the fair value of operating
rights of WTPs or RWTPs acquired through business combination.
These intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis
over the remaining period of the operating contract rights.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Land 19 years
Office 2 to 5years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g.,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office properties
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office properties
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease term and is included in other income
and gains in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income due to its nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as other income and gains in
the period in which they are earned.

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors. The service concession
arrangements consist of Build-Operate-Transfer (the "BOT")
arrangements and Transfer-Operate-Transfer (the “TOT")
arrangements. Under the BOT arrangements, the Group carries
out construction work of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or
other municipal infrastructure for the Grantors and receives in
return the rights to operate the service project concerned for a
specified period of time (the “operation period”) in accordance
with the pre-established conditions set by the Grantors, and
the service project should be transferred to the Grantors with
nil consideration at the end of the operation period. A TOT
arrangement is similar to a BOT arrangement, except that the
Group pays consideration for the rights to operate the WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure that have
been built.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Consideration given by the Grantors

A financial asset (financial receivable) is recognised to the extent
that the Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the Grantors
for the construction services rendered and/or the consideration
paid and payable by the Group for the rights to operate WTPs,
and the Grantors have little, if any, discretion to avoid payment,
usually because the agreements are enforceable by law. The
Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or another
financial asset if nothing other than the passage of time is
required before payment of the consideration is due and the
Grantors contractually guarantee to pay the Group specified or
determinable amounts even if the payment is contingent on the
Group ensuring that the infrastructure meets specified quality of
efficiency requirements. The financial asset (financial receivable) is
accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for Financial
assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) under "Investments
and other financial assets” below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to
the extent that the Group receives the rights to charge users
of public service or the grantors remunerate the Group on the
basis of the extent of use of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or
other municipal infrastructure by users, but with no guarantees
as to the amounts that will be paid to the Group, which is not
an unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts
are contingent on the extent that the public use the service.
The intangible asset (operating concession) is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for “intangible assets” above,
which is amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms of
operation ranging from 25 to 30 years.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a
financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then each
component of the consideration is accounted for separately and
is recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Construction or upgrade services

Costs relating to construction or upgrade services comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads. Revenue from the construction or upgrade services
under the BOT agreements is estimated on a cost-plus basis
with reference to the prevailing market rate of gross margin at
the date of the agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered in similar locations, and is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in
accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition” below.
Costs for operating services are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group's business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months
(@ 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The various group companies have different credit policies
depending on the requirements of their markets in which they
operate and the businesses they engage in. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general policy for provisions above; and
(ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy for
revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary

differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any

unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the

extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available

against which the deductible temporary differences, and the

carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets
and released to the profit or loss over the expected useful lives of
the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

BOT arrangements

Revenue from the construction services under the BOT
agreements is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference
to the prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction services
rendered in similar locations, and is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated
total cost of the relevant contract.

EPC arrangements

Revenue from the provision of construction services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based
on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to
the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction

services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Provision of operation services

Revenue from the provision of operation services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
"MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution
schemes for its employees pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC. These include a housing fund, basic
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance and
maternity insurance. The Group makes monthly contributions to
the housing fund and other social insurances. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has
no further obligations beyond the contributions made.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (&)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting
events after the reporting period and update the disclosures that
relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For
non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will
not change the amounts recognised in its financial statements,
but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate of their financial effects, or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 B RE5TEEE (#8)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

Accounting for service concession arrangements

The Group engages in certain service concession
arrangements in which the Group carries out construction
work of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal
infrastructure for the Grantors and receives in return
the rights to operate the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or
other municipal infrastructure concerned in accordance
with the pre-established conditions set by the Grantors.
In accordance with IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements, the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure under the service concession
arrangements may be classified as intangible assets or
financial assets. The WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure are classified as intangible assets
if the Group receives a right (a licence) to charge users of
the public service or if the Grantors remunerate the Group
on the basis of the extent of use of the WTPs, RWTPs,
WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure by users, but
with no guarantees as to the amounts that will be paid to
the Group. Whenever only part of the investment by the
Group under these service concession arrangements is
covered by a payment commitment from the Grantors, it
is recognised as a financial receivable up to the amount
guaranteed by the Grantors, and as an intangible asset for
the balance. The Group recognises a financial receivable if
it has an unconditional contractual right under the service
concession arrangements to receive a determinable amount
of payments during the concession period irrespective
of the usage of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

Accounting for service concession arrangement
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial receivable
is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Revenue from the construction service under the terms of
service concession arrangements is estimated on a cost-
plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
gross margin at the date of agreement applicable to similar
construction services rendered in similar locations, and
is recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the proportion of costs incurred
to date to the estimated total cost of the relevant contract.
The Group's prevailing margins of gross construction
margin were valued by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal
Ltd. (“CHFT"), an independent third-party valuer that has
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the

valuation of gross construction margin.

When the Group receives a payment during the concession
period, it will apportion such payment among (i) a
repayment of the financial receivables (if any), which will
be used to reduce the carrying amount of the financial
receivables on the statement of financial position, (ii)
interest income, which will be recognised as revenue
in profit or loss and (iii) revenue from operating and
maintaining the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure in profit or loss.

Judgement is also exercised in determining the fair value
of the financial receivables. Discount rates, estimates of
future cash flows and other factors are used in the valuation
process.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)  Accounting for EPC arrangements
The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works
not included in the original construction contract, which
give rise to variable consideration. The Group determined
that the expected value method is the appropriate method
to use in estimating the variable consideration for claims
in construction services, given there is a wide range of
possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with
third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration
are not constrained based on its historical experience,
current negotiations with customers, profitability of the
head contracts of the customers and the current economic
conditions.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends from
certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax jurisdictions
is subject to judgement on the timing of the payment of the
dividends or on whether certain subsidiaries of the Group are
determined to be Chinese resident enterprises by the PRC
governing tax authorities in the future. Management considered
that it is not probable that the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
will distribute retained profits as at the end of the year in the
foreseeable future, and accordingly no additional provision for
withholding tax was made. Where the final outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally rewarded, the
difference will impact the deferred tax provision in the period in
which the difference arises.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 25 ERETTHE R

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment, the Group periodically reviews
the changes in market conditions, expected physical wear
and tear, and the maintenance of the asset. The estimation
of the useful life of the asset is based on historical experience
of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Depreciation amount will be adjusted if the estimated useful
lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
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on changes in circumstances.

Current income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Estimation is required in determining the provision for
taxation. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the differences
will impact on the current income tax and deferred income tax
in the periods in which the differences arise. Deferred tax assets
relating to certain temporary differences or unused tax losses
are recognised as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or the unused losses can be utilised.

The realisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits will be available in the future.
In cases where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which will be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such a reversal takes place. Details of deferred tax assets are
contained in note 20 to the financial statements.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Percentage of completion of construction services

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts of construction works, which
requires estimation to be made by management. The stage of
completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs incurred
over the total budgeted costs. Due to the nature of the activity
undertaken in construction works, the date on which the activity
commences and the date on which the activity completes usually
fall into different accounting periods. Hence, the Group reviews
and revises the percentage of completion of construction works.
Where the actual contract revenue is less than expected or actual
contract costs are more than expected, a foreseeable loss may
arise.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and cost to completion for
construction services

Total budgeted costs for construction contracts comprise (i) direct
material costs and direct labour, (ii) costs of subcontracting, and
(ili) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction overheads.
In estimating the total budgeted costs for construction contracts,
management refers to information such as (i) current offers from
sub-contractors and suppliers, (i) recent offers agreed with sub-
contractors and suppliers, and (i) professional estimation on
material costs, labour costs and other costs.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
financial receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables, financial receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by geography, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults
in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 25 ERETTHE R

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) fhat A HEE M (8)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables, ESEWNE SRERRERENE
financial receivables and contract assets (Continued) ERNBEEEHERE (E)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's financial receivables, trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 19, note 21 and note 23 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Financial receivables

Estimation is exercised in determining the fair values of the
financial receivables at initial recognition. These fair values are
computed on the discounted cash flow method using a discount
rate based upon the market-related rate for a similar instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. The assumptions and
estimates used can materially affect the fair values of the financial
receivables.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details are given in note 18.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term,
and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

3.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to their nature.
Each of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that provides services which are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of the other operating
segments. Summary details of the operating segments are as
follows:

(@) the segment of Urban Water Treatment engages in the
design, construction, upgrade and operation of WTPs,
RWTPs, STPs and WDPs, and in the operation and
maintenance of waste water treatment facilities entrusted
by governments (“O&M");

(b) the segment of Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation engages in river harnessing and improvement,
foul water body treatment, and sponge city construction;
and

(o) the segment of Rural Water Improvement engages in
the construction and operation related to “the Water
Environment Facilities of Beautiful Village” such as waste
water treatment facilities and pipeline construction
for collecting waste water so as to achieve rural living
environment improvement.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on the reportable segment
results, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that unallocated income and
gains, finance costs as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities mainly comprise operating assets
and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can
be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets exclude investment properties, unallocated
intangible assets, unallocated deferred tax assets, unallocated
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, unallocated
pledged deposits, unallocated cash and cash equivalents,
unallocated investments in associates and a joint venture and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December 2024

e o
3. BeEnE

FEF @)

Water
S Environment
“E-mE+=A=t-H Urban Water Comprehensive  Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2024 LEE Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KRB A
W8k RERE BKRE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue 2 s
Sales to external customers FANBR P HE 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
Total segment revenue D EKE 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
Segment results PHEE 460,393 25,182 21,969 507,544
Reconciliation: #ik -
Unallocated income and gains RO EMA R 9,451
Share of profits and losses of HMERDEBE D AN ER
unallocated associates 18
Share of profit and loss of ME—FRRARAELENER
an unallocated joint venture (1,753)
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMRARRAX
expenses (76,233)
Unallocated lease-related finance costs A2 B BRI E KA (85)
Unallocated finance costs RAEREKA
(other than interest on lease liabilities) (A& & EF 85N (202,699)
Profit before tax BRELATR T 236,243
Segment assets IHEE 16,785,400 1,153,880 643,461 18,582,741
Reconciliation: i
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R EMA DI EE 571,185
Total assets BEE 19,153,926
Segment liabilities FBEE 12,242,483 371,663 456,855 13,071,001
Reconciliation: i
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMRPEE R
liabilities 63,080
Total liabilities BaE 13,134,081
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

R / ~\ 37

3- Igé R

BER (@)

Water
S Environment
“E-mE+=A=t-H Urban Water Comprehensive  Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2024 LEE Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KRB A
HEKK RERE SKRE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT R ARET R
Other segment information HitrpHER
Investments in associates REL AR RERE - 234,661 - 234,661
Unallocated investments in associates ~ REtE A RIMA D AR E 337
Investment in a joint venture R-ReatENEE 68,263 - - 68,263
Unallocated investment in a joint venture A —FRA &L EMNR AR E 6,682
Share of profits and losses of associates 75 Hi& A BIM B - 1,040 - 1,040
Share of profits and losses of unallocated 215K 2 Bl & AR M E R
associates 18
Share of profit and loss of a joint venture A1E—RA B EMBR (1,393) = = (1,393)
Share of profit and loss of an unallocated AE—RA DA AL EMBER
joint venture (1,753)
Impairment losses recognised in RESRERNHESEFE
profit or loss, net* (69,435) (3,554) - (72,989)
Depreciation and amortisation FTEREH 89,183 8 32,894 122,085
Unallocated depreciation and RPBRTEREH
amortisation 4,124
Total depreciation and amortisation TEREHER 126,209
Capital expenditure BRRX 32,133 - 3,496 35,629
Unallocated amounts RPBESHE 34
Total capital expenditure* BRRx B8 35,663

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment
and service concession contract assets.

The impairment losses recognised in profit or loss consists of the impairment
of financial receivables, the impairment of contract assets, the impairment of
trade receivables and the impairment of other receivables.

EAMTBEREDE  BERR
BRFERANERE -

H At R FIRRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

31 December 2024

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. REFHER @
(Continued)
Water
HE Environment
“ZZ=&+ZA=1—-H Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2023 IL5E Treatment Remediation  Improvement Total
KRE i)
KT RARE EIKAE A&
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT ARETTT ARET T
Segment revenue 2 s
Sales to external customers N P E 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Total segment revenue AE BN R 2,123,024 43,438 49919 2,216,381
Segment results S 512,121 (16,281) (11,119) 484,721
Reconciliation: HEK -
Unallocated income and gains R BRBA RS 18,615
Share of profits and losses of HMERDEBE D AN ER
unallocated associates 3,777
Share of profit and loss of PME—FRRIRAELENER
an unallocated joint venture 42
Corporate and other unallocated EEREMRDRRX
expenses (56,902)
Unallocated lease-related finance costs R E A ERBREHK A (156)
Unallocated finance costs (other than AOEBEKA
interest on lease liabilities) (BEBENEBRN) (216,059)
Profit before tax BR 75 A A 233,954
Segment assets FHEE 16,511,177 1,253,543 636,810 18,401,530
Reconciliation: -
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥R EMAHELEE 825,832
Total assets BEE 19,227,362
Segment liabilities PHEE 12,473,546 489,654 362,004 13,325,294
Reconciliation: -
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMRIREE
liabilities 52,036
Total liabilities BefE 13,377,330
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR M A

31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RESIER®
(Continued)
Water
BHE Environment
“ZZ=&+ZA=1—-H Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2023 IL5E Treatment Remediation  Improvement Total
KR i
BT FERE KRR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
Other segment information HitrpHER
Investments in associates REL AR RERE = 234,258 = 234,258
Unallocated investments in associates ~ R E R RIMR A B E 319
Investment in a joint venture R-ReatENEE 69,656 - - 69,656
Unallocated investment in a joint venture A —FRA &L EMNR AT E 8,435
Share of profits and losses of associates 735 Hi& A BIM B - 922 - 922
Share of profits and losses of unallocated 215K 2 Bl & AR M E R
associates 3,777
Share of profitand loss of a joint venture A1E—K& & R %RBR (286) = = (286)
Share of profit and loss of an unallocated AE—RA DA AL L EMBER
joint venture (42)
Impairment losses recognised in REEREZNHESEFE
profit or loss, net* (31,690) (2,231) = (33,921)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 65,837 18 25,046 90,901
Unallocated depreciation and RPBRTEREH
amortisation 3,803
Total depreciation and amortisation FEREEES 94,704
Capital expenditure BERRY 15,497 = 19,256 34753
Unallocated amounts RPBESHE 8
Total capital expenditure* BRRxBE" 34,761

and service concession contract assets.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment

The impairment losses recognised in profit or loss consists of the impairment

of financial receivables, the impairment of contract assets, the impairment of

trade receivables and the impairment of other receivables.

* EXAMXBRERENE  BERREARR

BRFERANERE -

# 1A 48 25 HE R O OB (B B 1R B 4 2 R B KUK

HE - AHEERE -
H fth EUFRIRRE ©

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

B 5 R IE/JESZTE&



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

31 December2024 —Z U+ _-HF=+—H

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

ReEFTER (@)

it EE F
(a) HEBEFEUE

2024 2023
o113 —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB‘000

ARBTF T ARETT

Mainland China R A D

2,261,282 2,216,381

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

bl BB T ERF PR E

(b) FRBEE

2024 2023
—ESE-E —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Mainland China R A A

12,058,649 12,531,572

All the non-current assets are located in Mainland China.
The non-current asset information above excludes deferred
tax assets.

FBIERBEEDNMNHERM -
LHFERBEENEMTEREER
EHRBEE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR M A

31 December2024 —Z—PUFE+_-HF=+—H

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RESIER®
(Continued)
Information about major customers BRTEEFEBRNER
The revenue derived from the Group's two largest customers REA - AEBMAEPEEHKE
during the year is as follows: ibk:
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_NF+=-A=+—HLFE

Urban Water

Treatment Total
3 $E K 75 a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTFR

Customer C ®FEC 188,092 188,092
Customer B ZFB 140,732 140,732
328,824 328,824

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLLFE

Urban Water

Treatment Total
KT =
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Customer A ZEEA 152,322 152,322
Customer C BEC 134,881 134,881
287,203 287,203
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4.

REVENUE

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors on a BOT or a TOT basis in
respect of its WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal
infrastructure. These service concession arrangements generally
involve the Group as an operator in (i) constructing WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure for those
arrangements on a BOT basis; (ii) paying a specific amount for
those arrangements on a TOT basis; and (iii) operating WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure on behalf of
the Grantors for periods ranging from 17 to 30 years (the “Service
Concession Periods”), and the Group will be paid for its services
over the Service Concession Periods at prices stipulated through
a pricing mechanism.

The Group carries out construction works of other municipal
infrastructure under EPC arrangements and agrees with EPC
customers to enter into a settled agreement for the construction
work during the construction.

Revenue represents: (i) an appropriate proportion of contract
revenue from construction contracts under BOT arrangements,
EPC arrangements and other construction service projects, net
of tax and government surcharges; (i) revenue from operation
of WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure
under BOT arrangements and TOT arrangements and the
provision of Operation and Maintenance services; and (iii)
financial income from service concession arrangements. The
amounts of each of the significant categories of revenue during
the year are as follows:

Wz
Aﬁﬁlaﬁdﬁi%kﬁii@‘ﬁymﬁﬁ

ORI SRR IR M Ek H A T A
**‘“mLABOT&TOTEﬁEﬁi#%AJ
VEZERBFFECELHE ZERBE
R ETE— MR AN ERBEREES
(VABOTH A MZELHER S KERE
R BAKEER - #HKK - 5REERE
gk o HL At T B EL R R B ¢ (i) ATOT 5 ¢
MZELHIRNIEBESE  R(i)R17
FE30FMHARA ([ REFTEL MDD
REBE T AL FKEER - BEKE
R AHROKIR 05 e IR B R o H A T IR
AR MASEBRREETLE
HM B A RS IZ BB E BRI RENE
TEIELS TREN o

ZIK%I*ETFEPC?T?F%;??ﬁ{mﬁBZ%
MR TR - WRER AR EEPC
BREZENXFIVERTIENGEE B -

W#sts () BOTZ HE - EPCRHE R E A
@ HE@WIEET@_*“A?’]H’J@ Lt 51

& H W E ?DE?%RIE&BZH‘WJJD% (i)
BOT;@JF&TOTKHFTL 5 KRB
R - B AEKER IR - KR 5B IR
i8R S EL At T BR LR R pE A SR AR B
HEREA WS KRG EFFEE
THRHTEWA - RFAZTEANRKTLE
RIB BT

Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
Revenue from operating services B2 RIS W e 1,251,647 1,295,986
Revenue from construction services ERR R W = 266,035 173,630

Financial income from service concession AR 7% 15 5F 45 2 Z Bk B9 B 755 U A

arrangements 743,600 746,765
Total @t 2,261,282 2,216,381
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31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

4. REVENUE (Continued) 4. q&ﬁ_ﬁ(%>
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EEEHWE (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WEERHAD
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_M&E+=-A=+—H
L“EE
Water
Environment
Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KRB A
Segments 28 WEKE RERE BKRE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR

Revenue from contracts EFAHWE

with customers 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
Geographical market HBETH
Mainland China B i 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
Total k] 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
Timing of revenue recognition B
Services transferred over time Fafs R EH M R 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
Total k] 2,160,205 22,133 78,944 2,261,282
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31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

4. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. W3:H &)

EFENWKE (8
(a) WEERMAD (B

BT _=F+=-A=+—H
IEFE

Water
Environment
Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Treatment Remediation  Improvement Total
KRB i
Segments ol KT FERE KRR B3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
Revenue from contracts BEFEHKE
with customers 2,123,024 43,438 49919 2,216,381
Geographical market B ETH
Mainland China HE M 2,123,024 43,438 49,919 2,216,381
Total k] 2,123,024 43438 49919 2,216,381
Timing of revenue recognition Wiz R AR
Services transferred over time bR BB MR 2,123,024 43438 49919 2,216,381
Total B 2,123,024 43438 49919 2,216,381

Revenue from construction services, operating services of
waste water treatment, reclaimed water treatment, water
distribution and sludge treatment and financial income
from service concession arrangements are recognised over
time.

Performance obligations

The aggregate amount of the transaction prices
allocated to the performance obligations of BOT and
TOT arrangements that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2024 was RMB33 billion
(2023: RMB33 billion). The performance obligations
expected to be recognised in more than one year relate
to the services to be performed in respect of the BOT and
TOT arrangements. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

(b)

SEOKBEIE C BAEKEEIE - KB
REREEMEZRYE  ELR
TS A R PR A R AT AL & R HE R
B A A —ER B R A HERR o

BHEE
R-ZE-_WNMFE+_-_A=+—H%
feZ=BOT R TOT ZHERI AR BTT (X
HBOoRBIT BHNEENRSE
BB EAAREIVET(ZF
—Z=ZF: AR¥330187) - A
R—FUEERZBEHETEF
MBOTRTOTLHEBITH RS A
e FXBENSEIBIEZR
B HY AT ERAE o
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31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Hi A Rz
2024 2023
—E_ME T =
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR® T AR¥ETE

Government grants* BT 8 Bh * 25,178 20,230
Interest income from loans to a third party [[—%XK % =75 EZ B F B ULA 15,643 20,087
Bank interest income RITABA 2,215 2,522
Interest income from loans to an associate [A—REtE QN AN —KEE
and a joint venture TEEFAOFE LA 1,985 1,663
Rental income less depreciation of MEWARBEENETE
investment properties 619 1,274
Dividend income from equity investments 8 A A FEF AEMEE
designated at fair value through Woas 2 IIER E B B
other comprehensive income - 9,602
Foreign exchange differences, net EHERR F8 - 510
Others** H i ** 21,174 3,901
Total et 66,814 59,789
* Government grants primarily represented the value-added tax refund * B FBh = B BT B T IR E DR
and the environmental protection funds for environmental technological REBRREMBGENRERERS - BT
improvements granted by government authorities. Certain environmental AR HUTE B Bt 5255 7K BE 22 JBR B 7B A KO
protection funds related to the upgrading of WTPs granted by government BRESOHERAR/ELKUA - REHOZEE
authorities are recognised as deferred income that is recognised in profit or FRBRREG o EERBRPRER - L
loss on a systematic basis over the expected upgrade interval cycle. There L S BB BRI R R KR A ER -

*K

are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The others mainly includes the gains from debt restructuring, net of goodwill . Hiv+ 2 aEESERARS HIBREEHRE) -
impairment.
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FR®ADGF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ ANE B A BRB AR LB (GEA)
(crediting): AR EIBZRE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T ARET T
Cost of construction services 3 3% AR 75 A AN 208,253 206,487
Cost of operation services 18 & RIS A A 964,015 933,900
Total cost of services 48 Al 75 A AR 1,172,268 1,140,387
Depreciation of property, plantand #1%  liFE &R EITE
equipment 12 5,221 5,758
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {# FAEEEITE 13(a) 1,069 1,172
Amortisation of service concession L& E — T
intangible assets e 17 118,958 87,244
Amortisation of other intangible Hofth ST & EE B
assets 343 395
Impairment of financial receivables® < Bk & W ER B * 19 46,608 829
Impairment of contract assets* ABHBERE" 23 99 (147)
Impairment of trade receivables’ 5 rEWFIERE" 21 19,478 30,646
Impairment of other receivables* H A W R R (E 22 6,804 2,593
Lease payments not included in the T ATHE & {
measurement of lease liabilities R E TR 13(c) 325 389
Auditor's remuneration 2% A BN & 2,552 2,552
Employee benefit expense (including {& & & 7 5 32
directors’ remuneration): (BIEESHH)
Wages, salaries and allowances, T& - e kEih-
social securities and benefits 2 IRE &R F 228,251 235,984
Equity-settled share option i i E B IR R X
expense 5,141 -
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHE K
(defined contribution scheme)* (REMFKETE]) 25,669 25,078
Total employee benefit expense BEBRMNAX 259,061 261,062
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31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BRBLAER (&)

2024 2023
“E-IWEF —E-=F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Bt 5E AR®T AR T T
Operating lease income KERE WA (1,237) (1,409)
Less: Depreciation of investment W REBMERE
properties 618 135
Rental income less depreciation of HE&W AR EMHETE
investment properties 5 (619) (1,274)
Bank interest income RITH B WA 5 (2,215) (2,522)
Government grants B 78 B 5 (25,178) (20,230)
Interest income from loans to M—REZFEFHFEWA
a third party 5 (15,643) (20,087)
Interest income from loans to a joint [Al—FR & & &% Kk — @ &
venture and an associate NEINERHF SR A 5 (1,985) (1,663)
Loss on disposal of items of property, tH & #% ~ 5 K& E
plant and equipment, net HEBEFHE 10 32
Loss on disposal of an associate HE—RBLARER = 5,781
Foreign exchange differences, net  [E X =% » /558 2,228 (510)
g The impairment of financial receivables, the impairment of contract assets, E RUEWGRIERE  GHNEERE BFHE
the impairment of trade receivables and the impairment of other receivables WOk TR R B R A WK TR BT AR B
are included in “Other expenses” in profit or loss. mAE) [ B R | o
@ There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the * HE A BOR W R AT AR BEREE

ARBUEIR B HFKF o

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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31 December2024 —Z—M&+-HA=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERAR
2024 2023
—E_EF —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Interest on interest-bearing bank T REERTT KA FKFE
and other borrowings 544,126 578,563
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 85 156
Total FEy 544,211 578,719
8. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EEBRESTHAEZM
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

REBEENRHTRAEMESRE L
AR R - BB R EMEGISE 383(1)(@) - (b)
Q@ ROERAR (KEEEFZEM) R

BIE 25 BB T

2024 2023

—E-NE T o=

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFR  AREFT

Fees ik 2,150 1,951
Other emoluments: Hie :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #& 2B R EWEF 6,066 4,957

Equity-settled share option expense ARz A5 E O BE AR B =2 1,680 -

Pension scheme contributions RIREEHEIHE K 49 -

Total #Et 9,945 6,908
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31 December2024 —Z—PUFE+_-HF=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBRESITHRAEHFMw
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(i) Independent non-executive directors (i) BIAIEHTES
2024 2023
—E-E —E-—F
Equity-
settled share
option
Fees expense Total Fees
DESGEE
Be NBERERX #et e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®Tn AR¥Tn ARETR
Mr. Chang Qing (%75) BEEE 330 48 378 325
Mr. Peng Yongzhen (k%)  ®XkEi4E 330 48 378 325
Mr. Chau Kam Wing (BI$348)  FASB&REAE 330 48 378 325
Total BEt 990 144 1,134 975
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31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

8. EERBESITHAEHFM @

(ii) Executive directors (i) #MITES
Equity- Salaries,
settled allowances Pension
share option  and benefits scheme Total
Fees expense inkind  contributions remuneration
NRHEHEN He 2ER RBike
e  BERERX ENER HEEE BEM
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
Year ended 31 December ~ BE-F-IWF
2024 TZAZT-HLEE
Executive directors: YTES:
Mr. Zhao Juanxian BEBLE
(alias, Zhao Junxian)
(HEE) 331 - 1,597 - 1,928
Mr. Li Zhong (£4) k4 221 384 1,465 = 2,070
Mr. Duan Jerry Linnan (EX #48) B o 4 221 384 1,342 - 1,947
Ms. Liu Yujie (BIE7) EE Y 221 384 547 - 1,152
Mr. Zhou Wei (B f&)* st 166 384 1,115 49 1,714
Total @it 1,160 1,536 6,066 49 8,811
Year ended 31 December ~ HE-ZF=-=f
2023 TZA=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HTEE.
Mr. Zhao Juanxian HEBRAE
(alias, Zhao Junxian)
(BEE) 325 = 1,581 S 1,906
Mr. Li Zhong (%) FThik 217 = 1483 = 1,700
Mr. Duan Jerry Linnan (& #548) BXAvRI %4 217 = 1,351 = 1,568
Ms. Liu Yujie (BIE7R) EART 27 - 542 - 759
Total @it 976 = 4,957 - 5933
3 Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) was re-designated to non- * HEBLEEERATARARAEHR

executive director of the Company with effect from the from 1

January 2025.

*%

on 10 April 2024.

Mr. Zhou Wei was appointed as an executive director of the Company

There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

*k

TEE B-T-_hF—A—HELE
R e

AREER_ZT_MNMFEMA+HE
ZERARARTES -

BMEEENFAFEREARE
MBI B -

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE

173



174

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR M A

31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2023: three directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining one (2023: two) highest paid employee who
is neither a director nor a chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

hTEEaEHMES

FAN IaGayEERENEAES (=
TZ=F:ZRER) BEZHFWF
BEHREXMFES - AFEHT—B (=
EZ=F MEB)BRIFEARRATNEENIE
BRTBRABZ&aHMES 25
E N

2024 2023
—E_ME —EFE-=
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR® T AR¥ETE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ # %  ZBI R EWEF] 902 1,959
Performance related bonuses FIRAAREIEAL 90 178
Equity-settled share option expense AR & 45 H Y BB AR A T =2 192 —
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHE R 66 109
Total #Et 1,250 2,246

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is

FHEATHEANIEESE RIFRSIT
BABZSHHMESABIMT

as follows:
Number of employees
EBEAH
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 /& 7T £ 1,500,000 78 7T 1
Total 4T 1 2
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FAIBHiAX

Pursuant to The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law Implementing
Regulations (% Z A R L F1 B {& 2 P 15 50K B b 15 1), most
of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, engaged in the
operations of waste water treatment projects, are eligible for tax
holiday of a three-year full exemption followed by a three-year
half exemption commencing from their respective first years of
generating operating revenue (the “3+3 Tax Holiday”). At the
end of the year, these subsidiaries were qualified for the 3+3 Tax
Holiday or in the process of preparation and submission of the
required documents to the respective tax authorities to apply for
the 3+3 Tax Holiday.

In accordance with the relevant tax rules and regulations of
Mainland China ,
enjoy income tax exemptions and reductions because (1) these

a number of the Company’s subsidiaries

companies are qualified third-party enterprises engaged in
pollution prevention and control, and are entitled to corporate
income tax at a reduced tax rate of 15%; and/or (2) they have
operations in the Western regions of Mainland China that are
qualified for a 15% concessionary corporate income tax rate for
a prescribed period of time pursuant to the “Announcement
on Continuing the Enterprise Income Tax Policy for the
Development of the Western Region” ([2020] No. 23) issued by
the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation, the
National Development and Reform Commission.

Under the relevant PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and
respective regulations, except for the preferential treatments
available to certain subsidiaries as mentioned above, other
subsidiaries within the Group were subject to corporate income
tax at the statutory rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands.

RE(FEARKMBEECEMEHEE
e AR BI) - FE o B A 32 3 7 205 7K BRI
HREZNAROIMBARESERBEE
EEEARZRGENEEFERRARE
R=FRBREE=FRENREER
([ZR=ZRFHBEER] -RFER Z
FMBRARICAREREX=Z2RFM
HKREALESHERASBNHBEKEA
BB RE= = RFRBES -

RAE AP B A AR B R 75 48 Bl SR AR - AR
RAETHBRARZAMESREA LA
% BREBNZERRARKRESLEH
SBHMAERE-ZALE ZHIHER
TEMEREE: R/ RQZELFR
HR B P P SR A [ A TS ARIBES K
M BERHERR BERERMKEZ
BEeEMmN(ENTEERDARBLE
FT8 BB B9 2 55 ) ([2020] 235%) 1A 45
THEREERZERIS%ERLEMRS
R o

REAEB(FEARKMBE L ERSHR
) RABRER - By Lt E THE LA
EREEFEI  AEEANEMNE
REALR25%HEE R RN EEMF
i o

RERSHENEBRELESNARA R
R ARBERSHEE NEBR LR
SBABMERAER
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31 December 2024

10.

— =

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

—EoNFE+=

A=+—H

10. FAIEHBAX @)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the PO 7R 5 B 6 (0 A AE BB B AR SRR
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong FERTLE A - S MEHR BB FEHE
Kong during the year. 1o
2024 2023
—Z-ME —F=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Current N &A
— Mainland China — B R 37,414 44,749
Deferred PRI 27,948 58,977
Total tax charge for the year FABIA X HARTE 65,362 103,726

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit

before tax at the statutory tax rate for the country in which the

Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/

or operate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a

BARBREKRE DM B R AERR
R,/ S8 EFIEBREEE R K E
BREAEFBEANRERS(He)H
E,\ %/E['J—v—u #W%RIES‘ﬁiiTEE LA K2

reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to BARE (BDEEHR) BERT R H
the effective tax rate, are as follows: R0
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBTR ARBFT

Profit before tax BR % A A 236,243 233,954
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEREFENTIE 59,061 25.0 58,489 25.0
Lower tax rates for specific provinces & D3 E BT # B

or enacted by local authority RAHHBER = (15,617) (6.5) (10,702) (4.5)
Expenses not deductible for tax B iEh 3,750 1.6 2,616 1.1
Tax losses not recognised AERRBER 39,670 16.8 45,442 194
Tax losses utilised from previous ERBTRRANTEERE

periods (28,028) (11.9) (8,205) (3.5)
Reversal of tax losses recognised B SRR RS

in previous periods BREER 6,004 2.5 17,179 7.3
Profits and losses attributable to joint & & % K & A ]

ventures and associates FElh1Ba 522 0.2 (1,093) (0.5)
Tax charge at the Group's effective ~ EAKEERHEHEM

rate RBX 65,362 21.7 103,726 4.3
The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures DEBERRIREEEERAENRIEBEAEA
amounting to negative RMB306,000 (2023: negative RMB412,000) R#306,00 T (ZE-_=F: AARH

is included in “Share of profits and losses of associates”

and

“Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” in profit or loss.

412,00070) REZ AW [ D (58 & Q7]

Bam M HEALEEFEERIHIAR -
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 11.

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 2,139,735,000 (2023: 2,139,735,000) outstanding during
the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, as used in the basic earnings per
share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

BRaEBEREEAREN
BREF
ERERBANSBEDIERFRAGA AT
BREIFEAEBMENEFRNDEITYE
A% 2 nAE T 15 £2,139,735,000 5% (=
T~ =4 :2,139,735000 %) 5+ & -

BEREERNEBEDREG AR EEE
B A ARGFERENE - st ERA
RANEARINEFABRR/ARFEERT
MEBRRE  MRFESRELEF
REANBERR - AW REE BB INE
FHHRE R ETEE L BBRRRS
ETEXBRSERER MRTREH
1T

BREAREERNITIERIA TSR

based on: (=i
2024 2023
—E-E —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®TTT
Earnings: B
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ARG EERERREE R
holders of the parent, used in the BRAIERERFEAA
basic and diluted earnings per share JEAE 4 A
calculations 167,998 124,753
Number of shares
R & B
2024 2023
—E-NE —T==
Shares: 87
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG ESRERNRE SR N
shares outstanding during the year used ~ F RN E 277 LR
in the basic and diluted earnings per InHE 5 8
share calculation 2,139,735,000 2,139,735,000
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
31 December 2024

12. )% - BERRE
—E-_WmFE+=A=+—H

178

Buildings Office
and other equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery ~ and others in progress Total
BFREM BORE
EfRiE HeR REM ERIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETrn AR¥Trn ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2024: RZZ-MF-A—-H:
Cost KA 85,866 22,669 37,509 725 146,769
Accumulated depreciation ZEHERAE
and impairment (40,042) (20,453) (32,896) - (93,391)
Net carrying amount FRERE 45,824 2,216 4,613 725 53,378
At 1 January 2024, net of RZE-_mE-A—-R"
accumulated depreciation MR 25 E RAlfE
and impairment 45,824 2,216 4,613 725 53,378
Additions wE - 8 886 - 889
Disposals HE (232) (132) = - (364)
Depreciation provided FRTERE
during the year (3,427) (881) 913) - (5,221)
At 31 December 2024, net of RZZ-_ME+-A=+-H"
accumulated depreciation MR 2T ERAE
and impairment 42,165 1,206 4,586 725 48,682
At 31 December 2024: RZZZEF+ZA=+-H:
Cost KA 85,634 22,540 38,395 725 147,294
Accumulated depreciation R ERRE
and impairment (43,469) (21,334) (33,809) - (98,612)
Net carrying amount EmFE 42,165 1,206 4,586 725 48,682
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31 December2024 —Z U+ _-HF=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ¥ - BERRE @
(Continued)
31 December 2023 —E_=f+-_HA=+—H
Buildings Office
and other equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery and others in progress Total
BTRAM HYN- S
HIER s REf ERIRE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR%TT AR%Tn ARBTn
At 1 January 2023: RZZ_=%-f—H:
Cost KA 85,866 23,000 37,048 725 146,639
Accumulated depreciation ZEHERAE
and impairment (36,611) (19.491) (31,531) - (87,633)
Net carrying amount FmFE 49,255 3,509 5,517 725 59,006
At 1 January 2023, net of RZEZ=f-A-H"
accumulated depreciation M 2 E RAE
and impairment 49,255 3,509 5517 725 59,006
Additions NE - - 710 = 710
Disposals & - (331) (249) = (580)
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year (3,431) (962) (1,365) = (5,758)
At 31 December 2023, net of WZE-_=F+-A=+—8"
accumulated depreciation MR 25 E RfE
and impairment 45,824 2,216 4613 725 53,378
At 31 December 2023: W_E-_=F+-A=+—AR:
Cost KA 85,866 22,669 37,509 725 146,769
Accumulated depreciation ZEHMERRE
and impairment (40,042) (20,453) (32,896) - (93,391)
Net carrying amount EmFE 45,824 2.216 4613 725 53,378
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31 December 2024

12.

13.

—E-MF+=A=+—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's buildings with
a net carrying amount of approximately RMB8,138,000 (2023:
RMB9,965,000) were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 28). As
the payments of the land use rights for the buildings cannot be
separated reliably from the payments for the purchase of office
buildings, the entire payments are included in the costs of the
relevant buildings.

Certain infrastructure with a net carrying amount as at 31
December 2024 of approximately RMB8,698,000 (2023:
RMB9,433,000) is situated on a piece of land which is legally
owned by the non-controlling shareholder of Jilin Kangda
Environmental Protection Company Limited (“Jilin Kangda”), a
subsidiary of the Group. The subsidiary is contractually authorised
to use the land without charge throughout its operating period.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain land properties and office properties
under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 to 16 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

12.

13.

M- BERSZE@®

R-E-_WNE+—-_A=+—H ' £x58
BREFELNABAREKS138000T (=ZF
—=4F: AR¥99650007T) M) & T2
FEEBERTAEBEE T ERITK
H A fE AR (H5E28) - AR L H(E
AN RE LA S tEE R ETF
B R o BE - B2 B SRET A FE R AE
FRA o

R-ZE-_WE+_-_A=+—H E®EF
BEHABANRES 698000 (ZE-=4:
AR #9,433,0007T) B9 & T EME R EY
IR HRAE BB QR & MR ERRFR
ERAE ([EMEE]) BIEZEREERES
EHEAN L - ZWBRARES
DRENEEEL R EBERZ LML -

HE

REBEREEA
AEBERBEEHERHHEES T L0
MER{AME  BEBEHRNF —
EFRF—KME - NEBERR G
HEEEERM DA TAKERINGR
") o

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AREBRFRNNEREEENR
and the movements during the year are as follows: mERESESMT
Land Office Total
tH  BAE a3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT AREFTT
As at 1 January 2023 RZZE_=%F—F—H 1,312 123 1,435
Additions NE — 2,023 2,023
Depreciation charge ERX (96) (1,076) (1,172)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-ZZE—=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—8xk
—T-NE—-HA—H 1,216 1,070 2,286
Additions NE - 520 520
Depreciation charge FEMX (96) (973) (1,069)
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZM4F
+=-—A=+—H 1,120 617 1,737
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31 December 2024

13. LEASES (Continued)

—E-MF+=A=+—H

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

13.

HE @

REBER/EBEA(E)

(b) HEEME

RER HEAB(EEHER

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the TREMER) MEREEREEN
movements during the year are as follows: N
2024 2023
—EOF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B®EREEA 2,616 1,974
New leases MEE 520 2,023
Accretion of interest recognised F A HER B A 2 AE N
during the year 85 156
Payments (BN (1,273) (1,537)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—AMNKREA 1,948 2,616
Analysed into: DT
Current portion EVEREE 5 427 1,113
Non-current portion JEBNERER 2 1,521 1,503

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
39 to the financial statements.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

HERBNIMOMRYHEHEER

B FE 39 B FE o

() REHEAEMERTRERINS

leases are as follows: BT

2024 2023
—EC-WF —E-=fF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARBT T

Depreciation charge of TREEENERX
right-of-use assets 1,069 1,172
Expense relating to short-term leases £33 BT EAHRA M & A 325 389
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGNE 85 156

Total amount recognised in profit RERERNESEE
or loss 1,479 1,717

(d HENRARLAERENMB

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c) to
the financial statements.

AP 32(c) ©
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31 December 2024

13.

14.

—E-NFE+=_A=+—H

LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties consisting of five
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according
to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income less
depreciation of investment properties recognised by the Group
during the year was RMB619,000 (2023: RMB1,274,000), details of
which are included in notes 5 and 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable

13. HE®)

AEBEERAHBA
AEBRBEKLEHELTHBAEERE
mME(BERLERAME) - a"ﬁiﬂym
BPERHARPINRES  WIREE
MEAMIERBAEERSE - K%IE
NERNEHSBRARIEEMERES
AR619000 (ZE_=F : ARK
1,274,0007T) @ HFFB5E R 53R K M
FFE5M&6 0

R-ZE-_WNE+_A=+—"H A&EH
EHEEPIT VAT A HEEEHETH

operating leases with its tenants are as follows: ARHAEEYCRREIREERBNAT ¢
2024 2023
—ECOMF ===
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Within one year —FR 1,031 1,291
After one year but within two years —FRIEMFR 456 1,025
After two years but within three years MERE=FR 469 456
After three years but within four years =FRENFRA 483 469
After four years but within five years MEZRBERFER - 483
Total st 2,439 3,724

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 14. RBEE A RNRE

2024 2023
“ECAF ZE-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T
Share of net assets DIFREE 224,557 224,136
Goodwill on acquisition W Ry R A 10,441 10,441
Total mEt 234,998 234,577

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 14. REEE R TIRE ()

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

BRABERBMFBOT

Percentage of
equity interest
Place of registration Issued and fully attributable to
Company name and operation paid-up capital the Group  Principal activities
KEEERS

NRER BRREXLY BRTRARRE RERSL FTEEH

Jiangsu Eastern Biological Sludge PRC/Mainland China RMB35,000,000 49 Treatment of sludge in rivers
Treatment Engineering Co., Ltd. and lakes
("Eastern Sludge Treatment”)

(IR ERERTIRERAR)

IHERAEEBRIRERAR e/ hE R AR 3500000070 ER R HET SRS
(TRAELER])

Fuzhou Fuhe River Investment & PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 24 Investment, construction,
Development Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou Fuhe") operation and management
(BNTEREREREERAA) of municipal projects

TR REREARAT e/ ER AR 300,000,007 RE BR EBER
(T ) ERMHER

Sichuan Kangda Zhonghuan Municipal PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 30 Design and consulting of
Engineering Design Co., Ltd. construction projects
("Sichuan Zhonghuan")

(B FER TR IR AR AR

Ml RERRTR IR &R E /AN AR 5,000,000 7T =BV EEGIEE
ARAR(TE)IHRE])

Leping Hehu Ecological Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 44 Construction, operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. (“Leping Hehu") management of environment
(ST s EREREERAR) protection and infrastructure

projects

SYmIREERBREERAT E/hEN AR 50,000,007 Bk BEREERRR
(E S20):1) ERRinEH

# The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent Ay A FE R B A0 T A 2 ) 36 R A1 2 3T

management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of the companies

registered in Mainland China, as no English names have been registered.

B ARERBOZEARRAXEEDE
BEEENBEETXERMAE -
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 14. REEE R TIRE (8

The percentages of voting power held and profit sharing are the
same as the percentages of equity interest attributable to the
Group. The Group's shareholdings in the associates comprise
equity shares held through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of some investments in associates, which
are individually material, reconciled to their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements:

FBREEMENDEH A DL RARE
BEEH IR B D LR - NEBERE
ERANEEBEARRZENB AR
AR -

TRUARDE @R EAREE QA
MR B B A BB HRR P A EREEY
BROMBERME

2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
Fuzhou Leping Fuzhou Leping
Fuhe Hehu Fuhe Hehu
N 45T L4550 4 YR A L4750

RMB’000

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000

ARSTR AR®TRT AR®TT AR®ETRT

Current assets MENE E 383,241 27,129 295,195 30,143
Non-current assets EmENE E 1,814,094 284,154 1,960,343 264,077
Current liabilities VEAR=RE (434,923) (13,016) (420,430) (918)
Non-current liabilities ERBDEE (1,130,918)  (181,885)  (1,203,571) (176,921)
Net assets BESE 631,494 116,382 631,537 116,381
Reconciliation to the Group's A& E R & A &

interests in the associates: 7 MY ET R -
Proportion of the Group's RNEER A LA

ownership 24% 44% 24% 44%
Group's share of net assets REBE D (GHE AT

of the associates FEE 151,559 51,208 151,569 51,208
Carrying amount KREREE

of the investments 151,559 51,208 151,569 51,208
Revenue g 85,300 - 14,891 =
Profit for the year F A5 K (42) = 138 =
Total comprehensive income & A2 Wz AR

from the year (42) - 138 =
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31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

14.

REBEQNTNERE @)
TEIIRALIEEREAMAE MBS A

15.

of the Group's associates that are not individually material: ARG PRI E R
2024 2023
—E-EF —EZ=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®TTT
Share of the associates’ profit for the year {7 B & 2 5 F A i1 5l 1,069 4,666
Share of the associates’ total DINEE AR 2 E WA
comprehensive income 1,069 4,666
Aggregate carrying amount of the REERBERRRERN
Group's investments in the associates BEEAE 32,231 31,800
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 15. REELENRE
2024 2023
—E-EF —EZ=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®TTT
Share of net assets DIFEE 74,945 78,091
Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: BHAEhENFHBET
Percentage of
Issued and  equity interest
Place of registration fully paid-up attributable to
Company name and operation capital the Group Principal activities
AEEEE

NEERB BRREREH ERTRBZRE REBSL FEEK

Zibo Tiangiyuan Water Supply Co., Ltd. PRC/ Mainland China RMBS5,190,000 49 Central water supply
("Tiangiyuan”)

(HETAREREKERAR)

HBHARZE R K HE/ R ERN AR 5,190,00070 PSYN
BRAR(TREM])

Gaomi Kangrui Environmental PRC/ Mainland China RMB28,000,000 50 Sale and maintenance
Protection Technology Co., Ltd. of environmental
("Gaomi Kangrui”) protection equipment
(BETERRRHRARAR)

BEDERRRR /B A AR HERRE
BRAR ([R%ERR]) 28,000,0007T RIR&RBE

#

The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent
management'’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the companies
registered in Chinese Mainland, as no English names have been registered.

£ F P E R B P 3 R A A % ) S R A 3
B ARERBNOZE AR KX EEE
BEENBEEPXERARE -
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31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) ~ 15. EAA%/JP_*E'J?xﬁ(F

The above investments are held through wholly-owned MIRETERA R B2 EME R A
subsidiaries of the Company. ﬁ o
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TRINRIEFERERNREES
of the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material: FHAHTEER :
2024 2023
—E-QmE —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AR®ETT

Share of the joint ventures’ loss DIEEETLEFAEBRE
for the year (3,146) (328)
Share of the joint ventures’ total DB EPRTE WS LT
comprehensive income (3,146) (328)
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEEREELERER
Group's investments in the joint ventures  FREIAE{E 74,945 78,091
16. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 6. EEARAFEFAHME
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HURENRERE
INCOME
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Equity investments designated at fair value {57 E Bz A FET AL MEE
through other comprehensive income Y g ) AR HE IR B

Unlisted equity investments, at fair value ~ FE_EMRIEIRE - HATE 399,000 347,000
During the year, the gain, net of tax, in respect of the Group's REAN - REMEEKRZERNHEREE
equity investments in Zhongyuan Asset Management Co., RPREEEEBRATNKRERED
Ltd. recognised in other comprehensive income amounted gk (MR IE) 23 A K% 44,200,000 7T
to RMB44,200,000 (2023: loss in other comprehensive income —EC—F HMEARENEEAR
amounted to RMB13,600,000). AR #13,600,0007T) °
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17. SERVICE CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B &E&E — BT RK&EE

2024 2023
—E_NE —=—=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated RN—A—BBAK
amortisation bR 25T #E 1,376,539 1,436,965
Additions NE 268,181 26,818
Amortisation provided during the year FAFHREH (118,958) (87,244)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 1,525,762 1,376,539
At 31 December: R+-—A=+—8:
Cost B 2,034,017 1,765,836
Accumulated amortisation BT (508,255) (389,297)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,525,762 1,376,539

R-E-_WE+=-_A=+—H K&
BERTEE AR 1,106,152,0007T (==

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's service concession

intangible assets with a carrying value of RMB1,106,152,000 (2023:

RMB1,254,846,000) were pledged to secure certain interest- — =4 AR¥1,254,846,0007T) K £

bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note WEE — FHAKERDCERERTA

28). SEE Tt BRIT R EH A B AR (Bt
5528) °
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

18. GOODWILL 18. BHE&

Cash-generating units
BEELEEN
Manufacture of
Waste water  chemicals for

treatment waste water
plant treatment Total
EEFKEER
KRR FrR{EEm et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETF T ARET T ARBTT
2023 —T-=F
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of RZE-_=F—HF—HH®
accumulated impairment KA TD[@E%%?@ZTE 58,325 - 58,325
Cost and net carrying amountat M Z=ZE = =4
31 December 2023 TZA=+—H®
RS B BR EDFHE 58,325 - 58,325
At 31 December 2023: R-_ZFE_=%
+ZA=+—8:
Cost DN 58,325 1,894 60,219
Accumulated impairment 23 RE - (1,894) (1,894)
Net carrying amount BRI FE 58,325 = 58,325
2024 —F-olEF
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of R-ZE-_WF—H—HBH
accumulated impairment A - bR REHRVE 58,325 - 58,325
Impairment during the year FARRE (41,155) - (41,155)
Cost and net carrying amount at 7 = Z — P44
31 December 2024 T-A=1+—AK
X7 % BR EDFHE 17,170 - 17,170
At 31 December 2024: RZEZMF
+ZA=+—8:
Cost (DN 58,325 1,894 60,219
Accumulated impairment Z2FTRE (41,155) (1,894) (43,049)
Net carrying amount BREHE 17,170 - 17,170
Impairment testing of goodwill 7 2 B A B
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been FREBEHKBOREEHIERS
allocated to the cash-generating units of “waste water treatment IKERIRR ] B [ B /KR IR FT b 2
plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for waste water ReEEBEMERERR -
treatment” for impairment testing.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units of “waste [EKEER] R[4 ER KRR
water treatment plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for BR|ReELSEMNYKESEDR
waste water treatment” have been determined based on a B AS RER EHERNBER AR
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on ?%%EAFHHWEQ@?E‘JZ%WTJ?E’Uﬁi?ﬁﬁﬁ
financial forecasts approved by senior management covering the AAENEREEEE - fﬁ%mi]’ﬁiﬂ
remaining service concession periods. The pre-tax discount rate fE AR AR ERIIBR (ZE_=
applied to the cash flow projections is 9.33% (2023: 9.33%). F:9.33%) °
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18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. %ﬁi =)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the “waste water treatment plant” and “the manufacture of
chemicals for waste water treatment” cash-generating units for 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Price inflation — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to price inflation is the forecast price indices during the budget
year for the relevant markets.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of waste water treatment plant and the manufacture
of chemicals for waste water treatment, discount rates and price
inflation are consistent with external information sources.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, for“waste water
treatment plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for waste
water treatment” cash-generating units, a reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions of the cash flow projections would
cause their carrying amount exceed their recoverable amounts.
If the discount rate increased or decreased by 1% from 7%, the
impairment loss would increase by RMB1,045,000 or decrease by
RMB1,054,000, respectively, during the year ended 31 December
2024.

AR AR ()
AE—_FE_NE+ _A=+—BR=-F
CEFTZA=T—RIEKEERER] R
(EESKEERACEmI REELE
HEREERDERRRK - T XHl
TEEERBEERCRERAILETHE
R (BRI 5 O & TR B 82 R AR

HEENE —BEANEKETREEMNX
MEEMRANEERERREFER
—FAMBERWFYENE - HRBEH
B RR LR T e TR RO T 45 3 R T B P 45
e

BB FE — PRI R RN
RERE BB R E R -

FrEiIE - I

EEk —RAREESE TERBIR
BENEESEEMENBEFENTE
BIERIEE -

7 B T 5 7K e 38 R Ko A B V5 7K B 3R P R
fEEmimInER  BRERRERRD
MERRREEIRER KR -

ARREZRE  HR[EKEERK] &
[EESKEEMALCERIBCELS
fi - fﬁﬁméﬁ AERBREELES
BA e EE) RIS EREEERA
TM&Z@%%E REE-ZFT-_WE+_—A
=+—HLEFE WEER7% EFH
BT MR1%  REBBESEINAR
1,045,000 7T 2 78 2 A R # 1,054,000
==
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19. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES 19. &R EWFIE

2024 2023

—E-NEF —F-=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFIT

Receivables under service BR 76 4 BT 48 & 2 HE

concession arrangements &Y FIE 11,677,750 11,595,265
Impairment A (3,769) (3,015)
Net carrying amount BREHE 11,673,981 11,592,250
Portion classified as current assets DERRBEERD (2,041,985) (2,079,291)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7> 9,631,996 9,512,959

Receivables for service concession arrangements arose from
the service concession contracts to build and operate WTPs or
STPs and were recognised to the extent that the Group has an
unconditional contractual right to receive cash from or at the
direction of the Grantor.

Financial receivables were unbilled receivables mainly due from
governmental authorities in Mainland China , as the Grantors in
respect of the Group's service concession arrangements. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. Financial receivables represent
contract assets as the rights to considerations have yet to be
unconditional.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
receivables are as follows:

RGBT REELHRYHRELBER
K38 257K B T R )5 e B B R ) AR 75
RFQERH  URAKREREA B G
BHEN AR T ARERE T ARIERK
BUIR & B HERR o

TREREFIBESRAREBURNE 2
REW B A EENRIE - A8
BT # R /AN 5 [ IR A5 1 AT AR 2 R R
BTN ARBYEMRZSFEHRFTALT
AEMEEMEERTER - S/R/E
WHRIREEANEE  REZWIRER
FE R 1) AR AS B AGRAE -

SRS REBRBEEZESHNT

2024 2023

—E-MF —T-_=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARET T

At beginning of year R E A 3,015 2,186
Impairment losses A A 46,608 829
Transfer to assets held for sale HREREFENEE (45,854) -
At end of year RER 3,769 3,015

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

19. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. & REWTIE &)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix. The provision matrix is initially based
on the probabilities of default rates which are estimated based
on historical observed default rates and published credit ratings
of credit bonds issued in Mainland China . The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome,and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forward-looking credit
risk information.

The increase in the loss allowance was mainly due to the increase
in the gross carrying amount of financial receivables.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's financial receivables:

WMED TN EHRE B RRA R GRS
T - BEEEDRIREBEEROXR
FEARBEEITEEEFNEAMEER
AREERROBESE - KT ERR
BERNEGER RN RE B AR SNARE
BESFE - BRI AT EEERR
BERMEERAIEER -

BRI 0= B R N & Bl R WA
FREAREIBANFTER ©

EBAEESBEKTENEERRE
HEFIIMT

2024 2023

—E-NF —FT-=%F

Expected credit loss rate RHEEREX 0.0323% 0.0260%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEMARE(AREFIT) 11,677,750 11,595,265
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEERER(ARETIT) 3,769 3,015

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's financial receivables with
a carrying value of RMB7,238,507,000 (2023: RMB7,957,461,000)
were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

R-ZZE-_WE+-_A=+—8H A&
BREE A R #7,238,507,0007C (=&
— =4 AR®7,957,461,00070) B9 &
RN IE D EIRER TARS BE T &
BRTT R E M E KA LR (FFsE28) o
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20. DEFERRED TAX 20. EAEHIH
The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group, AEEAEEBRANBEEREEERE
and the movements thereon, during the year are as follows: EAREZHNT :
31 December 2024 —E-MNE+=A=+—H
Transaction
costs for
Service interest- One-off
concession bearing bank deduction Right-of-use
arrangements borrowings  of machinery assets Total
iERT
FR 545 3% R HEH
gezy RAHRA — RN RRAEEE by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET R ARETT ARETR ARET R
Deferred tax liabilities BEREAR
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+ZA=1+-A (1,150,983) (7,709) (319) (480) (1,159,491)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to AR B (H1%),/
profit or loss during the year FTARBEIERIA (36,265) 3,940 (109) 46 (32,388)
Deferred tax transfer to assets held  BEZRAFERNEE
for sale REERA 11,503 - - - 11,503
At 31 December 2024 R-B_ME
+=A=1+-A (1,175,745) (3.769) (428) (434) (1,180,376)
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31 December 2024

mE+=-_A=+—H

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

20. EFEFIE (48)

Fair value
adjustments of
the equity
investments
designated at
Losses available fair value
Impairment of ~ for offsetting  through other
financial and ~ against future  comprehensive Lease
contract assets  taxable profits income liabilities Other Total
EER
BRAFETA
TRREE  Ht2EUR
ERREH RRERH NEERE
BERE  EAOER AVERR HEER B Azt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT AE®TR  ARMTR AEBTR
Deferred tax assets ERHREE
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-A=1-H 17,160 29 23,550 560 181 84,362
Deferred tax debited to equity ERRERNRMETHE
during the year - - (7,800) - - (7,800)
Deferred tax credited/(charged)to ~ ERRERF A/ (k) &
profit or loss during the year EHE 12,986 (8,458) - (72) (16) 4,440
At31 December 2024 R-2-mE+-A=+-A 30,146 34,453 15,750 488 165 81,002
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. IEFEHIE (50
31 December 2023 ZE=F+ZA=+—H
Transaction
costs for
Service interest- One-off
concession  bearing bank deduction Right-of-use
arrangements borrowings of machinery assets Total
sHRERIT
TR rar B B
BEZH RHHA — R FRESE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AREER
Deferred tax liabilities BREREER
At 31 December 2022 RZIZZZF
+=ZA=+-H (1,081,187) (12132) (291) - (1,093,610)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to  FRAMEH (k)
profit o loss during the year SEARBIERE (69,79¢) 4423 (28) (480) (65,881)
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=%
+ZA=1+—A (1,150,983) (7,709) (319) (480) (1,159,491)
Fair value
adjustments of
the equity
investments
designated at
Losses available fair value
Impairmentof ~ foroffsetting ~~ through other
financial and ~ againstfuture  comprehensive Lease
contract assets  taxable profits income ligbilities Other Total
EER
BATEA
TRARER  At2ERE
SRRAN  AKERH  WRERE
AEHE  EMOER  AVESER BERE Eft h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR
Deferred tax assets EithimaE
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZETZA=T-R 9217 44,494 21150 - 197 75058
Deferred tax credited toequity ~ FRRERFT AELHE
during the year = = 2,400 = = 2,400
Deferred tax credited/(charged)to ~ FWHRBERFA/(1k)#
profit or loss during the year A 7943 (1,583) - 560 (16 6,904
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=E+ZA=1-H 17,160 2 23550 50 181 84,362
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

21.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB198,526,000 (2023: RMB224,608,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is
5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China . In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately RMB3,916,871,000 at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB3,745,349,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

20. EFEFIE (48)

NEBREFBRAMELFHEBEAR
#198,526,000C (ZE-—=4F: AR
224,608,0007C) * KR —ZERFAEW
ARIEHE AR ERFEF -

REBERZEEFRRAKZMBEA
AMEZEENF-—A—BHREANA
FIFT D R IR BAATENE - AEBEH
BREEXA5%510% °

R-_ZE-_WNE+_A=+—H8 &R
N EE B FA AR B R it AR ST D B BB A BB B
MTEE AR IE L & F e By TE 0 B A
REMELEHE EZRE ZEWEB
NERAI TR RRKINAEDIREBEA
FMe-R—ZZE-_WMF+=-_A=+—H &
R R B A R I E B B E R
ZRERE(MARNERECHRER®E)
Bt B ARE3916,871,0007T (Z =
T =4 : ANR¥3,745,349,0007T) °

7R ) i) B s SRR A+ P B S 48 B 75 A 4]
FIBHEE -

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWFIE
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Trade receivables 2 5 e ERIE 3,299,208 2,918,555
Impairment A (129,520) (110,042)
Net carrying amount BREFAE 3,169,688 2,808,513

The Group's major customers are the PRC government
authorities or agencies. The Group not only provides construction
service and operation service pursuant to its service concession
arrangements, but also provides construction service under other
construction service projects.

Trade receivables represent the unsettled amounts being billed
to the customers in accordance with the terms specified in the
contracts governing the relevant transactions. The Group does
not have a standardised and universal credit period granted
to the construction service customers. The credit period for
individual customers of construction service is considered on a
case-by-case basis. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEENEEREFSTEBFHERN
B ARETERBEERBFHEER
PR R B L RTS - IRER
R RIRFHE THEZRRT

BHREFEERBERERBRIZNA
#IFT 5] B B 165K T B MR 2 B O R 4808 K
He AREEYEAZRRETFELR
—RENERY - ERERRBELH
ERMTZEREEEE - B 5 R
HER °
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from
the Group's associates of RMB99,297,000 (2023: RMB108,664,000),
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to
the major customers of the Group.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's trade receivables with a
carrying value of RMB1,444,439,000 (2023: RMB1,181,567,000)
were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables as at the end

21.
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

EZENRE

K IE (48)

$EIE’JT£%F’EH%AI§ BREERAEHE

Bk A% N ]
HFE‘./L\

B AR 99,297,000 7T (
= f_i A R #108,664,0007T) °

%

”’“?XIE&ZK% Iﬁix%}fhf FRE L

1 §1 FE

R-ZZE-_WE+-_A=+—H 4&&
] BR [ E A R #1,444,439,000 T (=&
—=F: AR¥1,181,567,0007T) B &

2 MR

HEEMER TAKEE T

BERTT R E MR ER (FHRE28) ©

RE|EHIR - RIEH

HEEHRMERER

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss %ﬁ@: AEENE HEKFIAN KRR
allowance, is as follows: i U

2024 2023
—EC-IF —F-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Within 3 months 3E AR 530,805 531,465
4 to 6 months 4Z 618 A 428,710 388,458
7 to 12 months Z£12@A 585,175 460,962
Over 12 months BiE12{1E A 1,624,998 1,427,628
Total A5t 3,169,688 2,808,513

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B 5 RESRRREBRREEZSNT

2024 2023

—E-EF ZEZ=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBT T

At beginning of the year REA 110,042 79,396
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEE 5 (iEs) 19,478 30,646
At end of the year RER 129,520 110,042
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31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

21. EZEWRFE &)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

RERE B RRABEREETRED
o R ERHEEER - BEXDHE
REABEUEBEREN (BitR  EmR
Bl - B PRI M ARIARE BB R EAM
FEERBREANFRELE WEEXP
DEBAA IR B B BEE - Kt ERR
IARRMESER  EEBREEENR
SEMAGHERBESEEHE  E/iR
RARKEBEARTBRN SR LA EER -

TR EREABBERENAREE
SRR EE R BRI E R

R-B-_WE+=-A=+—H

Within 4106 7 to 12 Over 12
3 months months months months Total
B
AR 4Z6f@A 7Z2121@A 1218 A8 &&t
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEHA{E B fE 1B X 0.98% 1.16% 1.59% 6.33% 3.93%
Gross carrying amount FAREE
(RMB’000) (AR®TFTT) 536,078 433,744 594,654 1,734,732 3,299,208
Expected credit losses TEEE B EE
(RMB’000) (AR¥TT) 5,273 5,034 9,479 109,734 129,520
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=RA=+—8H
Within 4to b 7to 12 Over 12
3 months months months months Total
tBiE
3EAR 4=6EA 7E12{EA 121E A A&t
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEHIE EE 1B =R 0.69% 0.91% 1.36% 6.33% 3.77%
Gross carrying amount HBEREE
(RMB’000) (AR®TFTT) 535,163 392,008 467,319 1,524,065 2,918,555
Expected credit losses FEHEEEE
(RMB'000) (AR¥TT) 3,698 3,550 6,358 96,436 110,042
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31 December2024 —Z—PUFE+_-HF=+—H

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

22. AR - Htb EWFRERE

OTHER ASSETS &=
2024 2023
—E-MEF T =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Loans to third parties BFE=ZFHER 181,151 183,500
Deductible input VAT ARG E R T IE 131,036 134,996
Loans to a joint venture and an associate  f§ F—HAEER
—KEE R AINER 45,950 42,859
Deposits e 33,785 40,961
Prepayments TE A RIB 20,689 27,440
Staff advances 8 T a5 2,953 3,310
Other receivables H b W GRIE 408,413 533,737
823,977 966,803
Impairment allowance Ve RIEREL:] (44,590) (37,786)
Total #5t 779,387 929,017
Portion classified as current assets NEAERBEENI D (760,656) (903,826)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 18,731 25,191
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31 December 2024 —ZE-ME+-F=+—H
22. A FIE -

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND HMEWFERRE

OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

& E (&)
H b, M 2K I8 R (B A S 1B R e B
—|T:

2024 2023

—E-NF ZEZ=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARET T

At beginning of the year R F ) 37,786 35,209
Impairment losses EEE 6,804 2,593
Amount written off as uncollectible & £ IR ] 1 4% 35 B & B8 - (16)
At end of the year RER 44,590 37,786

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. As at 31 December 2024, the
probability of default applied ranged from 1.16% to 20.00% (2023:
1.83% to 15.47%) and the loss given default was estimated to be
100% (2023:100%). Included in the above provision for impairment
of other receivables is a provision for individually impaired other
receivables of RMB44,590,000 (2023: RMB 37,786,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB563,662,000 (2023:
RMB557,483,000).

Apart from described above, the financial assets included in
the above balances relate to receivables for which there was
no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

BEMTREREBHERERER
EEAMEEFANITELRAD T
WEAMERET R-_ET-_mWEFE+—
A=+—H FEAMNEHNBENT
1.16% % 20.00% (=T = =4 : 1.83%
F1547%)  r MBHABREMEFT A
100% (— & — =4 : 100% ) ° t i &
EWFERRERERERBEA
R#44,590,000 T (ZTE=-=%: AR
& 37,786,000 70) K fE 51| B 5 B £ fth fE
WHE (RMERBEINEAEAAR
563,662,000 (ZE - =4F: ARK
557,483,000 7T ) ) Fr{EHY B4 ©

Br EaltzEoh - 51 Al FE UL SRIE AE R A5
BHECMEEMIBTEERLHERK
BHRB RZEZNFR_T ==
+=—A=+—8  BEEFHTIHEEERE -
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

23. CONTRACT ASSETS

23. BHEE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—E_ME —E =

t=A=+-8 t-A=+-~8

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Contract assets arising from: LATIEEFMEENELD

Construction services R AR 546,557 1,255,667
Impairment A (770) (671)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 545,787 1,254,996
Portion classified as current assets DHEARSEEI D (53,057) (77,629)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 492,730 1,177,367

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from construction services as the receipt of consideration is
conditional on successful completion of construction. Included in
contract assets for construction services are retention receivables.
Upon completion of installation or construction and acceptance
by the customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to intangible assets and contract assets included
in financial receivables under service concession arrangements
and operating concession for BOT arrangements and trade
receivables for other construction contracts when the rights to
considerations are unconditional. The decrease in contract assets
in 2024 was the result of the completion of construction services.

EEB’WHE/,\%L RECI IR T 1% 75 AT Uk
B KB E S PR R IR AT IR IR
iﬁ%u%ﬂﬁ%’é‘” cEBRBAKWE

ERRERERES HEEMNLEKER

VTEEFEMNEL ERARBHNEENST

BMEMOIBEEETEE EREENR
BHRE AHEERRERBEESE

KT?FIETiPﬁJEW RIE K BOT L HEHViE

Mﬁ:ﬂéu&ﬁﬁﬂ%“’%ﬁm 2 5 e
REZH -R-_B_MFEANEERD

J'ﬂ% RARTEFERFTER
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 23. BHEE W)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract EHEERBEEBERBEISHOT
assets are as follows:

2024 2023
—2-mEF —ZT-=%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®TTT
At beginning of the year REH] 671 818
Impairment losses, net (note 6) B & R EE (st 6) 99 (147)
At end of the year RER 770 671

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
the probability of default approach to measure expected credit
losses. The probabilities of default rates are estimated based
on default rates and published credit ratings of credit bonds
issued in Mainland China. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forward-looking credit
risk information.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's contract assets:

BESTREHRSE A BRBEORET
FET U EEMEEEE - ZOM
RNRBROXEPEAMBEETEE
BEHFNERMEENFRMET - KT ER
RERMESER SEEBREEEINR
SEMASHERBESEEHE /R
EAEEEERREHNEERAEE
£t o

BRAASESHNEENEERRENS
BN

2024 2023

—E-NF —E=F

Expected credit loss rate EHEEREX 0.14% 0.05%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEEARE(AREFIT) 546,557 1,255,667
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FEHEEER(ARET T 770 671

At 31 December 2024, the Group's contract assets with a carrying
value of RMB70,277,000 (2023: RMB12,590,000) were pledged
to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

Included in the Group’s contract assets are amounts due from
the Group's associates of RMB39,442,000 (2023: RMB38,928,000),
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to
the major customers of the Group.

R-EBE-_NE+—-_A=+—0 ' K&£H
IRMEEARE70,277,0000 (Z 2 ==
F: AR¥12,590,0007C) EHEER
ERER TAREE S T 2 RITREAM
B ELR (F15E28) °

AEBNENEERRRIRAS B
NAEIFIEAREE39442000L (—E ==
£ AR#¥38,928,0007T) & %5 KA
rEERFERFPRENEUEERR

g -
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

24. RERREE/YRERER

2024 2023

—B_mF —F-=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Cash and bank balances Be MIR1TER 215,856 376,073
Time deposits TEHTF 3K - 1,000
Subtotal /Net 215,856 377,073
Less: Pledged deposits A IR (93,698) (128,713)
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMhBESEEY 122,158 248,360

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in: JA N5 B &5 ERIR € &
BeSEY :

—RMB — AR 121,561 247,494
— United States dollar —ETT 298 503
— Hong Kong dollar — BT 299 363
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 122,158 248,360

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances,
pledged deposits and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits in
the consolidated statement of financial position approximate to
their fair values.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's pledged deposits with a
carrying value of RMB60,287,000 (2023: RMB21,358,000) were
pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

At 31 December 2024, the Group's bills payable were secured
by the pledged deposits amounting to RMB20,155,000 (2023:
RMB94,061,000) (note 26).

ARBAAERLBREMER - R
i - AR 3% A B A 3 51 B B I AR T DA B A
EREERNEETERTE AEEREE
BERERENEIIEXBORITHEAR
BHRBRHEMEE -

RITRESBEFRRITERNEZZ
RGN R - RHEFERHRK—KRE
ZEATE  BFAKENNKRESH
SR AR B #95E HA R HIE KON = BRER
B - RITHR  BRERREHRER
FATLHY EROCENEBRIFR
T HEUBRAERARERACEFE
WA R BRI R R EREE A FER

++

Eo

RZZE-_NF+=—A=+—H ' ' &x5H
IREEAARE 60,287,000 (===
F . AR#21,358,0007T) HIEHFEFERD
FTEF UERETFAEBNE TR
RITREAME IR (HE28) -

RZZE-_NF+=—A=+—H ' ' &x5H
B JE 1 1R A A R 20,155,000 7T (=
T-=F: AR¥94,061,0007T)HE K
PE R IR (FI5E26) ©
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31 December2024 —Z—M&+-HA=+—H

25. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED 25. 3 B AR ESFENHEHE]
AS HELD FOR SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY MEE HIBRBEFEN
ASSOCIATED WITH THE ASSETS CLASSIFIED EEEEMEBNAER
AS HELD FOR SALE
On 23 December 2024, Chongqging Kangda and Zhongshan City RZBE-_NFE+-_A=+=0 EER
Xiaolan Water Company Limited (7 [L T /NB /KT B R Q7)) FEEAPILTNEKBERAE ([F L
("Zhongshan Xiaolan”) entered into an equity transfer agreement, MMED RIS REEE D ® B BF
pursuant to which Chongqging Kangda agreed to dispose of its RERBELEERPFILEEKBERA
100% equity interests in Zhongshan Kangda Water Company B ([9 LR #9100% Ak #E - R (B
Limited (7 LU B #E K B R 2 7) (“Zhongshan Kangda”) for a AANREE96,051,0007C c R-ZZE - MF
total consideration of RMB96,051,000. In December 2024, the +Z A AEBERIFRERLBEA
Group has received a total cash consideration of RMB19,210,000. K #19,210,0007C - Ll X 5 R — 4F
The above transaction is due to be completed within one year, WK At - @2 _WF+=-H
thus as of 31 December 2024, Zhongshan Kangda was classified =t—B HURERSEAKERE
as a disposal group held for sale. g EER -

The major classes of the Group's disposal groups classified as AEBSBEAKARENLEERNE
held for sale are as follows: ZHBIAT
2024
—EC-mEF
RMB’000
AR®T
Assets BE
Financial receivables & Rl FE U RIS 276,835
Cash and cash equivalents RekBLEED 54,938
Trade receivables B 5 MW IR 24,714
Others EHfth 12
Assets classified as held for sale* DEABTERENEE~ 356,499
Liabilities 8
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T RERIT R HEMER 241,710
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEAE 11,503
Trade and bills payables B S EMNFIERENER 7,235
Liabilities directly associated with the assets EAOBRFARENEE
classified as held for sale* HEEENBE" 260,448
@ As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s assets classified as held for & RZFE-_WE+=—A=+—RH AxEEET
sale, with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB301,549,000, were EE@@TE%’N%/\EM?;M 549,000 7T I 5 ¥A
pledged for interest -bearing bank and other borrowings classified as held REEFENEERRMFEINRARK
for sale with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB241,710,000. 241,710,000 7L ¥ 9 ¥R B 45 A 15 B M 51 SR
TR H A fEFRAEE A -
The details of pledge of assets are as follows: BEEMFFNOT
31 December
2024
—E-WF
+=BA=+—H
RMB’000
AR®T T
Financial receivables & 7 e R 276,835
Trade receivables B 5B RE 24,714
Total 4z 301,549

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE 203
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31 December2024 —ZE—M&+-HA=+—H

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 26. BEZENREREMNERE
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing. The credit BORNRERENRETGTE - @
periods granted by each individual supplier are on a case-by-case e R £ /15 A R T AR T E BB X
basis and are set out in the supplier contracts. E o WEHRHEESOA -

For retention money payables included in trade payables, in REEFXTEREFABSENFIE
respect of guarantees granted by the suppliers, the due dates WENRBeMES NREBABEN
usually range from one to two years after the completion of the FRERIBRIZVITRBZEERE—F
construction work or the preliminary acceptance of equipment. M o
2024 2023
—E-EF —E=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTT

Bills payable (note (a)) FET 4% (T E (a) 20,155 102,928

TOT payables (note (b)) TOT FE 738 (K1 5E (b)) 3,985 3,985

Trade payables B S RN FHIA 1,825,580 1,906,620

Total A5 1,849,720 2,013,533

Less: Non-current portion B FERNERER 4 201

Current portion BNERER 95 1,849,716 2,013,332

Notes: Mzt -

(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bills payable were secured by the (a) RZZBE-_ME+—A=+—HB KxEENE
pledged deposits amounting to RMB20,155,000 (2023: RMB94,061,000) (note NHRBETIA BB AR 20,155,000 (= F
24). — =% : AR#%94,061,0007T) 1K 7 5K

VEIE IR (i3t 24) -

(b) TOT payables represented amounts due to the Grantors based on the (b) TOTE N RIBIEF R BIBEMBABTOTE L AT
payment schedules set out in the relevant TOT contracts at the end of the BT RS R R T E A B R T ARA -
year.
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31 December2024 —Z—M&+-HA=+—H

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade and bills payables as at
the end of the year is as follows:

26 ESERREBREMSERE @
REF  NEEE 5 M HERENE
BHEBIFOT :

2024 2023
—ENE —TE =4
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Within 3 months 3EAA 313,775 370,571
4 to 6 months 4Z 618 A 83,862 141,980
7 to 12 months 7E1218 A 257,212 211,017
Over 12 months BiE12ME A 1,194,871 1,289,965
Total BT 1,849,720 2,013,533

The carrying amounts of the current portion of the trade and bills
payables approximate to their fair values.

Included in the Group's trade and bills payables are amounts due
to the Group's associate of RMB10,120,000 (2023: RMB10,120,000)
(note 36).

B 5N FEREN RIS K
EEEEQTERS -

AEENESRERNRBRENZERS
RBREMNAEE —ZRBELEARZTEAR
#10,120,000C (ZE =% : ARK
10,120,000 7T ) (Fff5£36) °
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31 December 2024

—E-NFE+=_A=+—H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. HitENRERETER

2024 2023
—E_NE —=—=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Salary and welfare payables (note (a)) S T & REF (M @) 50,343 37,761
Advance equity payment (note (b)) T8 Uk A% 4 3 TE (T 5 (b)) 19,210 =
Amounts due to related parties (note (c))  FEAT BEES /5 7B (B 5L () 14,248 19,324
Other taxes payables H fth fE A 18 8,713 9,178
Payables for the acquisitions JE A~ U BB 2R 0B 680 67,121
Contract liabilities (note (d)) A8 E (W) - 30,634
Other payables H A &5 3R 48,844 43,897
Total @t 142,038 207,915
Portion classified as current %8 A& B HA B fh B 1~ SRE R
other payables and accruals EETERMNI D (142,038) (177,286)
Non-current portion SERVERER > - 30,629

Notes:

(a)

BT
The salary and welfare payables are non-interest-bearing and are payable on (a) R TEREFNATHEBRIREREI A -
demand. Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms HA RN RIEAD B REREE &K -
of repayment.
On 23 December 2024, Chongging Kangda and Zhongshan City Xiaolan (b) RZZBE-_NE+-_A-+=0 EEREHR
Water Company Limited (# LU /MK AR 2 A]) (“Zhongshan Xiaolan”) RILm/NEKREER AR (T IL/NME]D 7T
entered into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which Chongging VREEREGE B EERERELE
Kangda agreed to dispose of its 100% equity interests in Zhongshan Kangda ER A L FRAE KT A IR A &89 100% Ax 4%
Water Company Limited (4 LU & 3 /K 7% B R 2 @) (“Zhongshan Kangda”) R EAARK6,051,0007T - HREZE K
for a total consideration of RMB96,051,000. Since the disposal was not yet EHHZHEFHEERTK  BERRHAR
completed at the reporting date, RMB19,210,000 received was recognised as %£19,210,000 7T # FE 3R A TR M AR RE XA »
advance equity payment.
The amounts mainly represent borrowings provided by the non-controlling (c) CHIERAEEZEMBRATAEME
shareholders of Huizhou Kangda, which is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of EREMRENIFIERREREAER - A
the Group, and Jilin Kangda, to finance the construction of property, plant RESBNERERETNRENYE BE R
and equipment of Huizhou Kangda and Jilin Kangda. RIBREES -
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (d) BRBEFHBOT -
2024 2023
—EomE —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARMEFTT
Construction services ERRE - 30,634
Total wEt - 30,634

Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver industrial products
and render installation and construction services. The decrease in
contract liabilities in 2024 is primarily due to the current year's receivable
for governmental water charges offset by advance receipts related to
operational services for wastewater treatment and sludge treatment that had
been collected in prior years.

EHEBEREARRNIZERRRHEZE
R TR MK ER - —E_NFEEH
BERD T EHRANFEBAKEREK
B EFRKER EISKERE KTRE
1218 2 IR AE BE MY TR MR IR 8 o
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31 December 2024

28.

—E-MF+=A=+—H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. T 2R H & &K
BORROWINGS
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
“E-ME+=A=t-H ZER_=f+ZRA=t—H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BERF= BERFI%
(%) HREH AR%ETR (%) IEMEN ARETT
Current £
Lease liabilities (note 13(b)) HEEE (HF130) 4.01-4.91 2025 427 4.21-4.91 2024 1,113
ZE-EHF —T-mE
Bank loans RITEH 2.90-4.50 2025 382,148 3.00-4.35 2024 388,797
— secured — A —ECERE —TomE
Bank loans BITER 3.10-6.96 2025 1,272,985 2.60-6.96 2024 1,300,100
— unsecured — B —ECRE —SoE
Current portion of long term REFITEZNANSHLS  3.60-6.00 2025 384,876 3.47-8.84 2024 1,017,333
bank loans — secured — A —EC-HE 13
Current portion of long term REBRTEZNNSES  1.20-5.50 2025 99,811 1.20-5.50 2024 68,462
bank loans — unsecured — EH A —ECERE —TomE
Current portion of long term RBHEMETNNELS  4.60-6.65 2025 682,358 4.84-7.14 2024 634,120
other loans — secured — B —ECRE “SoE
Current portion of long term RAEHBERONHHNS  6.50-9.40 2025 138,599 7.50-8.43 2024 91,550
other loans — unsecured — EIERA —EC-RE T
Total — current HilEak 2,961,204 3,501,475
Non-current JERNE
Lease liabilities (note 13(b)) & (B2 13(0)) 4.01-4.91 2026-2039 1,521 421491 2025 2039 1,503
—E-RER ke e )
“Z=hE iy
Long term bank loans REBRITER 3.60-6.00 2026-2045 3,443,700 3.47-5.30 2025-2045 3,213,752
— secured — HiEH —E-AEE —E_hEF%F
—ENEF —ENEE
Long term bank loans REBBITER 1.20-5.50 2026-2039 512,415 1.20-5.50 2025-2026 540,935
— unsecured — B ZECREZR _7_ﬁ¢j-_
—E=Af —E-RF
Long term other loans EHRMER 460665  2026-2034 1765963 484714 20252030 1788617
— secured — HiEH ZECREE “E-hER
—E-MF —ZE=THF
Long term other loans RBEMER 6.50-9.40 2026-2027 927,473  7.50-8.43 2025-2026 870,753
— unsecured — B “EBoREE _7_ﬁ¢:—_
g St of -3 “E-RF
Total — non-current JERN AR 6,651,072 6,415,560
Total ast 9,612,276 9,917,035
Interest-bearing bank and other LA 5| & %5 {EK)
borrowings denominated in STERTRAMER
—RMB — AR% 9,587,658 9,787,315
— United States dollar — %1 24,618 129,720
Total st 9,612,276 9,917,035
REBBRRERAR / ZE-NFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

28.

— =

—FMEF-A=1T—A

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. FFEMRITREMER (&
BORROWINGS (Continued)
2024 2023
—E_ME —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Analysed into: DT
Interest-bearing bank and other FEEEFERITR
borrowings repayable: HAth &
Within one year —F AR 2,961,204 3,501,475
In the second year F_F 2,694,703 1,978,297
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=ZFLF (BEEEMRF) 2,218,571 2,391,240
Beyond five years h % 1,737,798 2,046,023
Total @t 9,612,276 9,917,035

Certain of the Group's bank borrowings are subject to certain
covenants that are tested yearly. The Group considers there is
no indication that it will have difficulties in complying with the
covenants.

The above secured interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are secured by certain assets with carrying values as follows:

AEBNHORTERZBFETAR
BE T RAEMBR - AEE BRI ED
KRR AEAST B ST 25477 [ E B R 2 -

BB BRITREMERAET
BEFEWR EFRmENT :

2024 2023

—E-NE —ET-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBFR  ARETL

Property, plant and equipment (note 12) %1% ~ &= & a& & (HFE12) 8,138 9,965

Investment properties BEWE 571 571

Financial receivables (note 19) & B U IE (Fi3E19) 7,238,507 7,957,461

Trade receivables (note 21) 5 WA (ME21) 1,444,439 1,181,567

Pledged deposits (note 24) WIHFR (HE24) 60,287 21,358

Service concession intangible assets BIVEE — T g’

(note 17) (F&E17) 1,106,152 1,254,846

Contract assets (note 23) BHEE ([7E23) 70,277 12,590
The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of N E BB A R 3,546,844,0007T (=

RMB3,546,844,000 (2023: RMB3,827,272,000) were guaranteed
by the Company’s investments in certain subsidiaries and an
investment company.

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
RMB432,350,000 (2023: RMB474,365,000) were guaranteed by a
director of the Company (note 36).

T =% }\EM38272720007E)E'3
AHERITREMEFTUARRRRNE TH
BRAIER—RRER TE’J&QVE%EW

AN B A # AR 432,350,000 (=&
— =% : NR#474,3650007T) B 5 A
BITREMERARRR —REFER
(MF5E36) °
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31 December2024 —Z—M&+-HA=+—H

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. B4
Shares Bz 2
2024 2023
—E-F =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 (2023: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000 (ZE == :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 5,000,000,000 fi%)
BREEO0.01 8 TH & B 39,766 39,766
Issued and fully paid: ERITREHRE
2,139,735,000 (2023: 2,139,735,000) 2,139,735000 & (ZZE =4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,139,735,000 A% )
BREECO AT L BR 17,125 17,125

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

BRAARRRBRAZESHOMENT

Number of Issued Share
shares in issue capital premium Total
BRIT
REE ERTER RAD B st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
At 1 January 2024 and R-ZZE_WFE—-HA—H
31 December 2024 k—ZE -4
+=—HA=+—~H 2,139,735,000 17,125 1,717,384 1,734,509

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE

209



210

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 31 May 2024 (the "Date of Grant”), the Company granted
a total of 213,973,500 share options to subscribe for a total of
213,973,500 ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company
(the ”"Shares” and each “Share”), subject to acceptance of the
grantees (the "Grantees”), under the share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 14 June 2014.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the key staff
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and
help motivate them to optimise their future performance and
efficiency to the Group and to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on-going relationships with such eligible persons
who are significant to and whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group,
and additionally in the case of management staff, to enable
the Group to attract and retain individuals with experience and
ability.

All share options will be vested and can be exercised upon
expiration of 12 months from the Date of Grant. All of the share
options shall be exercisable at any time during the period
commencing from 31 May 2025 to 15 September 2025 (both days
inclusive)(or such longer period as may be extended by the Board
in its absolute discretion, provided that the end date shall not be
later than 10 years from the Date of Grant). Each Share Option
Scheme award granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
has the same terms and conditions.

The exercise price of share options is HK$0.30 per Share, which
is no less than the highest of: (i) the nominal value of the Share;
(i) the closing price of HK$0.227 per Share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the Date of
Grant; and (iii) the average closing price of HK$0.229 per Share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not
have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options.
The Group accounts for the Share Option Scheme as an equity-
settled plan.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

0. B R AERT &

R-_ZE-_WERA=+—H(KRLAB
H])  AABRERBEENRZ-Z—MNEN
A+ BERAR BRI S ([T
2]) B H A 213,973,500 10 B AR AE - 7]
REA R B R AR A $£213,973,500 A%
L@ (I H ) - AEFERA ([ER
AN R -

BRESEELATIEZEIRARR
BEBARENKE  YHBERER
TTERRAREORREUE - K3 K
BRINEM T AEZEAERAL (R
AAEBRBRIGEROHAEEOK
B oREINNEEEER) #FFE
BRI RERBREAEME - B
R8s EEASEERS| B AL
BMEENAL -

PrABRER AR AR w128 A
REBILAITITE - 2HEERETE =
E_hFRAA=T—"HRBRE_ZT_AF
NATHBLEHRE(BREEEMBE) (3
EZenEaNBEERNEHEREN
A - AR AR L BT RERE G B
FEEH104F) BERS 1T 2 - 1R IR B A A AT &
BhmESMnBRE SR ERN
fife R B gk BRI

BRENTEEASREH 030 T
ETMERUT&ReE : VRHOEE ()
KL BT ZMEMNET B RER
Fr~ AUk i (B &A% 15 0.227 7T ¢ K (i)
REERLY BT AEE % B EB AT
BHNBEHFERMTIOEHRTES
% B9 0.229 B JT ©

BAAUAReEE T AER - EB
Pt REEBAEYEARSEENE
Bl REBBRBIREAENLERGSER
BE N
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BRESTE (»

The following share options were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the year:

6 (B8 PR MR 0T TS 0 5K 7 08 60 B AR
mF -

Exercise price Number of options

TEE BREHE

HK$ per share ‘000

BRET T4

At 1 January 2024 MR_ZF_MFE—H—H - _

Granted during the year FARAKRH 0.30 213,974
At 31 December 2024 MR_ZT_MEF

+-A=+—H 0.30 213,974

The fair value of share options granted during the year was
HK$9,690,000 (HK$0.045 each) (2023: Nil), of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of RMB5,141,000 (2023: Nil)
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year, was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to
the model used:

F IR R BE IR A A T {E A 9,690,000
BIL (81500458 L) (ZE=Z=4F:

) EFRAEERBEZE-_ZT_F
+— A=+ —HILFEERNBERER
S ABARBES141,000T (ZE =4

T)

FARBURBZEENBREN R TE
TyR R et B R B AT h BB AR A R K
KAGMHER —BARE AR - TX
P52 P AR AL B B A\ (B -

2024

—ZS_NF

Dividend yield (%) 5 B 2 (%) -
Expected volatility (%) 78 HA R 18 (%) 62.62
Historical volatility (%) & 5P R 1 (%) 62.62
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 3 fz 1) 2 (%) 4.20
Expected life of options (year) TERT B R R AR (4F) 1.29
Annual employee retaining rate (%) FERERE E (%) 100

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome. The historical volatility is set by the annualized volatility
of the Company.

No other features of the options granted were incorporated into
the measurement of fair value .

R EBE F R B AER A BE IR A
TTEEANER - BHIKIET RRE £
KIERIE AR RBBIEFENRRK - TR
BREBRER BELREREAQFN
FORIBERTE °

RETERFER - SEIASRLBEK
R R AR

BRRRERDA / —E_WFERE
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31 December 2024

—E-MF+=A=+—H

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

31.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 213,973,500
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 213,973,500 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of HK$64,192,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 213,973,500 share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 10% of
the Company'’s shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 87 and page 88 of the
consolidated financial statements.

30.

31.

BRAETE

RBEBR AR REBRE 28
T & 213,973,500 17 8 B #E 18 R T 15 ©
BT AQRREEARERE  WisRITE
B EREITE S EWMEINETT
213,973,500 B& A8~ &) & i Ax 2 BEINIR AR
64,192,000 7T (F0BR TR AT ©

RHESRE VKRR B E AR ARE
P& HE 5t 218 T A 213,973,500 17 B AR HE 1
RITE  HARBTRE ANERTRG
#710% °

f#E
REEAEERBEFENEESER
HEE 25N GRA M RKE67 %68
B A ESEBRA -
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB520,000 (2023:
RMB2,023,000) and RMB520,000 (2023: RMB2,023,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for office
properties.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

32. MEBEERERME

(a) FEHFBRERS
TR AEERBLAETWERE
ZHRFEREEERHEAED
FRERE D Bl A AR S520,000
T(ZE==% : AR¥ 2,023,000
7T) M AR¥520,000 (Z 2 ==
& AR#¥2023,0007T) °

(b) RMEZTHELNEEED

activities
2024 —E-MF
Interest-
bearing bank Other
and other Lease payables and
borrowings liabilities accruals*
SFTERITR H fth FE 4 FR1E
Hth a5 HESEE REGFER*
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TRT AR®TRT AR®T:R
At 1 January 2024 R-_Z_MFE—H—H 9,914,419 2,616 10,039
Changes from financing MER S MELE
cash flows (131,288) (1,273) 384
New leases EE - 520 -
Foreign exchange movement  JNEZH) 2,525 - -
Interest expense FERX 544,126 85 =
Interest paid classified as DELABERERE
financing cash flows BT (477,744) - -
Debt restructuring B EH - - (4,725)
Decrease arising from Ao RBEEFEEN
classified as liabilities held BEELHRD
for sale (note 25) (BF5E25) (241,710) = =
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZMF
T=E == 9,610,328 1,948 5,698

*

certain borrowings provided by related parties.

Other payables and accruals mainly represent interest payable, and

Ht N RIAREFEREIRERE
FFIL8 BB T e B T BR RO 5K o

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE
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31 December 2024

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

—E-MF+=A=+—H

2. MEBERERMFT @

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METHELENABEH (E)
activities (Continued)
2023 —F==
Interest-
bearing bank Other
and other Lease payables and
borrowings liabilities accruals*
SERBRITR H At & < FRIE
HAth i X HEBE REFER*
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETTT AR®TTT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 9,519,843 1,974 65,439
Changes from financing BERSRES
cash flows 292,376 (1,537) (55,400)
New leases & = 2,023 =
Foreign exchange movement 4N & &) 2,584 - -
Interest expense FEFRX 578,563 156 =
Interest paid classified as SEABERERE
financing cash flows ME 5.8 (478,947) = =
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%F
+=-—A=+—8H 9,914,419 2,616 10,039
i Other payables and accruals mainly represent interest payable, * HthERNREAREAEREZRIEE

dividend payable, and certain borrowings provided by related

parties.

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

RS~ EARE RETHREEB TR

HEIREEK -

(c) HENRESRHBE

BRESREXRNEERER

of cash flows is as follows: BEER -
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Within financing activities mEEBEE R 1,273 1,537
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5SS

34.

35.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the year, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings, which are
secured by the assets of the Group, are included in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

33. AAREE

RAFER  NEBYEEAETARA

a1
34. EERH

BRANAEEEERRNAKEIRITR
Hih B RFBRREGEE M B HMRME

28 °

35. &iE

RBEHR  AEREH AT EHASE

2024 2023

—E-ME —T-=F

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Contracted, but not provided for B RTAE & R B 110,148 176,589

The Group had the following commitments with respect to

RAFER - NEEE NI ARBRBE

service concession arrangements at the end of the year: FHRE B ATE ¢
2024 2023
—EC-ImF —F-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®TTT
Contracted, but not provided for BRI AY(B 18 R B 2,178,156 1,890,613
RERRRRERAR / —E_NFERE
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

36. BB AR S

(a) The Group had the following material transactions with (a) AEBERAKNFEE@ETETH
related parties during the year: BARSWT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®TTT
Certain expenses of the Group paid by i ~%IJ/A &) &9 JEFE R A% 38
non-controlling shareholders of: XAMAERETHE
Huizhou Kangda BMNERE 384 384
Services provided to associates FBEERFI R —REERE
and a joint venture: REH R :
Leping Hehu e i 12,305 2,767
Fuzhou Fuhe HE ) Y] 3,236 12,075
Gaomi Kangrui = % B M 855 862
Services provided by a subsidiary HREH—KWE Q]
of a shareholder: REH R :
Jiangxi Silver Dragon (i) L 78 #RBE (i) 41,090 26,812
Services provided by a B—BIFERRR
non-controlling shareholder A RS
Jiaoling Kangda EaERE 262 -
(i) Jiangxi Silver Dragon Water Environment Construction (i) IFARBEKIRIBEERABRE

Co., Ltd. (TAARBERREERBREERF) (“Jiangxi
Silver Dragon”) is a subsidiary of the largest shareholder of
the Group. This related party transaction also constitutes a
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group is contractually authorised to use a piece
of land which is legally owned by the non-controlling
shareholder of Jilin Kangda without charge, and such
use also constitutes a related party transaction during
the year.

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings in 2024 amounting to RMB432,350,000
(2023: RMB474,365,000) were guaranteed by a director
of the Company (note 28).

The above related party transactions were conducted
in accordance with the terms mutually agreed
between the parties.

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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(b)

(c)

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36. BB AR5 (@)
Outstanding balances with related parties (b) EERFERS HIREBLLER
2024 2023
2 —F-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTLATS A B FE1EAR
shareholders of: AR FRIA
Jilin Kangda TMEE 8,550 9,285
Huizhou Kangda BMERE 5,698 5,314
Jiaoling Kangda REFEE 940 678
Amounts due to associates: JE AT LA TN Bt & A B FRIE
Eastern Sludge Treatment (note 26) RAAEREB R (WEZé) 10,120 10,120
Amounts due to the subsidiary R ASF RSB LA T B /B8
of a shareholder: RAIFA
Jiangxi Silver Dragon T PaIRAE 253,918 232,627
Amounts due from non-controlling J’EWJ«/{T’A 7 FEFEAR
shareholders of: RER K
Jiaoling Kangda %-\E\%L%_ 1,686 1,686
Shenyang Jinhai AR N 1,100 1,100
Weihai Kangda B8 B E 43 43
Amounts due from associates: JE W A T Bt & A B FOA -
Fuzhou Fuhe HE ) 4] 124,017 133,098
Leping Hehu e OO 41,818 38,353
Amounts due from joint ventures: JEWLAT & & (% 5K0E
Tiangiyuan 2 11,865 22,575
Gaomi Kangrui =% B i 18,854 19,000
Compensation of key management personnel of () XEBXEEEE ABNHMH
the Group
2024 2023
—E_MmF —T-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
Short term employee benefits WMEEERT 1,058 2,246
Equity-settled share option expense  MAMEZ 45 & &R R > 192 L
Total compensation paid to key SINTEEEEEAEN
management personnel B 1,250 2,246
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in EEMemE—THBIERNGE
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. B 5 IR R T 5E 8 o
REBRERRAERAR / —S-_NFERE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. RERESNEMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEEAR - FEeRITANKEE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W
31 December 2024 —EB-_mE+ZA=1+—H
Financial assets TREE

Financial assets
at fair value

through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost Total
BAFERTA R
Hth 2 W & At &
NEMEE MERMEE et
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T AR®T AR®TR

Equity investments designated 3§ E BIZAFETA

at fair value through other Hip 2 mEKkzES
comprehensive income AR E 399,000 - 399,000
Loans to a joint venture M—XEELENER = 18,854 18,854
Loans to an associate m—REERFHNER = 27,096 27,096
Financial receivables T B e WK IE - 11,673,981 11,673,981
Trade receivables 2 5 eI RIE - 3,169,688 3,169,688
Financial assets included in ST ATERFRIE - B R
prepayments, other FRIE R H b & B HY
receivables and other assets S EhEE - 666,286 666,286
Pledged deposits EIRFR - 93,698 93,698
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEY - 122,158 122,158
Total HaEt 399,000 15,771,761 16,170,761
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
R
BAE &
HEmasE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR%T T
Trade and bills payables B EMNFIERENEE 1,849,720 1,849,720
Financial liabilities included in FTAEMEREREGTEAN
other payables and accruals TRAE 63,772 63,772
Interest-bearing bank and FTRERIT R EM B K
other borrowings 9,612,276 9,612,276
Total et 11,525,768 11,525,768
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
31 December 2023

Financial assets

—E-MF+=A=+—H

37. RENE TN ERM T A )

2 =%+=-RA=+—H

TREE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

Financial
assets at

income  amortised cost Total
BATFERA 124
H b2 E = ARG E
B & Bl & B B & B & B HBET
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARKEFTT ARBETIT ARBEFT
Equity investments designated BEABRRTEFTA
at fair value through other H b % [ Ik B
comprehensive income g g 347,000 - 347,000
Loans to a joint venture M—RXEELENER - 19,000 19,000
Loans to an associate m—REEE R RNER - 23,859 23,859
Financial receivables & BhE W FRTE = 11,592,250 11,592,250
Trade receivables 2 5 WA = 2,808,513 2,808,513
Financial assets included in SFATAEIFRIE - E eI
prepayments, other REARHMEERN
receivables and other assets TRIEE - 798,970 798,970
Pledged deposits EHRFER — 128,713 128,713
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIREFEEY = 248,360 248,360
Total st 347,000 15,619,665 15,966,665
Financial liabilities eRAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
P 2
e BA it
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Trade and bills payables B ZENRIE R EN R 2,013,533 2,013,533
Financial liabilities included in STAEMENKIERESERAD
other payables and accruals TREeE 130,347 130,347
Interest-bearing bank and FTRSRITRAMERK
other borrowings 9,917,035 9,917,035
Total #Et 12,060,915 12,060,915
REBRERRRBERAR / T -_NFERE
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

B EMITALAFERLATFES

I
AEESHTA(REABERATES
BAREERIN MEEERATEMT :

Carrying amounts Fair values
HREE AYE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“BC@mE —T-=F C-B-@mE —T-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTT AR%Trn ARET:R
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments designated EERRATETA
at fair value through other Hir 2 E KR
comprehensive income RS A 399,000 347,000 399,000 347,000
Financial receivables, non-current & &l FEMIFRIE + JERNERAEE
portion 9,631,996 9,512,959 9,734,966 9,619,827
Total st 10,030,996 9,859,959 10,133,966 9,966,827
Financial liabilities SRAE
Trade and bills payables, BIRARERENRE -
non-current portion JEENERE 4 201 4 192
Interest-bearing bank and other ATRRITREMER
borrowings, non-current portion JERNER R 5 6,651,072 6,415,560 6,665,649 6,440,736
Total Bt 6,651,076 6,415,761 6,665,653 6,440,928

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash

equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, other current

financial assets, the current portion of financial receivables, the

current portion of trade and bills payables, the current portion of

financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and

other assets, loans to joint ventures and associates, the current

portion of financial liabilities included in other payables and

accruals, and the current portion of interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely

due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

EREEDHE ReLReFEY £
BEFR - BHEKFIR HiRSEa
BE REYGENISMES BS
ENRIARENRENMBES - FFA
BENFR - EREURAE R At EER
TREENNMED  WEEEE K
LRBER - A AR IR M ER
ERNSRBENENBABS AR AR
TTREMERNANRBY A FEHE
HEEERE  TEEHRRETAR
REIREE
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38.

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value disclosure of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At the end of the
year, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial receivables,
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade and bills
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result
of the Group's own non-performance risks for trade and bills
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at the
end of the year were assessed to be insignificant.

&
RSB AEN A E MBS REEE
TeRMIAATERBENBERER -
HEEBREEARBRERS - NASF
X BEBOMERTANBESS
PEEHEPEANEELS - GEH
B A A B R B L o

TREERAENRTFERBBIN—
BRTRSTREBEHETANSHE (8
BPFRHERIN) FIE - AT REE
NHEMA®NTTERRKRR

& B UCRR - TR R - E AU
BREMEE BZRNAFKEARENR
& AT ERITREMERNIERNHL D
B AFETSBRBARRE SRR EHEE
EiEF - FEREARERGAERANTA
BRERMMEREREREMTE - REF
R ARNKERE B 5 EMNFKAREN
R FFRRITREAMERNENRR
MELN A FEEDHRFESLTERK -
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY . EMIBEAFERAFESE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income have been estimated
using a market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable public
companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy,
and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as price
to book value (P/B), for each comparable company identified.
The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by book value measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding P/B of the unlisted
equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2024

&
EEARATEIS AL b2 EKSHIE
T REREN AT EDRBERTIS
M AR EE - ZEEER TR EE
BT IR (B AR S M R X R R 1T - &
BERBESEETL HIE BREE
BETAELBARAR (RL) 13t
PRl e AL RA TS EAENE
BES(MTERER) - EHOHTEH
BARAELBRAANCEBERAER
EHEHE - X HBHEBIBED RS
TEERBRARAZLEA R WK
BUETERBEEREEEEEHRTH
3o BRI SRR IE E T IRIEIRE W
ERERAHEAFE - EERA -
EERMEENGESATEGEALS
BB E) R AT EOBEEE (A
Hi2mks) BAE  BARSHA
SABEMEE -

AEEER
TRHATEESMTANATEIE
245

BAFEFENEE
R-E-_WE+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AT EHBRA

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
SR 5

HERE
(B—#)
RMB’000

AR®T

Significant Significant
observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

BEARTEHE EAXTABE

BWAE WAE
(B=&) (B=R) #st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETR

Equity investments designated EEARRATETA
at fair value through other Hit 2 m R

comprehensive income BERE =

- 399,000 399,000
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY B EMIAAFERAFES

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

& om)

DAFEZER(E)
BRAVEHBHNEE  (B)
R-ZTE-_=F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AHEERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERETS EAUHER EATAEE
BB BWAE BWAE
(B—#) (B=%) (E=%) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Equity investments designated EERRATETA
at fair value through other Hi 2 E KR
comprehensive income iR & = = 347,000 347,000
Liabilities measured at fair value: RATEFENES:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

RZE_NF+_A=+—BE=E
—=F+=—A=+—H AEBEVEL
AIEAFEFENSHAE-

RER SREBAEBEMNS  F-REF

“RZELENFEGFEER  RER
ABASBHFE=R(ZF_=F §) -
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY . EMIBEAFERAFESE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Y EED)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) N EERE)

Assets for which fair values are disclosed: EHBEAFLENEE:

As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_WFE+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ATEHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active ~ observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME  EATHE EAFTEER
HEE BWAE BAE
(E—4) (E=&) (B=H) @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR%TR AR%®Tn

Financial receivables, SREKGRIE -
non-current portion FEENERE - 9,734,966 - 9,734,966
- 9,734,966 - 9,734,966
As at 31 December 2023 RZBEZ=F+=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AF(EH B
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BRME  EARBE EATAEER
BB BWAE BWAE
(B—#) (F=%) (F=%) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TnT ARETR
Financial receivables, SRUEKGRIE -
non-current portion JERNERER - 9,619,827 = 9,619,827

- 9,619,827 - 9,619,827
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2024

2 (m)

D EER ()
ERBEAFENERE:
R-—2_NFE+=-A=+-—H

Fair value measurement using

B EMITALAFERLAFES

ATEFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
inactive ~ observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEME EATHEE EAFTEER
KR E BAE BAE
(F—4) (E=&) (F=&) Mgt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR¥TRE ARWTR AR%T:R
Trade and bills payables, ZHRNFERENRE -
non-current portion FEENER R - 4 = 4
Interest-bearing bank ATRRITREME -
and other borrowings, FEENEIES »
non-current portion - 6,665,649 - 6,665,649
Total Bt - 6,665,653 - 6,665,653
As at 31 December 2023 RZFEZ=F+=ZHA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
RHEEHRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EETYE  EATBRE EANAEER
H¥RE BWAE BWAE
(E—H) (B=8) (B=4) fast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TRT ARETR
Trade and bills payables, BEIRMNFIERENRE
non-current portion RS - 192 - 192
Interest-bearing bank and other AT B HRITREMAE -
borrowings,non-current portion FFENERER 7 - 6,440,736 - 6,440,736
Total st - 6,440,928 - 6,440,928
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as financial receivables, trade receivables and trade and bills
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency
risk. Generally, the senior management of the Company meets
regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group's exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of
directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse
and approve the proposals made by the senior management
of the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. As the Group'’s exposure to
these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any
derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The board of directors of the Company
reviews and agrees policies for managing these risks and they are
summarised below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

9. K EEE B ERBER

AEENFESRIABRFEAERITR
HpExR RekReFEYVRERE
K- ZEeMIATEARAAEEN
REBEES AKHEBEBEERKRAH
BEMZREMESREENEGE WL
BEKFR - BB RUGRIARE 5 R
REAMEMNER -

rEBCMTAEENTZRAR AT X
Bz EAERRE  RBE R ERRINE
Bk —RMs AAaahEEES
THAHGEIMESIERE  EEXR
SEMBENZERER - WIN ARFIE
EerHERgEIMEERR RS
HEEEBRENEZ - —BMs &%
B HE e E R EREURTRES o R
R 5 5% BB #E A R AR OK S - i
AEBAFRAEMTETEREMT R
E¥ RS - AEBEWEIFFRETH
ERXSGNITESRMTI A - ARAEFES
B RAEETEZERBRABE - L5
ZWR e
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long term
debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage
its interest rate risk. The Group's interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents are stated at amortised cost and not revalued
on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest income and
expenses are credited/charged to profit or loss as earned/
incurred.

If there would be a general increase/decrease in the market
interest rates by one percentage point, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s consolidated pre-tax
profit would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB67,633,000 and RMB70,806,000 for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively, and there would be
no impact on other components of the consolidated equity,
except for retained profits, of the Group. The sensitivity
analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in market interest rates had occurred at the end of
the year and had applied the exposure to interest rate risk
to those financial instruments in existence at that date.

Bt 7 L B ' 3 B AR N UK ()

(a)

F = & b
AEEAZRFTEERANERILZZH
FRABHNEHEBLETEBN
M EE B E

rEEerHERARERETE R
FEFERERNES  AERHE
FlERER -AEBMNFTERTR
HEMmER ERERNES KA
SEBMNREHEKAYE B
g EHEMEEE - FEHAE
ﬂEWA&ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ/Ei
RE Bt A R

BE_ZT_NFER-_ZT_=F
+—BA=+—HItFE wmH
FR2EEHTHR—(AEDE
METEEMmEERFARE QA
EE /LS KRR R T 5 Bl
L AN A R ¥ 67,633,000 7T K
AE%KW%mmﬁ ABRERE R
MIN FEHAEEGEEERTD
E@@ﬁ% DB E o Fili K
RESTBEAMSHEZESHER
FERBEVEEAZSSMT
BEAERZBBGFENFXR
PR E o

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE

227



228

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial receivables
and financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these
financial assets. Substantially all of the Group's cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits are held in major
financial institutions located in Mainland China and Hong
Kong, which management believes are of high credit
quality. The Group has policies to control the size of the
deposits to be placed with various reputable financial
institutions according to their market reputation, operating
scale and financial background with a view to limiting
the credit exposure to each financial institution to an
acceptable level.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

As the Group's major customers are either PRC government
authorities or agencies at the provincial and local levels
or other state-owned enterprises, the Group believes that
they are reliable and of high credit quality and hence,
there is no significant credit risk with these customers.
The senior management of the Company keeps reviewing
and assessing the creditworthiness of the Group's existing
customers on an ongoing basis.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

(c) Liquidity risk
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations
to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability
to obtain external financing to meet its committed future
capital expenditure.

9. iIEREEEEZERBE®)

(b)

(c)

= RER

RekAeFEYD BREX-
B 5 EWRIE - 2 B R IR R
FEAFEMFIE - b BUGKIA K
HEEMNESREENKREER
AEBERZETREEMATH
RAERAR AEBEBALD
RekReEBWMEBERFRT
FRRERTFEAEEERLE
EEREAEREEEENIE
TREE AERERBHRRRE
TRMZEREBENMSEEE
BERBMY RS RIS 517 R
REZEZTREBNERBE §
Eis & e mEEN(ERRRRS
FERRSKFE -

AEBERERT BEREN
F=ZTETRZ WS EFE
EREBURBEESR MAEEN
ERRER K

ERASEETZEFPRTEER
Ko 375 BT 4 s A3 S L ftb B
Bk AKEREREA(EHE
FEEREREERE BZETP
YTEBRERER - AN2A SR
EEEETE RS MFEAEE
ABEREFPHERAIEK-
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the
end of the year, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

3. IEAREEEERBEE®)

() RBEZRERRE)

RAFEER AEENSRAEE
BRI A KRR KE 25 10 2 B

MR

31 December 2024
“E-ME+ZA=1-H

Within 1to2 2to5  More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
1%R 182F 2E5%F SENE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR AR%ETR AR¥Tr ARET:R
Lease liabilities HEBE 468 303 398 1,138 2,307
Interest-bearing bank AT RRITREME K
and other borrowings (TREHEAR)
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,161,822 3,038,070 2,658,560 1,815,919 10,674,371
Trade and bills payables BHRMNFIER
ENER 1,849,716 4 - - 1,849,720
Financial liabilities included T A E A& E K
in other payables and EAERNERERE
accruals 63,772 - - - 63,772
Total @5t 5,075,778 3,038,377 2,658,958 1,817,057 12,590,170
31 December 2023
“B_=Ft-HA=t—H
Within 1t02 2t05 More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
1ER 1826 2E5F S5EME M5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT ARETRT AR%®TR
Lease liabilities HERE 1,563 163 443 1,256 3,425
Interest-bearing bank FERTREMER
and other borrowings (TEREHEEAR)
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,749,847 2,311,708 2,896,445 2,143,341 11,101,341
Trade and bills payables BHRAFER
ENER 2,013,332 201 - - 2,013,533
Financial liabilities included 5 A E 1 {F 58 K
in other payables and EAERNEREE
accruals 130,347 - - - 130,347
Total o 5,895,089 2,312,072 2,896,888 2,144,597 13,248,646
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

9. iIEREEEEZERBE®)

Foreign currency risk (d) E¥EkE
The Group has minimal transactional currency exposures as BRAEEXRESMHMEARESR
the majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in the REXE BRES>RHUA
PRC with most of the transactions denominated and settled REBAEREE HAEEHR
in RMB. HEERBREN -
In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its cash gEoh - R HRekBeE
and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank borrowings. B R ERITERMERE
The Group manages foreign currency risk by closely KRR AEBEERBEYERHE
monitoring the proportion of its non-Renminbi borrowings FARBEBEREENLAIER
and assets. R -
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TRETEMBEMERERT
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in ZRIBRAT - AK BB A A
the RMB/HK$ and RMB/US$ exchange rates, with all other REAEEEZNBEHRREAR
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and B BTRARE ETEEXH
the Group's equity. BIEAIEF B BURE -
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity*
B B A& A =g m
#mn,/ (f2) (R ) *
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFTT ARETT
2024 —E_NEF
If the RMB weakens against the US$ by 5% AR R ETHR B 5% (1,216) (1,216)
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ by 5% sl A R K. T FHE 5% 1,216 1,216
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ by 5% AR H BT ES% 15 15
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ by 5% fisl A R ¥ 5,8 T FHE 5% (15) (15)
2023 —T=F
If the RMB weakens against the US$ by 5% fit AR W £ LB B 5% (6,461) (6,461)
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ by 5% fil A R X X L FHE 5% 6,461 6,461
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ by 5% W AR BT E5% 18 18
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ by 5% il A R ¥ 5,8 T FHE 5% (18) (18)

* Excluding retained profits

2 NEIERE A
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Capital management
The Group's primary objectives for managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion
to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debts. No change was
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year. The Group monitors capital using
a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the capital
plus net debt. Net debt includes trade and bills payables,
certain other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. Capital includes the equity attributable
to owners of the parent and non-controlling interests as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group's strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a
healthy capital level in order to support its businesses. The
principal strategies adopted by the Group include, but are
not limited to, reviewing future cash flow requirements and
the ability to meet debt repayment schedules when they
fall due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking
facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing
plans, if necessary. The gearing ratios at the end of the
years were as follows:

9. iIFEREEEEZERBE®)

(e)

EXREHE
AEBEAEENEERRER
BAEENFELER T RER
RENEALX  UXHEBKR
RBR R EAEE

AEBZEBRLPIIREERESER -
R 5 AR BB AR L 2 B N AE
BEMNRREHEELRABERN
R -RERAARELAERE
AEEHEABRIRN TRRNRK
EE2B RAERRBEEAR %17
MBRDBAEEEEARDER -
RAFEE BXRAEEBR BX
A2 P B AL ] B E) - ANKE I
BEABRELEREEEAN %X
TILAE T 3 8RR A B A I E 5%
BB -ERFEEREESEN
REARENRE BTHMEN
REREFER FHERITRE
EFRRE KRR EEMRE
WX - EXABRBEAMBANR
KB RRER ARIEER M
iRt - ARBARE QMG
REERBILRERRESKE
AXFEER - REBRRHNE
EZREETEIRPR A RKR
T8 Bk R ER 2 KR
BRERNED  ERABBR
TREESGEKFURBERE
AERBEFE(MBERE) - N
BERNEEABLENT -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. Bii§E b E ¥ B | K BUR (90

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) BEAEE(H)
2024 2023
—ESE-E =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Trade and bills payables (note 26) B EMFIE L ENER
(Bt 5E26) 1,849,720 2,013,533
Other payables and accruals (note 27)  E A B A KR 7T & A
(Mt5E27) 142,038 207,915
Interest-bearing bank and FHERIT R H AL fE K
other borrowings (note 28) (F$5E28) 9,612,276 9,917,035
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BReRkBeEEYD
(note 24) (HtzE24) (122,158) (248,360)
Less: Pledged deposits (note 24) o IR TE R (B FE24) (93,698) (128,713)
Net debt B FE 11,388,178 11,761,410
Total equity BRE T 6,019,845 5,850,032
Capital and net debt BEARREEF5E 17,408,023 17,611,442
Gearing ratio EEAMBLX 65% 67%

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events took place subsequent to 31 December

2024.

40. FEHMRER

HEEMEREIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R R B

31 December2024 —ZE-_MFE+=-A=+—H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. XA TR B IR &R
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the WMEMRRARPEIRARAELAT -
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
o113 —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB‘000

AR®T ARBTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B ARRIKE 1,220,970 1,217,802
Total non-current assets FmENEERE 1,220,970 1,217,802
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TEATRRIE ~ H b e WK IE

other assets Em&EE 746,558 732,225
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFEFEY 157 211
Total current assets MENEEBE 746,715 732,436
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Other payables and accruals Hih AR IA R BT E A 222,379 216,126
Total current liabilities mEaEesE 222,379 216,126
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 524,336 516,310
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEEAERRBAS

CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,745,306 1,734,112
Net assets BEFE 1,745,306 1,734,112
EQUITY fEx
Issued capital BEBITRA 17,125 17,125
Reserves (note) A ) 1,728,181 1,716,987
Total equity i Ea e 1,745,306 1,734,112
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RR M A

31 December2024 —Z—PUFE+_-HF=+—H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

41. AR BB BT T @)

Note: B3k
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATRENMELAT :
Retained
profits/
Share option (accumulated
Share premium reserve losses) Total
RERF,
RAEE BIRERE (RTEE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT AREFT ARET T
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZT=—_=%—H—H 1,717,384 65,553 (70,516) 1,712,421
Profit for the year &F R F - - 4,566 4,566
At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F
1 January 2024 +TZA=+—HK
—ZE-NFE—A—H 1,717,384 65,553 (65,950) 1,716,987
Profit for the year F P F - - 6,053 6,053
Equity-settled share AR A R B R o HE
option arrangements - 5,141 - 5141
At 31 December 2024 Pl
+=—A=+—8 1,717,384 70,694 (59.,897) 1,728,181

On 31 May 2024, the Company granted a total of 213,973,500 share options to
subscribe for a total of 213,973,500 ordinary shares in the share capital of the
Company under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 June
2014. The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB5,141,000 (31 December
2023: Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

42.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025.

RZEZNMFRA=+—H ARAIEREER
—T-mMFEANATHARMANBERESERLES

$£213,973,50017 B Bk 4% - AT REEA R

AIRAH A

213,973 500 R R - RBE_T_WF+=
A=+—HLFE AEERIABEREAIARE
5141000 (ZE==F+=-A=+—H: %)

42. it EREMBRE
RERAMBREN T
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Financial Summary

MBEE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity of

the Group for the last five financial years is as set below:

AEBROAEYRFENREUREE
BEMESAEBMEHINAT

RESULTS ¥EE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1t—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-mE T T —T_—F —T_TF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue g 2,261,282 2,216,381 2,896,589 2,918,958 3,332,432
Profit before tax B AR A 236,243 233,954 374,341 550,245 607,539
Income tax FTisHi (65,362) 103,726 134,379 132,064 137,282
Profit for the year FEREH 170,881 130,228 239,962 418,181 470,257
Other comprehensive income Hip2mEK e 44,200 (13,600) 97,750 (76,500) (21,250)
Total comprehensive income FNEERRAE
for the year 215,081 116,628 337,712 341,681 449,007
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: R AL RS
Shareholders of the Company ARERE 167,998 124,753 235,679 412,752 470,488
Non-controlling interests ElEelie I 2,883 5,475 4,283 5,429 (231)
170,881 130,228 239,962 418,181 470,257
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE T AL
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 2HENEAEE
Shareholders of the Company ARERE 212,198 111,153 333,429 336,252 449,238
Non-controlling interests FEVE R HE 2 2,883 5,475 4,283 5,429 (231)
215,081 116,628 337,712 341,681 449,007

FERBERREBRAR/ —E-_MNFERSE
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Financial Summary

MBHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY

EE RERESASE

As at 31 December

R+t=B=+—~H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—EomME —T-=fF —T-—fF —TB-—F =—T-FTF

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRH

Total assets BESE 19,153,926 19,227,362 18,965,750 18,281,408 17,645,830

Total liabilities BE®E 13,134,081 13,377,330 13,225,142 12,873,787 12,527,632

NET ASSETS BEEFE 6,019,845 5,850,032 5,740,608 5,407,621 5,118,198
Equity attributable to shareholders 77X &R 5 FE {5 2

of the Company 5,934,962 5,711,789 5,603,435 5,270,006 4,918,730

Non-controlling interests FEE IR 84,883 138,243 137,173 137,615 199,468

TOTAL EQUITY ERAE 6,019,845 5,850,032 5,740,608 5,407,621 5,118,198
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